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OCONEE COUNTY  
CONSERVATION BANK BOARD 

415 South Pine Street 
Walhalla, SC  29691 
c/o Clerk to Council  

 
 

Treasurer’s Report 
Community First Bank Account: ******183 

 
 

Period Ending: January 31, 2024 
 
Month Opening Balance                $480.00 
 
DEPOSITS: 
  TOTAL DEPOSITS    $0.00 
          
       
                                           
EXPENDITURES       

TOTAL EXPENDITURES   $0.00 
 
BALANCE IN ACCOUNT  
AS OF PERIOD ENDING DATE               $480.00 
 
 
 
 
Report Submitted by:    ______________________________ 
      Taylor Howard 

   Oconee County Conservation Bank Board Treasurer 
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OCONEE COUNTY  
CONSERVATION BANK BOARD 

415 South Pine Street 
Walhalla, SC  29691 
c/o Clerk to Council  

 
 

Treasurer’s Report 
Local Government Investment Pool 

 
 

Period Ending: January 31, 2024 
 
Month Opening Balance              $376,135.65 
 
DEPOSITS 
  Reinvestments [Interest]     $1,792.31 
    
    
EXPENDITURES             NONE 
 
BALANCE IN ACCOUNT  
AS OF PERIOD ENDING DATE              $377,927.96 
 
  
 
Report Submitted by:    ______________________________ 
      Taylor Howard 

   Oconee County Conservation Bank Board Treasurer 
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OCONEE COUNTY  
CONSERVATION BANK BOARD 

415 South Pine Street 
Walhalla, SC  29691 
c/o Clerk to Council  

 
 

Treasurer’s Report 
Community First Bank Account: ******183 

 
 

Period Ending: February 29, 2024 
 
Month Opening Balance                $480.00 
 
DEPOSITS: 
  TOTAL DEPOSITS    $0.00 
          
       
                                           
EXPENDITURES       

TOTAL EXPENDITURES   $0.00 
 
BALANCE IN ACCOUNT  
AS OF PERIOD ENDING DATE               $480.00 
 
 
 
 
Report Submitted by:    ______________________________ 
      Taylor Howard 

   Oconee County Conservation Bank Board Treasurer 
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OCONEE COUNTY  
CONSERVATION BANK BOARD 

415 South Pine Street 
Walhalla, SC  29691 
c/o Clerk to Council  

 
 

Treasurer’s Report 
Local Government Investment Pool 

 
 

Period Ending: February 29, 2024 
 
Month Opening Balance              $377,927.96 
 
DEPOSITS 
  Reinvestments [Interest]     $1,671.76 
    
    
EXPENDITURES             NONE 
 
BALANCE IN ACCOUNT  
AS OF PERIOD ENDING DATE              $379,599.72 
 
  
 
Report Submitted by:    ______________________________ 
      Taylor Howard 

   Oconee County Conservation Bank Board Treasurer 
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OCONEE COUNTY  
CONSERVATION BANK BOARD 

415 South Pine Street 
Walhalla, SC  29691 
c/o Clerk to Council  

 
 

Treasurer’s Report 
Community First Bank Account: ******183 

 
 

Period Ending: March 31, 2024 
 
Month Opening Balance                $480.00 
 
DEPOSITS: 
  TOTAL DEPOSITS    $0.00 
          
       
                                           
EXPENDITURES       

TOTAL EXPENDITURES   $0.00 
 
BALANCE IN ACCOUNT  
AS OF PERIOD ENDING DATE               $480.00 
 
 
 
 
Report Submitted by:    ______________________________ 
      Taylor Howard 

   Oconee County Conservation Bank Board Treasurer 
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OCONEE COUNTY  
CONSERVATION BANK BOARD 

415 South Pine Street 
Walhalla, SC  29691 
c/o Clerk to Council  

 
 

Treasurer’s Report 
Local Government Investment Pool 

 
 

Period Ending: March 31, 2024 
 
Month Opening Balance              $379,599.72 
 
DEPOSITS 
  Reinvestments [Interest]     $1,785.46 
    
    
EXPENDITURES             NONE 
 
BALANCE IN ACCOUNT  
AS OF PERIOD ENDING DATE              $381,385.18 
 
  
 
Report Submitted by:    ______________________________ 
      Taylor Howard 

   Oconee County Conservation Bank Board Treasurer 



Oconee County, South Carolina
County Council - #704 checks voided

Oconee County Conservation Bank Board 

Date Paid To Check # $$ Balance % Remain
621,295.00$    

11/30/17 SC Dormant Account fee 10.00$           621,285.00$    100.00%
12/18/17 Clemson Engineering Services 7,500.00$      613,785.00$    98.79%
12/12/18 Refund Dormant Account fee (10.00)$          613,795.00$    98.79%
12/20/17 MainStreet Checksfor OCCB 59.54$           613,735.46$    98.78%
02/16/18 Elaine Morris [easement cost funding] 1100 12,500.00$    601,235.46$    96.77%
11/30/18 Check voided due to closing not completed** (12,500.00)$   613,735.46$    98.78%

**will reissue new check when 613,735.46$    98.78%
easement is completed 613,735.46$    98.78%

03/28/19 Naturaland Trust 1102 9,567.33$      604,168.13$    97.24%
[ck #1101 was voided to Naturaland Trust] 604,168.13$    97.24%

05/20/19 Transfer to State Pool per unanimous vote by OCCB 589,168.13$  15,000.00$      2.41%
05/20/19 Wire transfer fee 20.00$           14,980.00$      2.41%
10/16/19 Donation from Frances Rundlett (200.00)$        15,180.00$      2.44%
12/04/19 Transfer in from State Pool_Cliff's Timber (58,000.00)$   73,180.00$      11.78%
12/04/19 Airey Law Firm_Cliff's Timber 58,000.00$    15,180.00$      2.44%
12/04/19 Wire transfer fee 15.00$           15,165.00$      2.44%
12/04/19 Charge from Community 1st Bank for cashier's check 5.00$             15,160.00$      2.44%
12/27/19 Donation from Mountain Lakes Community Assoc, (500.00)$        15,660.00$      2.52%
04/29/20 Donation - Rally in the Valley (1,150.00)$     16,810.00$      
06/15/20 Transfer in from State Pool_Gary Lyle (45,000.00)$   61,810.00$      9.95%
06/15/20 Wire transfer fee 15.00$           61,795.00$      9.95%
06/15/20 Cashier's Check fee 5.00$             61,790.00$      9.95%
06/15/20 Gary Lyle conservation easement 45,000.00$    16,790.00$      2.70%
07/13/20 Transfer in from State Pool_Chapman Bridge (88,000.00)$   104,790.00$    16.87%



7/14/2020 Incoming Wire Fee 15.00$           104,775.00$    16.86%
7/28/2020 Chapman Bridge Fee Simple 88,000.00$    16,775.00$      2.70%
7/28/2020 Outgoing Wire Fee 20.00$           16,755.00$      2.70%

11/24/2020 Elaine Morris [easement cost funding] [official check] 12,500.00$    4,255.00$        0.68%
12/23/2020 Incoming Wire Fee 15.00$           4,240.00$        0.68%
12/23/2020 Estate of William Lyles / Naturaland Trust (66,100.00)$   70,340.00$      11.32%
12/28/2020 Horton Law Firm for William Lyles 66,100.00$    4,240.00$        0.68%
12/28/2020 Outgoing Wire Fee 20.00$           4,220.00$        0.68%

1/4/2021 Donation from Richard & Laura Havran (200.00)$        4,420.00$        0.71%
5/27/2021 Donation from Upstate Historical Seekers (500.00)$        4,920.00$        0.79%
7/15/2021 Transfer in from State Pool_Peggy Moore (10,000.00)$  14,920.00$      2.40%
7/18/2021 Wire transfer fee 15.00$           14,905.00$      2.40%

8/5/2021 Donation from David and Ellen Plumpe (100.00)$        15,005.00$      2.42%
8/26/2021 Transfer in from State Pool_Taychoedah (17,999.00)$   33,004.00$      5.31%

9/3/2021 Horton Law Firm for Taychoedah 17,999.00$    15,005.00$      2.42%
9/3/2022 Wire Transfer Fee 20.00$           14,985.00$      2.41%

10/1/2021 Refund from Horton Law Firm for Wire (20.00)$          15,005.00$      2.42%
10/4/2021 Peggy Moore Conservation Easement 10,000.00$    5,005.00$        0.81%
10/7/2021 Donation from Waterside Crossing (200.00)$        5,205.00$        0.84%

10/14/2021 Refund from Derrick, Ritter, Williams, & Morris Wire Fee (35.00)$          5,240.00$        0.84%
11/18/2021 Donation from Mountain Lakes Community Assoc, (500.00)$        5,740.00$        0.92%
12/10/2021 Donation from Richard & Laura Havran (200.00)$        5,940.00$        0.96%
12/13/2022 Transfer from State Pool_Whetstone Hill (11,499.00)$  17,439.00$      2.81%
12/16/2022 Derrick, Ritter, Williams, & Morris_Whetstone Hill 1103 11,499.00$    5,940.00$        0.96%

1/7/2022 Transfer from State Pool_Crawford Mill (26,000.00)$   31,940.00$      5.14%
1/25/2022 Derrick, Ritter, Williams, & Morris_Crawford Mill 1104 29,999.00$    1,941.00$        0.31%
4/13/2022 Donation from Oly Lombary (2,000.00)$     3,941.00$        0.63%

6/1/2022 Donation from John & Nancy Johnston (100.00)$        4,041.00$        0.65%
12/5/2022 Donation from Richard and Laura Havran (500.00)$        4,541.00$        0.73%
6/20/2023 Refund Naturaland Trust/William Lyles/Whetstone Hill 6792 (70,000.00)$   74,541.00$      12.00%
6/26/2023 Donation from Upstate Historical Seekers 1053 (300.00)$        74,841.00$      12.05%
6/26/2023 Wire transfer to LGIP 74,341.00$    500.00$           0.08%
6/26/2023 Outgoing Wire Fee $20.00 480.00$           0.08%



Oconee County, South Carolina
County Council - #704

Oconee County Conservation Bank Board 

Date Paid To Check # $$ Balance % Remain
5/22/2019 Beginning Balance 589,168.13$    
5/31/2019 Reinvestment (406.65)$        589,574.78$    100.1%
6/30/3019 Reinvestment (1,214.95)$     590,789.73$    100.3%
7/31/2019 Reinvestment (1,213.15)$     592,002.88$    100.5%
8/31/2019 Reinvestment (1,145.54)$     593,148.42$    100.7%
9/30/2019 Reinvestment (1,061.07)$     594,209.49$    100.9%

10/31/2019 Reinvestment (1,049.05)$     595,258.54$    101.0%
11/30/2019 Reinvestment (940.93)$        596,199.47$    101.2%
12/4/2019 Withdrawal - Cliff's Timber LLC 58,000.00$    538,199.47$    91.3%

12/31/2019 Reinvestment (851.12)$        539,050.59$    91.5%
1/31/2020 Reinvestment (827.98)$        539,878.57$    91.6%
2/29/2020 Reinvestment (747.66)$        540,626.23$    91.8%
3/31/2020 Reinvestment (725.97)$        541,352.20$    91.9%
4/30/2020 Reinvestment (622.39)$        541,974.59$    92.0%
5/31/2020 Reinvestment (460.95)$        542,435.54$    92.1%
6/15/2020 Withdrawal - Gary Lyle 45,000.00$    497,435.54$    84.4%
6/30/2020 Reinvestment (321.88)$        497,757.42$    84.5%
7/28/2020 Withdrawal - Chapman Bridge 88,000.00$    409,757.42$    69.5%
7/31/2020 Reinvestment (192.23)$        409,949.65$    69.6%
8/31/2020 Reinvestment (119.33)$        410,068.98$    69.6%
9/30/2020 Reinvestment (93.74)$          410,162.72$    69.6%

10/31/2020 Reinvestment (72.81)$          410,235.53$    69.6%
11/30/2020 Reinvestment (57.03)$          410,292.56$    69.6%
12/23/2020 Withdrawal - Estate of William Lyles 66,100.00$    344,192.56$    58.4%

12/31/2020 Reinvestment (54.44)$          344,247.00$    58.4%



1/31/2021 Reinvestment (45.41)$          344,292.41$    58.4%
2/28/2021 Reinvestment (36.54)$          344,328.95$    58.4%
3/31/2022 Reinvestment (37.08)$          344,366.03$    58.4%
4/30/2021 Reinvestment (35.64)$          344,401.67$    58.5%
5/31/2021 Reinvestment (31.81)$          344,433.48$    58.5%
6/30/2021 Reinvestment (26.53)$          344,460.01$    58.5%
7/15/2021  Withdrawal - Peggy Moore $10,000.00 334,460.01$    56.8%
7/31/2021 Reinvestment (31.82)$          334,491.83$    56.8%
8/26/2021 Withdrawal - Taychoedah 17,999.00$    316,492.83$    53.7%
8/31/2021 Reinvestment (29.28)$          316,522.11$    53.7%
9/30/2021 Reinvestment (27.07)$          316,549.18$    53.7%

10/31/2021 Reinvestment (27.90)$          316,577.08$    53.7%
11/30/2021 Reinvestment (29.19)$          316,606.27$    53.7%
12/13/2021 Withdrawal - Whetstone Hill 11,499.00$    305,107.27$    51.8%
12/31/2021 Reinvestment (37.58)$          305,144.85$    51.8%

1/7/2022 Withdrawal - Crawford Mill 26,000.00$    279,144.85$    47.4%
1/31/2022 Reinvestment (36.31)$          279,181.16$    47.4%
2/28/2022 Reinvestment (35.42)$          279,216.58$    47.4%
3/31/2022 Reinvestment (79.45)$          279,296.03$    47.4%
4/20/2022 Reinvestment (119.94)$        279,415.97$    47.4%
5/31/2022 Reinvestment (206.90)$        279,622.87$    47.5%
6/30/2022 Reinvestment (289.21)$        279,912.08$    47.5%
7/31/2022 Reinvestment (409.50)$        280,321.58$    47.6%
8/31/2022 Reinvestment (551.31)$        280,872.89$    47.7%
9/30/2022 Reinvestment (605.59)$        281,478.48$    47.8%

10/31/2022 Reinvestment (774.12)$        282,252.60$    47.9%
11/30/2022 Reinvestment (913.93)$        283,166.53$    48.1%
12/31/2022 Reinvestment (1,038.87)$     284,205.40$    48.2%

1/31/2023 Reinvestment (1,103.57)$     285,308.97$    48.4%
2/28/2023 Reinvestment (1,040.21)$     286,349.18$    48.6%
3/31/2023 Reinvestment (1,180.46)$     287,529.64$    48.8%
4/30/2023 Reinvestment (1,204.35)$     288,733.99$    49.0%
5/31/2023 Reinvestment (1,292.24)$     290,026.23$    49.2%
6/27/2023 Deposit / Naturaland Trust (74,341.00)$   364,367.23$    61.8%



6/30/2023 Reinvestment (1,319.80)$     365,687.03$    62.1%
7/31/2023 Reinvestment (1,684.43)$     367,371.46$    62.4%
8/30/2023 Reinvestment (1,744.00)$     369,115.46$    62.7%
9/30/2023 Reinvestment (1,700.59)$     370,816.05$    62.9%

10/31/2023 Reinvestment (1,775.79)$     372,591.84$    63.2%
11/30/2023 Reinvestment (1,739.39)$     374,331.23$    63.5%
12/31/2023 Reinvestment (1,804.42)$     376,135.65$    63.8%

1/31/2024 Reinvestment (1,792.31)$     377,927.96$    64.1%
2/29/2024 Reinvestment (1,671.76)$     379,599.72$    64.4%
3/31/2024 Reinvestment (1,785.46)$     381,385.18$    64.7%



Oconee County 

Conservation Bank Board 

Donation List

Horton Law Firm Wire Fee Reimbursement

TOTAL = 

June 1, 2022 John and Nancy Johnston $100.00

$13,700.00

December 7, 2021 Laura & Richard Havran $200.00

April 13, 2022 Olye Lombard $2,000.00

December 5, 2022 Laura & Richard Havran $500.00

June 26, 2023 Upstate Historical Seekers $300.00

June 20, 2023 Naturaland Trust $3,900.00

October 13, 2021 Derrick, Ritter, William, and Morris PA Wire  $35.00

November 11, 2021 Mt. Lakes Community Asso. $500.00

October 7, 2021 Waterside Crossing $200.00

December 15, 2020 Laura & Richard Havran $200.00

May 27, 2021 Upstate Historical Seekers $500.00

July 3,2021 David & Ellen Plumpe $100.00

October 1, 2021 $20.00

December 27, 2019 Mt. Lakes Community Asso. $500.00

April 29, 2020 Rally in the Valley $1,150.00

November 26, 2014 Mt. Lakes Community Asso. $500.00

October 17, 2019 Frances Rundlett $200.00

March 13, 2014 UNKNOWN $250.00

April 17, 2014 Richard Cain $100.00

December 30, 2013 Paul & Karin Corbell $25.00

January 7, 2014 Oconee Forever $1,000.00

March 7, 2013 Ms. Alice Wald $100.00

June 21, 2013 UNKNOWN $120.00

DATE DONOR NAME AMOUNT
December 6, 2012 Oconee Forever $1,200.00



JUNE 30, 2022

PROJECT/OWNER; OWNER/EASEMENT HOLDER GRANT CLOSING ACRES CONSERVATION EASEMENT/FEE 

SIMPLE

Oconee Towne; SC DNR $9,567.33 6/5/2017 53.68 Fee Simple

Jerry Powell; OSWCD $7,500.00 8/17/2017 94.10 Conservation Easement

McKinney Creek Oconee Bell Preserve/Cliff Timber LLC; The 

Naturaland Trust

$58,000.00 12/5/2019 195.60 Fee Simple

Gary and Christy Lyle; OSWCD $45,000.00 6/17/2020 165.89 Conservation Easement

Chapman Bridge Oconee Bell Preserve/Cliff Timber LLC; The 

Naturaland Trust

$88,000.00 7/29/2020 238.72 Fee Simple

Elaine Morris Trust; UF $12,500.00 12/22/2020 26.26 Conservation Easement

Whetstone Creek Preserve/Lyles Estate; Naturaland Trust $66,100.00 12/29/2020 155.56 Fee Simple

Taychoedah/Dorothy Heger and Geary Hughes; UF $17,999.00 09/02/2021 42.02 Conservation Easement

Peggy Moore; OSWCD $10,000.00 10/07/2021 58.60 Conservation Easement

Whetstone Hill/Ernest Lombard; UF $11,499.00 12/15/2021 38.10 Conservation Easement

Crawford Mill/; Foothills Farmstead $29,999.00 1/26/2022 40.09 Fee Simple with Conservation Easement

Grants Disbursed, Cost per acre to OCCB, Acres protected $356,164.33 $321.27/Ac 1108.62

Expenses - Banking $224.54 

TOTAL EXPENDED $356,388.87

JUNE 30, 2022

OCONEE COUNTY CONSERVATION BANK GRANTS DISBURSED & EXPENSES

RECPIENT, APPLICANT PURPOSE

Upstate Forever, Naturaland Trust History, Conservation, Public Access

Oconee Soil & Water Conservation 

District

Working Farm, Conservation

Naturaland Trust Conservation, Public Access

Oconee Soil & Water Conservation 

District

Working Farm, Conservation, Water Quality 

Protection

Naturaland Trust Conservation, Public Access

Upstate Forever Conservation

Naturaland Trust Working Farm, Conservation, Water Quality 

Protection

Upstate Forever Water Quality, Habitat Protection

Oconee Soil & Water Conservation 

District

Working Farm, Water Quality Protection

Upstate Forever Working Farm, Water Quality, Habitat Protection

The Foothills Farmstead Working Farm, Water Quality, Historic Site, Habitat 

Protection

DONOR AMOUNT DATE

OCONEE COUNTY CONSERVATION BANK REVENUE

Duke Energy $618,000.00 2016

Total $638,490.84

Individual and Organization Donations/Contributions $7,645.00 2012-2022

Interest $  12,845.84 May 2019-April 2022



 
 

Fall Creek Headwaters 
A  conservation proposal prepared for the O conee County 

Conservation Bank 

O n behalf of A pril Childress and Joseph Tinsley 

April 1, 2024 



OCCBB Application for Funding v6 Page 1 of 15 

Oconee County Conservation Bank 
Application for Funding 

Oconee County, South Carolina 

To be completed pursuant to the  
OCCB Ordinance and OCCB Board Policies No. 0001 and 0003 

Send Completed Application to: 

Oconee County Conservation Bank Board 
c/o Clerk to Council 

via email to: councilclerkinfo@oconeesc.com 

Application Deadlines: April 1, August 1, November 1 



OCCBB Application for Funding v6 Page 2 of 15 

SECTION I - General Property/Project Information 

General Information 

Property/Project Name:    Fall Creek Headwaters

Property Address or Description of Location:  

Acquisition type:  ____ Fee Simple or  ____ Conservation Easement 
Note that Applicant acquiring a fee simple property interest with grant funds must 
simultaneously place a conservation easement on the property. 

Total monetary amount requested:  $ 35,000 

Conservation Value of property?  $ 390,000

Attach a certified appraisal or an explanation of the basis for the Conservation Value. S1-A 

Landowner 

Name   Joseph Tinsley and April Childress

Mailing Address  286 Red Mountain Rd., Mountain Rest, SC 29664

Email Address  jodytinsley1869@gmail.com 

Cell Phone  (864) 647-9058

Work Phone  (       )  

Home Phone  (       ) same as cell

Eligible OCCB Recipient (“Applicant”) Seeking Funding 

Name of Organization: Upstate Forever  

Mailing Address  507 Pettigru St., Greenville, SC 29601

Contact Name  Scott Park

Contact Email Address  spark@upstateforever.org 

Contact Cell Phone  (864 )  203-1944

Contact Work Phone  ( 864  )   250-0500 x 126

   X

286 Red Mountain Road, Mountain Rest, SC
29664



OCCBB Application for Funding v6 Page 3 of 15 

Organization EIN  
 Property Information 

Parcel ID or TMS#:   

Plat Reference (Plat Book/Page) S1-B1:   

Deed Reference (Deed Book/Page) S1-B1:  

Current Zoning Classification:   

Total Acres:    

Total Acres Forested:   

Total Acres Cleared/Open/Pasture:   

Total Acres Wetlands:   

Creeks and/or Rivers – Names, Length, Width:  

Total Acres Farmed – List Farm Type, e.g. livestock, row crop: 

Is project acreage part of larger parcel? If so, what is larger parcel acreage:   

Unique characteristics of property (may be submitted as part of Applicant’s narrative): 

Show location of property on County Map S1-B2 and show location on other pertinent 
documents such as plat, USGS map, etc. S1-B3. 

57 - 10070433

102-00-01-013, 102-00-01-005, and 102-00-01-029

Control Free (CFD)

108.25

approximately 108 acres forested

none

none

Approximately 2,000 linear feet on boths sides of the source/headwaters of Fall Creek

none

no

This property contains the headwater source of Fall Creek, which is a tributary of the Chattooga
National Wild & Scenic River. In addition, this property is adjacent to the Andrew Pickens Ranger
District of the Sumter National Forest. According to the Southeastern Conservation Blueprint, the
property is a priority for reptile and amphibian conservation.

A492/6; A526/7-8; B801/5; P62/400; P62/401; & O8/160

915/170; 940/269; 1035/42; & 1278/238



OCCBB Application for Funding v6 Page 4 of 15 

Section II - Mandatory Requirements/Submissions 

1. Applicant’s Requirements - by signing below the Applicant confirms that to the
best of the Applicant’s knowledge and belief all answers in this Application are accurate:

a. At the time of filing this application, the Applicant certifies that it notified all
adjoining landowners and lessees of the property that:

i. The Applicant is applying for funding from the OCCB and
ii. The adjoining landowners and lessees of the property have 30 days to submit

comments to the OCCB regarding the application.  Attach a list of the
adjoining landowners and lessees of the property, if any, with addresses. S2-
A1

_____ yes _____ no 

Failure to meet the above requirement will require the application to be returned 
to applicant for correction and resubmission.  

b. Applicant agrees that OCCB funds may not be used for endowments, monitoring,
staffing, management, planning, or any costs not associated with the purchase.

_____ yes _____ no 

c. Applicant acknowledges that if no appraisal is attached and the Applicant is
awarded a grant, a certified appraisal establishing the Fair Market Value of the
Conservation Value and Property must be submitted prior to closing but no later
than twelve (12) months of Oconee County Council approval and that the award
shall be 10% of the Conservation Value in the Appraisal or the amount the
Council awarded, whichever is less.

_____ yes _____ no ______N/A 

d. Applicant acknowledges that, if the attached appraisal is more than twelve (12)
months old on the date County Council approves the award of a grant, a market
analysis update covering the time period from the date of the original appraisal to
the present in the form of a letter prepared and signed by the original appraiser
must be submitted to the Board no later than thirty (30) days prior to the first
scheduled Board meeting following the Council’s decision and that the award
shall be 10% of the Conservation Value in the market update letter or the amount
the Council awarded, whichever is less n .

_____ yes  _____ no  ______N/A
.

X

X

X

X



OCCBB Application for Funding v6 Page 5 of 15 

e. If this is a fee simple acquisition project, Applicant agrees to be bound by the 
Grant Agreement and to place a conservation easement on the property at 
closing.
_____ yes  _____ no   ______N/A

f. Is this a small grant application as defined in OCCB Ordinance Section 2-404(c)
(3)d. and OCCB Policy No. 0003, Grant Procedures?  To be a small grant 
application the request must be no greater than either $30,000 or 10% of the 
Conservation Value, whichever is smaller.
_____ yes  _____ no  If no, Applicant agrees to submit a certified 
environmental hazard assessment. S2-A5

Signature of Applicant Date 
2. Landowner’s Requirements*: by signing below the Landowner confirms that to
the best of the Landowner’s knowledge and belief all answers in this Application are
accurate, in addition:

a. Is Landowner committed to placing a Conservation Easement on the property or to
conveying title to the property to the Applicant with OCCB deed restrictions if a grant of
OCCB funds is approved?

_____ yes _____ no 

b. Landowner certifies that the Applicant notified Landowner in writing:

i. that the property interest purchased with OCCB funds will result in a permanent
conveyance of such property interests from the Landowner to the Applicant, and

ii. that it may be in the Landowner’s best interests to retain independent legal counsel,
appraisals, and other professional advice.

c. Does Landowner agree to allow inspection by the OCCB of the property and project
being presented for OCCB funding?

_____ yes _____ no 

d. Are there any existing liens, mortgages, or other encumbrances, such as easements,
restrictive covenants, etc., that currently exist on the property.

_____ yes  _____ no

If yes, attach a list of the encumbrances.  S2-B4a.

X

X

X

X

X
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3. Entity that will be responsible for enforcing conservation easement or 
deed restrictions and grant agreement. 

 
Name               
 
Mailing Address             
              
 
Contact Name              
 
Contact Email              
 
Cell Phone  (       )            
 
Work Phone  (       )            
 
 

4. Applicant Information 
 

a. How will you be able to complete the project and secure additional funding to 
acquire the designated property interests? Attach additional sheet if necessary. 
S3-D1 

 
 
 
 
 
b. How many total acres of land have you conserved in:  
 

 ________ South Carolina     ________Oconee County     ________Other 
 

c. Briefly describe the lands your organization has preserved in this State and 
County, include size, location, and method of preservation.  

 
      
 
 
 
d. Explain how the Conservation Easement and/or deed restrictions on the 

protected land will be enforced. Attach additional sheet if necessary. S3-D4  
 
 
 

Upstate Forever

507 Pettigru Street

Scott Park

spark@upstateforever.org

864 203-1944

864   250-0500 x 126

The Landowners have agreed to provide a stewardship endowment to cover long-term
costs associated with ensuring that the conservation values of the property remain intact
in perpetuity. No other costs or additional funding is needed to complete this project.

4,702.979 863.030,108.753

Upstate Forever is a nationally accredited land trust under the national Land Trust Accreditation 
Commission. We steward our inventory of easements on an annual basis according to national 
Land Trust Alliance standards. If there are unpermitted uses of the property either by the landowner 
or by outside parties, then corrective action is pursued as stated in the easement language and 
according to LTA guidelines. Further, we subscribe to Terrafirma, which helps insure our conservation
easements from legal challenges. A draft conservation easement is attached.

Most of the protected properties are private lands managed for hunting or timber, but several are
working farms, public recreation areas, or important habitat areas providing critical migration
corridors or protecting rare, threatened, or endangered species, including headwaters, high
quality trout streams, and aquatic recreation resources used for fishing, paddling, or wading. All of
our interests are protected with conservation easements.
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5. Land Management Information 
 

a. Please describe the financial resources and qualifications of the managing entity. 
Attach additional sheet if necessary. S3-E1 

 
 
 

 
b. Does the Applicant or Landowner have a conservation land management plan for 

this project?  If so, attach the plan or a summary of the plan. If no, please 
describe the uses to which the property will be put and how they will conserve 
the property. S3-E2 

_____ yes  _____ no 
 

Section IV - Conservation Criteria 
 

1. Environmental Sensitivity 
 

a. Does the property contain or adjoin wetlands?          

_____ yes  _____ no   
 

If yes, attach documentation, such as GIS using NWI or USFWS; regarding the 
wetlands, wetland delineation, or certification by USACOE or NRCS.  S4-1a 

 
b. Does the property contain or adjoin a USGS Blue Line Stream or Lake? 

_____ yes  _____ no 
   

If yes, provide a USGS topographic map showing such stream or lake in relation 
to property. S4-1b 

 
c. Does the property contain or adjoin Water Classified as:  

 

____ (i) Outstanding Natural Resource Water 
____ (ii) Outstanding Resource Water 
____ (iii) Trout Water 

If yes, provide evidence of classification by SC DHEC. S4-1c 
 

d. Does the property currently contain threatened or endangered species? 

_____ yes  _____ no 

X A draft conservation easement is attached.

X

X

No

X

Upstate Forever is a 501(c)3 non-profit land trust and advocacy group. Although membership-based, much
of our budget is derived from contributions from major donors, charitable foundations,and grants, including 
federal, state, and local programs. With over twenty-five years of experience in conservation, particularly in 
land conservation through conservation easements, Upstate Forever maintains a keen focus on future 
operations with the establishment and maintenance of endowments that meet or exceed industry standards, 
focused on the perpetual stewardship of our inventory of easements. See related attachments.
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If yes, attach certification by SC DNR, NRCS, USFS or other qualified 
professional providing evidence of such species or likelihood of existence on the 
property. S4-1d  

                        
e. Does the property currently contain habitat suitable for threatened or endangered 

species? 

_____ yes  _____ no 
  

If yes, attach documentation by SC DNR, NRCS, USFS or other qualified 
professional providing evidence of the habitat suitability for specific species. S4-
1e       

               
f. Does the property currently contain native wildlife species or habitat suitable  for 

native wildlife species? 

_____ yes  _____ no   
 
If yes, provide evidence (e.g. Statement from a qualified agency or professional, 
etc.) of such species existence on the property or of habitat suitability for such 
species. S4-1f 

 
g. Does the property contain special or concentrated biodiversity?  If yes, please 

provide evidence of the biodiversity on the property, such as photographs, 
species list, or narrative description. S4-1g 

 
_____ yes  _____ no 

  
h. Does the property currently contain a unique geological feature? 

 

_____ yes  _____ no 
  

If yes, provide a description and evidence of geological feature(s). S4-1h 
 

 
i. Are there any restoration plans for the property?  If yes, provide a description.  

S4-1i 

 
2. Does the property share a boundary with Protected Land?  

 

_____ yes  _____ no 
 

X

X

X

X

X

              There are currently no restoration plans for the property but the conservation
easement allows for restoration and enhancement activities, which Upstate Forever will 
encourage and support in the future.
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If yes, describe the Protected Land and present a legible map showing such 
Protected Land in relation to the property. S4-2a 

 
 
 
 
 
 

If yes, what percentage of a boundary is shared with such Protected Land? 

_____1%-25% _____ 26%-50% _____ > 50%  _____ 100% 
 

3. Does the property contain any of the following pre-historic or 
historic features or designations?  Check those in a – e that apply. 

 
a. _____ Listing on the National Historic Register?  Provide a letter or other 

evidence from the Department of the Interior demonstrating such listing. S4-3a 
 

b. _____ Eligible for listing on the National Historic Register? Provide a letter or 
other evidence from the SC State Historic Preservation Office demonstrating 
such eligibility. S4-3b 

 
c. _____ Contains historic or pre-historic structures? Provide evidence in the form 

of photographs and a description of the reason the structure(s) are considered 
historic or pre-historic. S4-3c 

 
 
 
 

d. _____ Contains a site(s) of historic or pre-historic significance without a 
structure? Provide evidence in the form of photographs and a description of the 
reason the site(s) are considered historic or pre-historic. S4-3d 

 
 
 
 

e. _____ Location of an Historic Event? Provide a description and evidence of the 
event. S4-3e 

 
 
 
 

f. Is this an application for a solely cultural or historic site?   

The northern portion of the property shares nearly 1/2-mi of its boundary with the 
Andrew Pickens Ranger District of the Sumter National Forest. 

0.45 mile/1.75 miles = approximately 25.7%

N/A

X
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_____ yes  _____ no 

 
If yes, submit documentation describing the significance of the site and the 
preservation plans; plans to restore the property, provide public access, and  
provide signage related to the cultural or historical significance, etc. S4-3f 

 
4. Does the property contain soils classified as Prime or Important by 

the State of South Carolina? 
 

_____ yes  _____ no 
 

If yes, what percentage of the property contains soils classified as Prime or 
Important by the State of South Carolina? 

_____30%-44% _____45%-59% _____60%-75% _____>75 %  
 
If yes, provide a legible soil overlay map showing such Prime or important soil types 
upon the property. S4-4b 
 

5. Is the property farmland as defined under one or both of following 
criteria? 

 
a. _____ Actively Farmed - Provide documentation that the property has been 

farmed for the last five years, such as copies of filed IRS Forms Schedule F or 
documentation demonstrating that the landowner has produced significant 
agricultural products. S4-5a 

 
b. _____Future Plans - Provide documentation explaining the extent to which the 

proposal will keep the property in farmland or wooded land. S4-5b 
 

6. Is the property visible to the public from one of the following? 
 

a. Public road?  _____ yes  _____ no 
    

b. Public land?  _____ yes  _____ no 
  

If yes, provide supporting documentation. S4-6 
 

7. Does the property provide one of the following? 
 

a. Scenic View from the property?  _____ yes  _____ no 
    

b. Maintain Scenic Nature of the County?  _____ yes  _____ no  

X

X

N/A

X

X

X

X

John Mountain Rd. ends at the ridge 
line above the property inside the 
Sumter National Forest. The property 
is visible from this viewpoint.
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If yes, provide supporting documentation. S4-7 

 
8. Does the proposal for the conservation project on the Property 
allow for the following?  See OCCB Policy No. 0003 for definitions. 

 

a. Limited Access by the public to the property?  _____ yes  _____ no 
   

If yes, provide supporting documentation. S4-8a 
 

b. Unlimited Access by the public to the property?  _____ yes  _____ no 
   

If yes, provide supporting documentation. S4-8b 
 

9. Location of Property.  
 

a. Proximity to Protected Lands:         
      Provide supporting documentation. S4-9a 

 
b. Proximity to municipality or community:        

       Provide supporting documentation. S4-9b 
 

10. Is there a threat of development?    
 

_____ yes  _____ no 
   
If yes, provide documentation or a detailed narrative description of the threat. S4-10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

11. What is the approximate acreage of the property to be conserved? 
 

   Acres  
 
Provide documentation to support the stated acreage, including survey(s), tax 
information, deeds or other similar documentation. S4-11 
 

X

X

away from the City of Walhalla.
The property is approximately 14.2 miles

The property is directly adjacent to the Sumter 
National Forest.

X

108.25
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12. What, if any, is the potential positive or negative impact on water 
quality to wetlands or other water bodies not on the property? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

13. Attach a narrative description of the intended plans for the property, 
 including the specific requirements that will be in the Conservation 
 Easement or Deed, and how they will be accomplished. Include plans, 
 such as restoration plans, commitments for future public access, and stream buffers for the  
 property not already addressed in this Application. S4-13 
 
14. Applicant agrees that the property interest acquired with grant funds 
(either fee simple or a conservation easement) can be transferred only to an 
Eligible Recipient and with the approval of the Board. 

 
Signature:  _________________________    Date:  _______________ 

 
 
 
 

Section V - Financial Criteria 
  
1. Provide a narrative description to verify that the entity obligated to 
enforce the Conservation Easement or deed restrictions has the  financial 
resources to enforce the easement or restrictions. If Applicant fails  to provide 
sufficient information, the Board will not recommend Council award a grant. S5-1 

 
2. What percent of Conservation Value is being requested from the  OCCB? 

 
 a.  Conservation Value  $      

 
b.  OCCB Request  $     
   
c. Percent         % (b ÷ a x 100%)  

 

Fall Creek is a tributary of the Chattooga National Wild and Scenic River. Because Fall Creek 
originates on the subject property, protecting this property also significantly protects the water
quality in one of the nation's premier recreation destinations. 

390,000

35,000

9.0 %

See attached draft Consrevation Easement and Narrative.

See related attachments.
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3. Describe any committed, applied for, or potential matching funds and 
known or predicted timeline for receipt of matching funds, including 
landowner donation or a bargain sale by seller. 

 
 
 
 
 

4. Describe partnerships, management agreements, management leases, 
 or other joint efforts that will help this project succeed.  

 
 
 
 
 

5. How does the proposal present a unique value opportunity in that it 
 protects land at a reasonable cost?  

 
 a. $     Cost per acre of OCCB funds 

 

 b. $     Fair market value per acre 
 
 c.       % (a ÷ b x 100 =    %) 

 
6. Describe other ways that the project could provide economic benefits to 
Oconee County. 

 

On behalf of the Landowners, the Applicant has submitted a grant request to the Upstate Land 
Conservation Fund for $15,000, and will submit a request to the SC Conservation Bank for 
$115,000. Both requests are still pending at the time of this application. The landowners will donate
the remainder of the conservation value making this a bargain sale conservation easement.

323.32

5.4 %

A grant from the Oconee Co. Conservation Bank will demonstrate local support for conservation 
efforts and help secure additional funding from the ULCF and SCCB to make this project a success.
Furthermore, Upstate Forever is currently working with the USFWS through the Partners Program to 
help landowners actively restore and improve habitat on their properties. This property possesses
habitat suitable for species at risk that might benefit from restoration activities through this program.

6,004.62

Like many properties that limit development in favor of natural resource protection through a conservation 
easement, this project provides myriad economic benefits through the ecosystem services inherent in the 
property, including: water quality benefits, reduced flooding, carbon sequestration, and reduced traffic and 
need for improvements to infrastructure (e.g., sewer & water). In addition, this property and the conservation 
easement protects the potential for future recreational opportunities, primarily by protecting the water quality 
in the Chattooga River Watershed, a great source of recreation and tourism for Oconee County. Although 
over twenty years old, a 2001 study estimated the number of boating visitors to the Chattooga River at 
approximately 43,000 each year providing an economic boost to the area exceeding $2.6 million annually 
(see http://npshistory.com/publications/rtca/nri/chattooga.pdf). Translating those numbers to 2024 dollars is 
the equivalent of $4.6 million and that only considers boaters, leaving out other recreation tourism sectors 
like fishing, hiking and camping, wildlife viewing and photography, and more. 
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OCCB Application Attachment List (Each attachment must reference 
section and question to which it applies.)  
 

Check Reference Title Required 
    
 S1-A Certified appraisal or explanation of basis for Conservation Value X 
 S1-B1 Legal Description of the property  
 S1-B2 Location on County Map X 
 S1-B3 Surveys, USGS maps, directions, county locator map, etc.  
    
 S2-A1 Adjoining landowners notification: landowners and addresses list X 
 S2-A5 Certified environmental hazard assessment  
 S2-B4a List of liens, mortgages, or encumbrances, etc.  
 S2-B4b Mortgage lender notification: subordinate to CE  
    
 S3-D1 Project Completion and additional funding plans  
 S3-D4 Conservation Easement/deed restriction enforcement plan  
 S3-E1 Qualification of Managing Entity  
 S3-E2 Land Management Property Plan   
    
 S4-1a Wetland certification  
 S4-1b USGS Blue Line Stream or Lake documentation and map  
 S4-1c SC DHEC Water Classification  
 S4-1d Threatened or endangered species certification/evidence  
 S4-1e Habitat suitability certification/evidence  
 S4-1f Native wildlife species or habitat certification/evidence  
 S4-1g Biological diversity evidence  
 S4-1h Geological feature evidence  
 S4-1i Plans for restoration  
 S4-2a Protected Land Map relationship  
 S4-3 a-e National Historic Register or Pre-historic structures/site evidence  
 S4-3f Solely Cultural or Historic Site documentation  
 S4-4b Soil overlay map of Prime or important soils types  
 S4-5 a-b Actively Farmed documentation or plans/proposal  
 S4-6 Property visibility to public documentation  
 S4-7 Scenic View documentation  
 S4-8 a-b Limited or Unlimited Access to Property documentation   
 S4-9 a-b Location of Property supporting documentation  
 S4-10 Threat of development documentation or narrative  
 S4-11 Property size documentation: surveys, tax or deeds information   
 S4-13 Narrative of property plans  
    
 S5-1  Enforcement Party financial resources documentation X 
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About the Southeast Blueprint

The Southeast Conservation Blueprint is the primary product of the Southeast Conservation Adaptation
Strategy (SECAS). It is a living, spatial plan to achieve the SECAS vision of a connected network of lands
and waters across the Southeast and Caribbean. The Blueprint is regularly updated to incorporate new
data, partner input, and information about on-the-ground conditions. 

The Blueprint identifies priority areas based on a suite of natural and cultural resource indicators
representing terrestrial, freshwater, and marine ecosystems. A connectivity analysis identifies corridors
that link coastal and inland areas and span climate gradients. 

For more information: 

Visit the Blueprint webpage

Review the Blueprint 2023 Development Process

View and download the Blueprint data and make maps on the Blueprint page of the SECAS Atlas

We're here to help!

Do you have a question about the Blueprint? 

Would you like help using the Blueprint to support a proposal or inform a decision? 

Do you have a suggestion on how to improve the Blueprint? The Blueprint and its inputs are
regularly revised based on input from people like you. 

Do you have feedback on how to improve the Simple Viewer interface? 

If you need help or have questions, contact Southeast Blueprint staff by reaching out to a member of the
user support team. 

We're here to support you. We really mean it. It's what we do! 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Southeast Conservation Blueprint Summary for Fall Creek Headwaters

Created 03/18/2024 using https://blueprint.geoplatform.gov/southeast Page 3 of 26

https://secassoutheast.org/
https://secassoutheast.org/
https://secassoutheast.org/blueprint
https://www.sciencebase.gov/catalog/file/get/64f8da38d34ed30c20546a6a?name=Southeast_Blueprint_2023_Development_Process.pdf
https://secas-fws.hub.arcgis.com/pages/blueprint
http://secassoutheast.org/staff


Southeast Blueprint Priorities
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Priority Categories
For a connected network of lands and waters
In total, Blueprint priorities and priority connections cover roughly 50% of the Southeast Blueprint
geography. 

Highest priority
Areas where conservation action would make the biggest impact, based on a suite of natural and cultural
resource indicators. This class covers roughly 10% of the Southeast Blueprint geography. 

High priority
Areas where conservation action would make a big impact, based on a suite of natural and cultural
resource indicators. This class covers roughly 15% of the Southeast Blueprint geography. 

Medium priority
Areas where conservation action would make an above-average impact, based on a suite of natural and
cultural resource indicators. This class covers roughly 20% of the Southeast Blueprint geography. 

Priority connections
Connections between priority areas that cover the shortest distance possible while routing through as
much Blueprint priority as possible. This class covers roughly 5% of the Southeast Blueprint geography. 

Table 1: Extent of each Blueprint priority category within Fall Creek Headwaters. 

Priority Category Acres Percent of
Area

Highest priority 0 0%

High priority 0 0%

Medium priority 98 100.0%

Priority connections 0 0%

Lower priority 0 0%

Total area 98 100%
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Hubs and Corridors

The Blueprint uses a least-cost path connectivity analysis to identify corridors that link hubs across the
shortest distance possible, while also routing through as much Blueprint priority as possible. 

Inland hubs are large patches (~5,000+ acres) of highest priority Blueprint areas and/or protected lands,
connected by inland corridors. 

Basemap credits: © Mapbox © OpenStreetMap Improve this basemap 0.4 miles

Inland continental hubs
Inland continental corridors
Not a hub or corridor

N

0.1 0.2
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Table 2: Extent of hubs and corridors within Fall Creek Headwaters. 

Type Acres Percent of
Area

Inland continental hubs 1.8 1.8%

Not a hub or corridor 96 98.2%

Total area 98 100%
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Indicator Summary

Table 3: Terrestrial indicators. 

Indicator Present
East Coastal Plain open pine birds -

Equitable access to potential parks -

Fire frequency -

Greenways & trails -

Intact habitat cores ✓

Interior Southeast grasslands -

Resilient terrestrial sites ✓

South Atlantic amphibian & reptile areas ✓

South Atlantic forest birds ✓

Urban park size -

Table 4: Freshwater indicators. 

Indicator Present
Atlantic migratory fish habitat -

Imperiled aquatic species -

Natural landcover in floodplains -

Network complexity -

Permeable surface ✓

Southeast Conservation Blueprint Summary for Fall Creek Headwaters
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Terrestrial 

Intact habitat cores

This indicator represents the size of large, unfragmented patches of natural habitat. It identifies minimally
disturbed natural areas at least 100 acres in size and greater than 200 meters wide. Large areas of intact natural
habitat are important for many wildlife species, including reptiles and amphibians, birds, and large mammals. This
indicator originates from Esri's green infrastructure data. 

Basemap credits: © Mapbox © OpenStreetMap Improve this basemap 0.4 miles

Large core (>10,000 acres)
Medium core (>1,000-10,000 acres)
Small core (>100-1,000 acres)
Not a core

N

0.1 0.2
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Table 5: Indicator values for intact habitat cores within Fall Creek Headwaters. Good condition thresholds
reflect the range of indicator values that occur in healthy, functioning ecosystems. 

Indicator Values Acres Percent of
Area

↑ High Large core (>10,000 acres) 0 0%

↑ In good condition 

Medium core (>1,000-10,000 acres) 91 93.4%

Small core (>100-1,000 acres) 0 0%

↓ Low Not a core 6.4 6.6% ↓ Not in good condition

Total area 98 100%

To learn more and explore the GIS data, view this indicator in the SECAS Atlas. 
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Terrestrial 

Resilient terrestrial sites

This indicator depicts an area's capacity to maintain species diversity and ecosystem function in the face of climate
change. It measures two factors that influence resilience. The first, landscape diversity, reflects the number of
microhabitats and climatic gradients created by topography, elevation, and hydrology. The second, local
connectedness, reflects the degree of habitat fragmentation and strength of barriers to species movement. Highly
resilient sites contain many different habitat niches that support biodiversity, and allow species to move freely
through the landscape to find suitable microclimates as the climate changes. This indicator originates from The
Nature Conservancy's Resilient Land data. 

Basemap credits: © Mapbox © OpenStreetMap Improve this basemap 0.4 miles

Most resilient
More resilient
Slightly more resilient
Average/median resilience
Slightly less resilient
Less resilient
Least resilient
Developed

N

0.1 0.2
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Table 6: Indicator values for resilient terrestrial sites within Fall Creek Headwaters. A good condition
threshold is not yet defined for this indicator. 

Indicator Values Acres Percent of
Area

↑ High Most resilient 0 0%

More resilient 91 93.4%

Slightly more resilient 3.1 3.2%

Average/median resilience 0 0%

Slightly less resilient 0 0%

Less resilient 0 0%

Least resilient 0 0%
↓ Low Developed 3.3 3.4%

Total area 98 100%

To learn more and explore the GIS data, view this indicator in the SECAS Atlas. 
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Terrestrial 

South Atlantic amphibian & reptile areas

This indicator represents Priority Amphibian and Reptile Conservation Areas (PARCAs) in the South Atlantic. PARCA
is an expert-driven, nonregulatory designation that includes places capable of supporting viable amphibian and
reptile populations, places occupied by rare or imperiled species, and places rich in biodiversity or species unique
to that geographic area (i.e., endemism). Reptiles and amphibians are a critical part of the Southeast region's rich
biodiversity and many populations are declining in the face of threats like habitat loss, invasive species, and climate
change. 

Basemap credits: © Mapbox © OpenStreetMap Improve this basemap 0.4 miles

Priority Amphibian and Reptile Conservation Area (PARCA)
Not a Priority Amphibian and Reptile Conservation Area (PARCA)

N

0.1 0.2
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Table 7: Indicator values for South Atlantic amphibian & reptile areas within Fall Creek Headwaters. A good
condition threshold is not yet defined for this indicator. 

Indicator Values Acres Percent of
Area

↑ High Priority Amphibian and Reptile Conservation Area (PARCA) 98 100.0%

↓ Low 
Not a Priority Amphibian and Reptile Conservation Area
(PARCA) 0 0%

Total area 98 100%

Priority Amphibian and Reptile Conservation Areas:
South Carolina Blue Ridge Escarpment
South Carolina’s Blue Ridge Escarpment is a region where the Blue Ridge Mountains meet the Atlantic
Piedmont region. This region is characterized by high rainfall, lush cove forests, bare rocky cliffs, and
numerous small streams and rivers. All of the known locations for the newly described patchnose
salamander and dwarf blackbelly salamander, green salamander, federally threatened bog turtle, state
endangered coal skink, timber rattlesnake, shovelnose salamander and seepage salamander are
contained within this region. 

To learn more and explore the GIS data, view this indicator in the SECAS Atlas. 
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Terrestrial 

South Atlantic forest birds

This indicator is an index of habitat suitability for twelve upland hardwood and forested wetland bird species (wood
thrush, whip-poor-will, American woodcock, red-headed woodpecker, Chuck-will's widow, hooded warbler,
Kentucky warbler, Acadian flycatcher, Northern parula, black-throated green warbler, prothonotary warbler,
Swainson's warbler) based on patch size and other ecosystem characteristics such as proximity to water and
proximity to forest and ecotone edge. The needs of these species are increasingly restrictive at higher index values,
reflecting better quality habitat. It originates from Southeast Gap Analysis Program and Designing Sustainable
Landscapes bird habitat models. 

Basemap credits: © Mapbox © OpenStreetMap Improve this basemap 0.4 miles

Very large patches near water (potential for presence of Swainson's
warbler)
Large patches often near water (potential for presence of Northern
parula, black-throated green warbler, or prothonotary warbler)
Medium patches (potential for presence of Acadian flycatcher)
Small patches often near water (potential for presence of hooded
warbler or Kentucky warbler)
Very small patches or near open areas (potential for presence of wood
thrush, whip-poor-will, red-headed woodpecker, Chuck-will's widow,
or American woodcock)
Less potential for presence of forest bird index species

N

0.1 0.2
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Table 8: Indicator values for South Atlantic forest birds within Fall Creek Headwaters. Good condition
thresholds reflect the range of indicator values that occur in healthy, functioning ecosystems. 

Indicator Values Acres Percent of
Area

↑ High 
Very large patches near water (potential for
presence of Swainson's warbler) 0 0%

↑ In good
condition 

Large patches often near water (potential for
presence of Northern parula, black-throated
green warbler, or prothonotary warbler)

0 0%

Medium patches (potential for presence of
Acadian flycatcher) 76 78.1%

Small patches often near water (potential for
presence of hooded warbler or Kentucky
warbler)

3.3 3.4%

Very small patches or near open areas
(potential for presence of wood thrush, whip-
poor-will, red-headed woodpecker, Chuck-
will's widow, or American woodcock)

11 11.4%

↓ Not in good
condition 

↓ Low 
Less potential for presence of forest bird
index species 6.9 7.1%

Total area 98 100%

To learn more and explore the GIS data, view this indicator in the SECAS Atlas. 
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Freshwater 

Permeable surface

This indicator measures the average percent of non-impervious cover within each catchment. High levels of
impervious surface degrade water quality and alter freshwater flow, impacting both aquatic species communities
and ecosystem services for people, like the availability of clean drinking water. This indicator originates from the
National Land Cover Database. 

Basemap credits: © Mapbox © OpenStreetMap Improve this basemap 0.4 miles

Percent of catchment permeable 
>95% permeable (likely high water quality and supporting most
sensitive aquatic species)
>90-95% permeable (likely declining water quality and supporting
most aquatic species)
>70-90% permeable (likely degraded water quality and not supporting
many aquatic species)
≤70% permeable (likely degraded instream flow, water quality, and
aquatic species communities)

N

0.1 0.2
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Table 9: Indicator values for permeable surface within Fall Creek Headwaters. Good condition thresholds
reflect the range of indicator values that occur in healthy, functioning ecosystems. 

Indicator Values: Percent of catchment
permeable Acres Percent of

Area

↑ High 
>95% permeable (likely high water quality
and supporting most sensitive aquatic
species)

98 100.0% ↑ In good
condition 

>90-95% permeable (likely declining water
quality and supporting most aquatic
species)

0 0%
↓ Not in good

condition 

>70-90% permeable (likely degraded water
quality and not supporting many aquatic
species)

0 0%

↓ Low 
≤70% permeable (likely degraded instream
flow, water quality, and aquatic species
communities)

0 0%

Total area 98 100%

To learn more and explore the GIS data, view this indicator in the SECAS Atlas. 
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Threats

Sea-level rise
Sea-level rise unlikely to be a threat (inland counties). 
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Urban growth
The FUTURES urban growth model predicts the likelihood that an area will urbanize at every decade from
2020 to 2100. Developed areas from the 2021 National Landcover Database serve as the baseline for
current urban areas. The model simulates landscape change based on trends in population growth, local
development suitability factors, and an urban patch-growing algorithm. It considers environmental
drivers like distance to floodplain, slope, and available infrastructure, and even socio-economic status.
The probability of urbanization for each area reflects how many times it urbanized out of 50 model runs. 

Basemap credits: © Mapbox © OpenStreetMap Improve this basemap 0.4 miles

Probability of urbanization by 2060
Urban in 2021
Very high likelihood of urbanization (>50% probability)
High likelihood of urbanization (25 - 50% probability)
Moderate likelihood of urbanization (2 - 25% probability)
Not likely to urbanize

2.3% of this area is already urban in 2021, and an additional 0% has at least a moderate probability of
urbanizing by 2060. 

N

0.1 0.2
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Table 10: Extent of projected urbanization by decade within Fall Creek Headwaters. Values from FUTURES
model projections for the contiguous United States developed by the Center for Geospatial Analytics, NC
State University. 2060 corresponds to the SECAS goal: a 10% or greater improvement in the health, function,
and connectivity of Southeastern ecosystems by 2060. 

Decade Acres Percent of
Area

Urban in 2021 2.2 2.3%

2030 projected extent 2.2 2.3%

2040 projected extent 2.2 2.3%

2050 projected extent 2.2 2.3%

2060 projected extent 2.2 2.3%

2070 projected extent 2.2 2.3%

2080 projected extent 2.2 2.3%

2090 projected extent 2.2 2.3%

2100 projected extent 2.2 2.3%

Not projected to urbanize by 2100 95 97.7%

Total area 98 100%
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Ownership and Partners

Conserved lands ownership

Federal
State/province
Territorial
Regional
Local

Joint
Private non-profit conserved lands
Private conservation land
Tribal
Designation
Ownership unknown

Basemap credits: © Mapbox © OpenStreetMap Improve this basemap 0.4 miles
0.1 0.2
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Table 11: Extent of ownership class within Fall Creek Headwaters. Protected areas are derived from the 
Protected Areas Database of the United States (PAD-US v3.0) and include Fee, Designation, Easement,
Marine, and Proclamation (Dept. of Defense lands only) boundaries. Note: areas are based on the polygon
boundary of this area compared to protected area polygons, rather than pixel-level analyses used
elsewhere in this report. Also note: PAD-US v3.0 includes protected areas that may overlap within a given
area; this may cause the area within and between the following categories to be greater than the actual
ground area. 

Ownership Acres Percent of
Area

Federal 0.75 0.8%
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Land protection status

Managed for biodiversity (disturbance events proceed or are
mimicked)
Managed for biodiversity (disturbance events suppressed)
Managed for multiple uses (subject to extractive uses such as mining
or logging, or OHV use)
No known mandate for biodiversity protection

Basemap credits: © Mapbox © OpenStreetMap Improve this basemap 0.4 miles
0.1 0.2
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Table 12: Extent of land protection status within Fall Creek Headwaters. Protected areas are derived from
the Protected Areas Database of the United States (PAD-US v3.0) and include Fee, Designation, Easement,
Marine, and Proclamation (Dept. of Defense lands only) boundaries. Note: areas are based on the polygon
boundary of this area compared to protected area polygons, rather than pixel-level analyses used
elsewhere in this report. Also note: PAD-US v3.0 includes protected areas that may overlap within a given
area; this may cause the area within and between the following categories to be greater than the actual
ground area. 

Land Protection Status Acres Percent of
Area

Managed for multiple uses (subject to extractive uses such as mining
or logging, or OHV use) 0.75 0.8%

Protected Areas

Francis Marion and Sumter National Forests (USDA FOREST SERVICE; 1 acres) 

Nearby land trusts
Click here to search for land trusts within 25 miles of this area on the Land Trust Alliance website. 

• 
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Credits

This report was generated by the Southeast Conservation Blueprint Explorer, which was developed by 
Astute Spruce, LLC in partnership with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service under the Southeast
Conservation Adaptation Strategy. 

Data credits
Land ownership and conservation status is derived from the Protected Areas Database of the United
States (PAD-US v3.0). 

Future urban growth estimates derived from FUTURES model projections for the contiguous United States
developed by the Center for Geospatial Analytics, NC State University. 

Sea level rise data are derived from the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration's Sea Level Rise
Inundation Depth Data and the 2022 Sea Level Rise Technical Report. 

Southeast Conservation Blueprint Summary for Fall Creek Headwaters

Created 03/18/2024 using https://blueprint.geoplatform.gov/southeast Page 26 of 26

https://astutespruce.com
http://secassoutheast.org/
http://secassoutheast.org/
https://www.usgs.gov/programs/gap-analysis-project/science/pad-us-data-download
https://www.usgs.gov/programs/gap-analysis-project/science/pad-us-data-download
https://www.sciencebase.gov/catalog/item/63f50297d34efa0476b04cf7
https://cnr.ncsu.edu/geospatial/
https://coast.noaa.gov/slrdata/
https://coast.noaa.gov/slrdata/
https://oceanservice.noaa.gov/hazards/sealevelrise/sealevelrise-tech-report.html


IPaC resource list

This report is an automatically generated list of species and other resources such as critical

habitat (collectively referred to as trust resources) under the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service's

(USFWS) jurisdiction that are known or expected to be on or near the project area referenced

below. The list may also include trust resources that occur outside of the project area, but

that could potentially be directly or indirectly a�ected by activities in the project area.

However, determining the likelihood and extent of e�ects a project may have on trust

resources typically requires gathering additional site-speci�c (e.g., vegetation/species

surveys) and project-speci�c (e.g., magnitude and timing of proposed activities) information.

Below is a summary of the project information you provided and contact information for the

USFWS o�ce(s) with jurisdiction in the de�ned project area. Please read the introduction to

each section that follows (Endangered Species, Migratory Birds, USFWS Facilities, and NWI

Wetlands) for additional information applicable to the trust resources addressed in that

section.

Location
Oconee County, South Carolina

Local o�ce

South Carolina Ecological Services

  (843) 727-4707

  (843) 727-4218

U.S. Fish & Wildlife ServiceIPaC

https://ipac.ecosphere.fws.gov/


176 Croghan Spur Road, Suite 200

Charleston, SC 29407-7558



Endangered species
This resource list is for informational purposes only and does not constitute an analysis of

project level impacts.

The primary information used to generate this list is the known or expected range of each

species. Additional areas of in�uence (AOI) for species are also considered. An AOI includes

areas outside of the species range if the species could be indirectly a�ected by activities in

that area (e.g., placing a dam upstream of a �sh population even if that �sh does not occur at

the dam site, may indirectly impact the species by reducing or eliminating water �ow

downstream). Because species can move, and site conditions can change, the species on this

list are not guaranteed to be found on or near the project area. To fully determine any

potential e�ects to species, additional site-speci�c and project-speci�c information is often

required.

Section 7 of the Endangered Species Act requires Federal agencies to "request of the

Secretary information whether any species which is listed or proposed to be listed may be

present in the area of such proposed action" for any project that is conducted, permitted,

funded, or licensed by any Federal agency. A letter from the local o�ce and a species list

which ful�lls this requirement can only be obtained by requesting an o�cial species list from

either the Regulatory Review section in IPaC (see directions below) or from the local �eld

o�ce directly.

For project evaluations that require USFWS concurrence/review, please return to the IPaC

website and request an o�cial species list by doing the following:

1. Draw the project location and click CONTINUE.

2. Click DEFINE PROJECT.

3. Log in (if directed to do so).

4. Provide a name and description for your project.

5. Click REQUEST SPECIES LIST.

Listed species  and their critical habitats are managed by the Ecological Services Program of

the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) and the �sheries division of the National Oceanic

and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA Fisheries ).

Species and critical habitats under the sole responsibility of NOAA Fisheries are not shown

on this list. Please contact NOAA Fisheries for species under their jurisdiction.

1. Species listed under the Endangered Species Act are threatened or endangered; IPaC also

shows species that are candidates, or proposed, for listing. See the listing status page for

more information. IPaC only shows species that are regulated by USFWS (see FAQ).

1

2

https://www.fws.gov/ecological-services/
https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/topic/consultations/endangered-species-act-consultations
https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/species-directory/threatened-endangered
https://www.fws.gov/law/endangered-species-act
https://ipac.ecosphere.fws.gov/status/list


2. NOAA Fisheries, also known as the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS), is an o�ce

of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration within the Department of

Commerce.

The following species are potentially a�ected by activities in this location:

Mammals

Insects

Flowering Plants

NAME STATUS

Northern Long-eared Bat Myotis septentrionalis
Wherever found

No critical habitat has been designated for this species.

https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9045

Endangered

Tricolored Bat Perimyotis sub�avus

Wherever found

No critical habitat has been designated for this species.

https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/10515

Proposed Endangered

NAME STATUS

Monarch Butter�y Danaus plexippus

Wherever found

No critical habitat has been designated for this species.

https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9743

Candidate

NAME STATUS

Small Whorled Pogonia Isotria medeoloides

No critical habitat has been designated for this species.

https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/1890

Threatened

Smooth Cone�ower Echinacea laevigata

Wherever found

No critical habitat has been designated for this species.

https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/3473

Threatened

https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9045
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/10515
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9743
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/1890
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/3473


Critical habitats

Potential e�ects to critical habitat(s) in this location must be analyzed along with the

endangered species themselves.

There are no critical habitats at this location.

You are still required to determine if your project(s) may have e�ects on

all above listed species.

Bald & Golden Eagles

There are likely bald eagles present in your project area. For additional information on bald

eagles, refer to Bald Eagle Nesting and Sensitivity to Human Activity

For guidance on when to schedule activities or implement avoidance and minimization

measures to reduce impacts to migratory birds on your list, see the PROBABILITY OF

PRESENCE SUMMARY below to see when these birds are most likely to be present and

breeding in your project area.

Bald and golden eagles are protected under the Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act  and

the Migratory Bird Treaty Act .

Any person or organization who plans or conducts activities that may result in impacts to

bald or golden eagles, or their habitats , should follow appropriate regulations and consider

implementing appropriate conservation measures, as described in the links below.

Speci�cally, please review the "Supplemental Information on Migratory Birds and Eagles".

Additional information can be found using the following links:

Eagle Management https://www.fws.gov/program/eagle-management

Measures for avoiding and minimizing impacts to birds

https://www.fws.gov/library/collections/avoiding-and-minimizing-incidental-take-

migratory-birds

Nationwide conservation measures for birds

https://www.fws.gov/sites/default/�les/documents/nationwide-standard-conservation-

measures.pdf

Supplemental Information for Migratory Birds and Eagles in IPaC

https://www.fws.gov/media/supplemental-information-migratory-birds-and-bald-and-

golden-eagles-may-occur-project-action

1

2

3

https://www.fws.gov/Alaska-eagle-nesting
https://www.fws.gov/media/supplemental-information-migratory-birds-and-bald-and-golden-eagles-may-occur-project-action
https://www.fws.gov/program/eagle-management
https://www.fws.gov/library/collections/avoiding-and-minimizing-incidental-take-migratory-birds
https://www.fws.gov/library/collections/avoiding-and-minimizing-incidental-take-migratory-birds
https://www.fws.gov/sites/default/files/documents/nationwide-standard-conservation-measures.pdf
https://www.fws.gov/sites/default/files/documents/nationwide-standard-conservation-measures.pdf
https://www.fws.gov/media/supplemental-information-migratory-birds-and-bald-and-golden-eagles-may-occur-project-action
https://www.fws.gov/media/supplemental-information-migratory-birds-and-bald-and-golden-eagles-may-occur-project-action


BREEDING SEASON

Probability of Presence Summary

The graphs below provide our best understanding of when birds of concern are most likely

to be present in your project area. This information can be used to tailor and schedule your

project activities to avoid or minimize impacts to birds. Please make sure you read

"Supplemental Information on Migratory Birds and Eagles", speci�cally the FAQ section titled

"Proper Interpretation and Use of Your Migratory Bird Report" before using or attempting to

interpret this report.

Probability of Presence ( )

Each green bar represents the bird's relative probability of presence in the 10km grid cell(s)

your project overlaps during a particular week of the year. (A year is represented as 12 4-

week months.) A taller bar indicates a higher probability of species presence. The survey

e�ort (see below) can be used to establish a level of con�dence in the presence score. One

can have higher con�dence in the presence score if the corresponding survey e�ort is also

high.

How is the probability of presence score calculated? The calculation is done in three steps:

1. The probability of presence for each week is calculated as the number of survey events in

the week where the species was detected divided by the total number of survey events

for that week. For example, if in week 12 there were 20 survey events and the Spotted

Towhee was found in 5 of them, the probability of presence of the Spotted Towhee in

week 12 is 0.25.

2. To properly present the pattern of presence across the year, the relative probability of

presence is calculated. This is the probability of presence divided by the maximum

probability of presence across all weeks. For example, imagine the probability of presence

in week 20 for the Spotted Towhee is 0.05, and that the probability of presence at week

12 (0.25) is the maximum of any week of the year. The relative probability of presence on

week 12 is 0.25/0.25 = 1; at week 20 it is 0.05/0.25 = 0.2.

3. The relative probability of presence calculated in the previous step undergoes a statistical

conversion so that all possible values fall between 0 and 10, inclusive. This is the

probability of presence score.

To see a bar's probability of presence score, simply hover your mouse cursor over the bar.

Breeding Season ( )

NAME

Bald Eagle Haliaeetus leucocephalus

This is not a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) in this area,

but warrants attention because of the Eagle Act or for potential

susceptibilities in o�shore areas from certain types of

development or activities.

https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/1626

Breeds Sep 1 to Aug 31

https://www.fws.gov/media/supplemental-information-migratory-birds-and-bald-and-golden-eagles-may-occur-project-action
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/1626


 no data survey e�ort breeding season probability of presence

Yellow bars denote a very liberal estimate of the time-frame inside which the bird breeds

across its entire range. If there are no yellow bars shown for a bird, it does not breed in your

project area.

Survey E�ort ( )

Vertical black lines superimposed on probability of presence bars indicate the number of

surveys performed for that species in the 10km grid cell(s) your project area overlaps. The

number of surveys is expressed as a range, for example, 33 to 64 surveys.

To see a bar's survey e�ort range, simply hover your mouse cursor over the bar.

No Data ( )

A week is marked as having no data if there were no survey events for that week.

Survey Timeframe

Surveys from only the last 10 years are used in order to ensure delivery of currently relevant

information. The exception to this is areas o� the Atlantic coast, where bird returns are

based on all years of available data, since data in these areas is currently much more sparse.

SPECIES JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC

Bald Eagle

Non-BCC

Vulnerable

What does IPaC use to generate the potential presence of bald and golden eagles in my speci�ed

location?

The potential for eagle presence is derived from data provided by the Avian Knowledge Network (AKN). The

AKN data is based on a growing collection of survey, banding, and citizen science datasets and is queried

and �ltered to return a list of those birds reported as occurring in the 10km grid cell(s) which your project

intersects, and that have been identi�ed as warranting special attention because they are a BCC species in

that area, an eagle (Eagle Act requirements may apply). To see a list of all birds potentially present in your

project area, please visit the Rapid Avian Information Locator (RAIL) Tool.

What does IPaC use to generate the probability of presence graphs of bald and golden eagles in my

speci�ed location?

The Migratory Bird Resource List is comprised of USFWS Birds of Conservation Concern (BCC) and other

species that may warrant special attention in your project location.

The migratory bird list generated for your project is derived from data provided by the Avian Knowledge

Network (AKN). The AKN data is based on a growing collection of survey, banding, and citizen science

datasets and is queried and �ltered to return a list of those birds reported as occurring in the 10km grid

cell(s) which your project intersects, and that have been identi�ed as warranting special attention because

they are a BCC species in that area, an eagle (Eagle Act requirements may apply), or a species that has a

particular vulnerability to o�shore activities or development.

http://www.avianknowledge.net/
https://data.pointblue.org/api/v3/annual-summaries-about-data-types.html
https://www.fws.gov/program/eagle-management
https://data.pointblue.org/apps/rail/
https://www.fws.gov/program/migratory-birds/species
http://www.avianknowledge.net/
http://www.avianknowledge.net/
https://data.pointblue.org/api/v3/annual-summaries-about-data-types.html
https://data.pointblue.org/api/v3/annual-summaries-about-data-types.html
https://www.fws.gov/program/eagle-management


Again, the Migratory Bird Resource list includes only a subset of birds that may occur in your project area.

It is not representative of all birds that may occur in your project area. To get a list of all birds potentially

present in your project area, please visit the Rapid Avian Information Locator (RAIL) Tool.

What if I have eagles on my list?

If your project has the potential to disturb or kill eagles, you may need to obtain a permit to avoid violating

the Eagle Act should such impacts occur. Please contact your local Fish and Wildlife Service Field O�ce if

you have questions.

Migratory birds

The birds listed below are birds of particular concern either because they occur on the

USFWS Birds of Conservation Concern (BCC) list or warrant special attention in your

project location. To learn more about the levels of concern for birds on your list and how

this list is generated, see the FAQ below. This is not a list of every bird you may �nd in this

location, nor a guarantee that every bird on this list will be found in your project area. To see

exact locations of where birders and the general public have sighted birds in and around

your project area, visit the E-bird data mapping tool (Tip: enter your location, desired date

range and a species on your list). For projects that occur o� the Atlantic Coast, additional

maps and models detailing the relative occurrence and abundance of bird species on your

Certain birds are protected under the Migratory Bird Treaty Act  and the Bald and Golden

Eagle Protection Act .

Any person or organization who plans or conducts activities that may result in impacts to

migratory birds, eagles, and their habitats  should follow appropriate regulations and

consider implementing appropriate conservation measures, as described in the links below.

Speci�cally, please review the "Supplemental Information on Migratory Birds and Eagles".

1. The Migratory Birds Treaty Act of 1918.

2. The Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act of 1940.

Additional information can be found using the following links:

Eagle Management https://www.fws.gov/program/eagle-management

Measures for avoiding and minimizing impacts to birds

https://www.fws.gov/library/collections/avoiding-and-minimizing-incidental-take-

migratory-birds

Nationwide conservation measures for birds https://www.fws.gov/sites/default/�les/

documents/nationwide-standard-conservation-measures.pdf

Supplemental Information for Migratory Birds and Eagles in IPaC

https://www.fws.gov/media/supplemental-information-migratory-birds-and-bald-and-

golden-eagles-may-occur-project-action

1

2

3

https://data.pointblue.org/apps/rail/
https://www.fws.gov/program/eagle-management
https://www.fws.gov/program/migratory-birds/species
http://ebird.org/ebird/map/
https://www.fws.gov/media/supplemental-information-migratory-birds-and-bald-and-golden-eagles-may-occur-project-action
https://www.fws.gov/birds/policies-and-regulations/laws-legislations/migratory-bird-treaty-act.php
https://www.fws.gov/birds/policies-and-regulations/laws-legislations/bald-and-golden-eagle-protection-act.php
https://www.fws.gov/program/eagle-management
https://www.fws.gov/library/collections/avoiding-and-minimizing-incidental-take-migratory-birds
https://www.fws.gov/library/collections/avoiding-and-minimizing-incidental-take-migratory-birds
https://www.fws.gov/sites/default/files/%20documents/nationwide-standard-conservation-measures.pdf
https://www.fws.gov/sites/default/files/%20documents/nationwide-standard-conservation-measures.pdf
https://www.fws.gov/media/supplemental-information-migratory-birds-and-bald-and-golden-eagles-may-occur-project-action
https://www.fws.gov/media/supplemental-information-migratory-birds-and-bald-and-golden-eagles-may-occur-project-action


list are available. Links to additional information about Atlantic Coast birds, and other

important information about your migratory bird list, including how to properly interpret and

use your migratory bird report, can be found below.

For guidance on when to schedule activities or implement avoidance and minimization

measures to reduce impacts to migratory birds on your list, see the PROBABILITY OF

PRESENCE SUMMARY below to see when these birds are most likely to be present and

breeding in your project area.

BREEDING SEASON

Probability of Presence Summary

The graphs below provide our best understanding of when birds of concern are most likely

to be present in your project area. This information can be used to tailor and schedule your

project activities to avoid or minimize impacts to birds. Please make sure you read

"Supplemental Information on Migratory Birds and Eagles", speci�cally the FAQ section titled

"Proper Interpretation and Use of Your Migratory Bird Report" before using or attempting to

interpret this report.

Probability of Presence ( )

NAME

Bald Eagle Haliaeetus leucocephalus

This is not a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) in this area,

but warrants attention because of the Eagle Act or for potential

susceptibilities in o�shore areas from certain types of

development or activities.

https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/1626

Breeds Sep 1 to Aug 31

Chimney Swift Chaetura pelagica

This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its

range in the continental USA and Alaska.

Breeds Mar 15 to Aug 25

Eastern Whip-poor-will Antrostomus vociferus

This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its

range in the continental USA and Alaska.

Breeds May 1 to Aug 20

Red-headed Woodpecker Melanerpes erythrocephalus

This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its

range in the continental USA and Alaska.

Breeds May 10 to Sep 10

Wood Thrush Hylocichla mustelina

This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its

range in the continental USA and Alaska.

Breeds May 10 to Aug 31

https://www.fws.gov/media/supplemental-information-migratory-birds-and-bald-and-golden-eagles-may-occur-project-action
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/1626


 no data survey e�ort breeding season probability of presence

Each green bar represents the bird's relative probability of presence in the 10km grid cell(s)

your project overlaps during a particular week of the year. (A year is represented as 12 4-

week months.) A taller bar indicates a higher probability of species presence. The survey

e�ort (see below) can be used to establish a level of con�dence in the presence score. One

can have higher con�dence in the presence score if the corresponding survey e�ort is also

high.

How is the probability of presence score calculated? The calculation is done in three steps:

1. The probability of presence for each week is calculated as the number of survey events in

the week where the species was detected divided by the total number of survey events

for that week. For example, if in week 12 there were 20 survey events and the Spotted

Towhee was found in 5 of them, the probability of presence of the Spotted Towhee in

week 12 is 0.25.

2. To properly present the pattern of presence across the year, the relative probability of

presence is calculated. This is the probability of presence divided by the maximum

probability of presence across all weeks. For example, imagine the probability of presence

in week 20 for the Spotted Towhee is 0.05, and that the probability of presence at week

12 (0.25) is the maximum of any week of the year. The relative probability of presence on

week 12 is 0.25/0.25 = 1; at week 20 it is 0.05/0.25 = 0.2.

3. The relative probability of presence calculated in the previous step undergoes a statistical

conversion so that all possible values fall between 0 and 10, inclusive. This is the

probability of presence score.

To see a bar's probability of presence score, simply hover your mouse cursor over the bar.

Breeding Season ( )

Yellow bars denote a very liberal estimate of the time-frame inside which the bird breeds

across its entire range. If there are no yellow bars shown for a bird, it does not breed in your

project area.

Survey E�ort ( )

Vertical black lines superimposed on probability of presence bars indicate the number of

surveys performed for that species in the 10km grid cell(s) your project area overlaps. The

number of surveys is expressed as a range, for example, 33 to 64 surveys.

To see a bar's survey e�ort range, simply hover your mouse cursor over the bar.

No Data ( )

A week is marked as having no data if there were no survey events for that week.

Survey Timeframe

Surveys from only the last 10 years are used in order to ensure delivery of currently relevant

information. The exception to this is areas o� the Atlantic coast, where bird returns are

based on all years of available data, since data in these areas is currently much more sparse.
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Bald Eagle

Non-BCC

Vulnerable

Chimney Swift

BCC Rangewide

(CON)

Eastern Whip-

poor-will

BCC Rangewide

(CON)

Red-headed

Woodpecker

BCC Rangewide

(CON)

Wood Thrush

BCC Rangewide

(CON)

Tell me more about conservation measures I can implement to avoid or minimize impacts to migratory

birds.

Nationwide Conservation Measures describes measures that can help avoid and minimize impacts to all

birds at any location year round. Implementation of these measures is particularly important when birds

are most likely to occur in the project area. When birds may be breeding in the area, identifying the

locations of any active nests and avoiding their destruction is a very helpful impact minimization measure.

To see when birds are most likely to occur and be breeding in your project area, view the Probability of

Presence Summary. Additional measures or permits may be advisable depending on the type of activity

you are conducting and the type of infrastructure or bird species present on your project site.

What does IPaC use to generate the list of migratory birds that potentially occur in my speci�ed

location?

The Migratory Bird Resource List is comprised of USFWS Birds of Conservation Concern (BCC) and other

species that may warrant special attention in your project location.

The migratory bird list generated for your project is derived from data provided by the Avian Knowledge

Network (AKN). The AKN data is based on a growing collection of survey, banding, and citizen science

datasets and is queried and �ltered to return a list of those birds reported as occurring in the 10km grid

cell(s) which your project intersects, and that have been identi�ed as warranting special attention because

they are a BCC species in that area, an eagle (Eagle Act requirements may apply), or a species that has a

particular vulnerability to o�shore activities or development.

Again, the Migratory Bird Resource list includes only a subset of birds that may occur in your project area.

It is not representative of all birds that may occur in your project area. To get a list of all birds potentially

present in your project area, please visit the Rapid Avian Information Locator (RAIL) Tool.

What does IPaC use to generate the probability of presence graphs for the migratory birds potentially

occurring in my speci�ed location?

https://www.fws.gov/sites/default/files/documents/nationwide-standard-conservation-measures.pdf
https://avianknowledge.net/index.php/beneficial-practices/
https://www.fws.gov/birds/policies-and-regulations/permits.php
https://www.fws.gov/program/migratory-birds/species
http://www.avianknowledge.net/
http://www.avianknowledge.net/
https://data.pointblue.org/api/v3/annual-summaries-about-data-types.html
https://data.pointblue.org/api/v3/annual-summaries-about-data-types.html
https://www.fws.gov/program/eagle-management
https://data.pointblue.org/apps/rail/


The probability of presence graphs associated with your migratory bird list are based on data provided by

the Avian Knowledge Network (AKN). This data is derived from a growing collection of survey, banding, and

citizen science datasets.

Probability of presence data is continuously being updated as new and better information becomes

available. To learn more about how the probability of presence graphs are produced and how to interpret

them, go the Probability of Presence Summary and then click on the "Tell me about these graphs" link.

How do I know if a bird is breeding, wintering or migrating in my area?

To see what part of a particular bird's range your project area falls within (i.e. breeding, wintering,

migrating or year-round), you may query your location using the RAIL Tool and look at the range maps

provided for birds in your area at the bottom of the pro�les provided for each bird in your results. If a bird

on your migratory bird species list has a breeding season associated with it, if that bird does occur in your

project area, there may be nests present at some point within the timeframe speci�ed. If "Breeds

elsewhere" is indicated, then the bird likely does not breed in your project area.

What are the levels of concern for migratory birds?

Migratory birds delivered through IPaC fall into the following distinct categories of concern:

1. "BCC Rangewide" birds are Birds of Conservation Concern (BCC) that are of concern throughout their

range anywhere within the USA (including Hawaii, the Paci�c Islands, Puerto Rico, and the Virgin

Islands);

2. "BCC - BCR" birds are BCCs that are of concern only in particular Bird Conservation Regions (BCRs) in

the continental USA; and

3. "Non-BCC - Vulnerable" birds are not BCC species in your project area, but appear on your list either

because of the Eagle Act requirements (for eagles) or (for non-eagles) potential susceptibilities in

o�shore areas from certain types of development or activities (e.g. o�shore energy development or

longline �shing).

Although it is important to try to avoid and minimize impacts to all birds, e�orts should be made, in

particular, to avoid and minimize impacts to the birds on this list, especially eagles and BCC species of

rangewide concern. For more information on conservation measures you can implement to help avoid and

minimize migratory bird impacts and requirements for eagles, please see the FAQs for these topics.

Details about birds that are potentially a�ected by o�shore projects

For additional details about the relative occurrence and abundance of both individual bird species and

groups of bird species within your project area o� the Atlantic Coast, please visit the Northeast Ocean Data

Portal. The Portal also o�ers data and information about other taxa besides birds that may be helpful to

you in your project review. Alternately, you may download the bird model results �les underlying the portal

maps through the NOAA NCCOS Integrative Statistical Modeling and Predictive Mapping of Marine Bird

Distributions and Abundance on the Atlantic Outer Continental Shelf project webpage.

Bird tracking data can also provide additional details about occurrence and habitat use throughout the

year, including migration. Models relying on survey data may not include this information. For additional

information on marine bird tracking data, see the Diving Bird Study and the nanotag studies or contact

Caleb Spiegel or Pam Loring.

What if I have eagles on my list?

https://avianknowledge.net/
https://data.pointblue.org/api/v3/annual-summaries-about-data-types.html
https://data.pointblue.org/api/v3/annual-summaries-about-data-types.html
https://data.pointblue.org/apps/rail/
https://www.fws.gov/program/migratory-birds/species
https://www.fws.gov/birds/management/managed-species/bald-and-golden-eagle-information.php
http://www.northeastoceandata.org/data-explorer/?birds
http://www.northeastoceandata.org/data-explorer/?birds
https://coastalscience.noaa.gov/project/statistical-modeling-marine-bird-distributions/
https://coastalscience.noaa.gov/project/statistical-modeling-marine-bird-distributions/
http://www.boem.gov/AT-12-02/
http://www.boem.gov/AT-13-01/
mailto:Caleb_Spiegel@fws.gov
mailto:Pamela_Loring@fws.gov


If your project has the potential to disturb or kill eagles, you may need to obtain a permit to avoid violating

the Eagle Act should such impacts occur.

Proper Interpretation and Use of Your Migratory Bird Report

The migratory bird list generated is not a list of all birds in your project area, only a subset of birds of

priority concern. To learn more about how your list is generated, and see options for identifying what other

birds may be in your project area, please see the FAQ "What does IPaC use to generate the migratory birds

potentially occurring in my speci�ed location". Please be aware this report provides the "probability of

presence" of birds within the 10 km grid cell(s) that overlap your project; not your exact project footprint.

On the graphs provided, please also look carefully at the survey e�ort (indicated by the black vertical bar)

and for the existence of the "no data" indicator (a red horizontal bar). A high survey e�ort is the key

component. If the survey e�ort is high, then the probability of presence score can be viewed as more

dependable. In contrast, a low survey e�ort bar or no data bar means a lack of data and, therefore, a lack

of certainty about presence of the species. This list is not perfect; it is simply a starting point for identifying

what birds of concern have the potential to be in your project area, when they might be there, and if they

might be breeding (which means nests might be present). The list helps you know what to look for to

con�rm presence, and helps guide you in knowing when to implement conservation measures to avoid or

minimize potential impacts from your project activities, should presence be con�rmed. To learn more

about conservation measures, visit the FAQ "Tell me about conservation measures I can implement to

avoid or minimize impacts to migratory birds" at the bottom of your migratory bird trust resources page.

Facilities

National Wildlife Refuge lands

Any activity proposed on lands managed by the National Wildlife Refuge system must

undergo a 'Compatibility Determination' conducted by the Refuge. Please contact the

individual Refuges to discuss any questions or concerns.

There are no refuge lands at this location.

Fish hatcheries

There are no �sh hatcheries at this location.

https://fwsepermits.servicenowservices.com/fws
http://www.fws.gov/refuges/


Wetlands in the National Wetlands Inventory

(NWI)
Impacts to NWI wetlands and other aquatic habitats may be subject to regulation under

Section 404 of the Clean Water Act, or other State/Federal statutes.

For more information please contact the Regulatory Program of the local U.S. Army Corps of

Engineers District.

Please note that the NWI data being shown may be out of date. We are currently working to

update our NWI data set. We recommend you verify these results with a site visit to

determine the actual extent of wetlands on site.

This location overlaps the following wetlands:

NOTE: This initial screening does not replace an on-site delineation to determine whether

wetlands occur. Additional information on the NWI data is provided below.

Data limitations

The Service's objective of mapping wetlands and deepwater habitats is to produce reconnaissance level

information on the location, type and size of these resources. The maps are prepared from the analysis of

high altitude imagery. Wetlands are identi�ed based on vegetation, visible hydrology and geography. A

margin of error is inherent in the use of imagery; thus, detailed on-the-ground inspection of any particular

site may result in revision of the wetland boundaries or classi�cation established through image analysis.

The accuracy of image interpretation depends on the quality of the imagery, the experience of the image

analysts, the amount and quality of the collateral data and the amount of ground truth veri�cation work

conducted. Metadata should be consulted to determine the date of the source imagery used and any

mapping problems.

Wetlands or other mapped features may have changed since the date of the imagery or �eld work. There

may be occasional di�erences in polygon boundaries or classi�cations between the information depicted

on the map and the actual conditions on site.

Data exclusions

FRESHWATER FORESTED/SHRUB WETLAND

PSS1A

RIVERINE

R4SBC

A full description for each wetland code can be found at the National Wetlands Inventory

website

http://www.fws.gov/wetlands/
http://www.usace.army.mil/Missions/CivilWorks/RegulatoryProgramandPermits.aspx
http://www.usace.army.mil/Missions/CivilWorks/RegulatoryProgramandPermits.aspx
https://fwsprimary.wim.usgs.gov/decoders/wetlands.aspx
https://fwsprimary.wim.usgs.gov/decoders/wetlands.aspx


Certain wetland habitats are excluded from the National mapping program because of the limitations of

aerial imagery as the primary data source used to detect wetlands. These habitats include seagrasses or

submerged aquatic vegetation that are found in the intertidal and subtidal zones of estuaries and

nearshore coastal waters. Some deepwater reef communities (coral or tuber�cid worm reefs) have also

been excluded from the inventory. These habitats, because of their depth, go undetected by aerial

imagery.

Data precautions

Federal, state, and local regulatory agencies with jurisdiction over wetlands may de�ne and describe

wetlands in a di�erent manner than that used in this inventory. There is no attempt, in either the design or

products of this inventory, to de�ne the limits of proprietary jurisdiction of any Federal, state, or local

government or to establish the geographical scope of the regulatory programs of government agencies.

Persons intending to engage in activities involving modi�cations within or adjacent to wetland areas should

seek the advice of appropriate Federal, state, or local agencies concerning speci�ed agency regulatory

programs and proprietary jurisdictions that may a�ect such activities.
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Return to: 
Upstate Forever 

507 Pettigru Street 
Greenville, SC 29601 

 
 

 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )  CONSERVATION EASEMENT 
)  Includes Transfer Fee Lien, 

COUNTY OF OCONEE  )  Allocation, and Notice Requirements 

 
 
For and in the consideration of the sum of $_____ provided by the South Carolina 

Conservation Bank, the Oconee County Conservation Bank, and the Upstate 
Land Conservation Fund, and other good and valuable consideration, this 

CONSERVATION EASEMENT is entered into this _____ day of ___________, 20__ 
by and between APRIL E. CHILDRESS AND JOSEPH L. TINSLEY, citizens and 
residents of Oconee County, South Carolina (hereinafter referred to as 

“Grantor"), and UPSTATE FOREVER, a nonprofit corporation organized and 
existing under the laws of the State of South Carolina (hereinafter referred to as 
“Grantee”). 

 
WITNESSETH: 

 
WHEREAS, Grantor is the owner in fee simple of certain real property, more 
particularly described on Exhibit 1, attached hereto and hereinafter referred to 

as the "Protected Property"; 
 

WHEREAS, it is the purpose and intention of the Grantor and Grantee by this 
Conservation Easement to protect certain conservation values on the Protected 
Property (the “Conservation Values”) including without limitation the following: 

A. Significant natural areas containing relatively natural habitat of fish, 
wildlife, and/or plants associated with a mixed hardwood forest within the 
Riparian Buffers along approximately 2,000 linear feet of Fall Creek, a 

tributary of the Chattooga National Wild and Scenic River; and 

B. Agricultural and forest land in close proximity to other conserved property, 

such as the Andrew Pickens Ranger District of the Sumter National Forest 
and Whetstone Hill and Fall Creek, conservation easements held by 
Upstate Forever; 

 
WHEREAS, the Conservation Values are of great importance to Grantor and 

Grantee and the people of Oconee County and the State of South Carolina;  
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WHEREAS, Grantor intends that the Conservation Values of the Protected 
Property be preserved and maintained by allowing only limited and carefully 

controlled activities thereon, in accordance with the terms and conditions 
provided herein;  

 
WHEREAS, in the view of Grantor and Grantee, the Conservation Values of the 
Protected Property meet the following “Conservation Purposes” set forth in 

Section 170(h)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended 
(hereinafter called the "Code"):  

A. The protection of a relatively natural habitat of fish, wildlife, or plants, or 

similar ecosystem; 
 

WHEREAS, the preservation of open space (including farm and forest land) is 
recognized in the following governmental conservation policies: 

A. The Farmland Protection Policy Act, P.L. 97-98, 7 U.S.C. Section 4201, et 
seq., whose purpose is "to minimize the extent to which Federal programs 
and policies contribute to the unnecessary and irreversible conversion of 

farmland to non-Agricultural Uses, and to ensure that Federal programs 
are administered in a manner that, to the extent practicable, will be 
compatible with State, unit of local government, and private programs and 

policies to protect farmland;" 

B. South Carolina’s right-to-farm law, as codified in S.C. Code Sections 46-

45-10 to -70, which states in part that “The policy of the State is to 
conserve, protect, and encourage the development and improvement of its 
agricultural land and facilities for the production of food and other 

agricultural products”; 

C. The Conservation Bank Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 48-59-10, et seq., declares 

that “protection of open space by acquisition of interests in real property 
from willing sellers is essential to ensure that the State continues to enjoy 
the benefits of wildlife habitats, forestlands, farmlands, parks, historical 

sites, and healthy streams, rivers, bays, and estuaries; for recreational 
purposes, for scientific study, for aesthetic appreciation, for protection of 

critical water resources, to maintain the state's position as an attractive 
location for visitors and new industry, and to preserve the opportunities of 
future generations to access and benefit from the existence of the state's 

outstanding natural and historical sites”; 

D. The S.C. Conservation Easement Act of 1991, S.C. Code Ann. § 27-8-10, 
et seq., has a purpose of “ensuring the availability of real property for 

agricultural, forest, recreational, educational or open space use”;  
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E. South Carolina’s preferential tax laws for agricultural land, as found in 
S.C. Code Sections 12-43-220 to -260, as amended, provide for a 

preferential tax rate for agricultural land in order for such lands to remain 
in productive Agricultural Uses; and  

 
WHEREAS, Grantee is a non-profit corporation having tax-exempt status under 
Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, has been established as a public charity for the 

purpose of preserving and conserving natural habitats, environmentally 
sensitive areas and open space, and for other charitable, scientific, and 
educational purposes, and meets the requirements of a "qualified organization" 

under Section 170(h)(3) of the Code;  
 

WHEREAS, Sections 27-8-20 and 27-8-30 of the South Carolina Code of Laws 
permit the granting of conservation easements for recreational, ecological, 
environmental, educational, and open-space uses;  

 
WHEREAS, the Conservation Values as described above are documented in a 

comprehensive Baseline Report, consisting of descriptions, maps, and 
photographs, that documents the current condition and Conservation Values of 
the property at the time a conservation easement is granted;  

 
WHEREAS, the Baseline Report is on file at Grantee’s office and is incorporated 
herein by reference; 

 
WHEREAS, the parties agree that the Baseline Report provides, collectively, an 

accurate representation of the Protected Property at the time of this grant and is 
intended to serve as an objective point of reference from which to monitor 
compliance with the terms of this Conservation Easement;  

 
WHEREAS, Grantee agrees to enforce the terms of this Conservation Easement 
to ensure the preservation and protection of the Conservation Values of the 

Protected Property in perpetuity for the benefit of Grantee and its successors and 
assigns; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual 
covenants, terms, conditions and restrictions herein contained, Grantor, 

intending to be legally bound and intending for this Conservation Easement to 
remain in effect in perpetuity, agrees on behalf of themselves, their heirs, 

successors, and assigns as follows: 
 

1. Definitions.  For the purposes of this Conservation Easement, Grantor 

and Grantee agree that, in addition to terms defined or abbreviated elsewhere 
herein, the following terms that appear throughout this Conservation Easement 
shall be defined as follows: 
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Agricultural Activities: Activities directly related to the production, 
harvesting, and/or storage of plant and/or animal products on the Protected 

Property, including, but not limited to, the means of production, and/or the 
improvement and maintenance of lands for the production of crops, animal 

husbandry, floriculture, and horticulture in a manner that preserves the long-
term productivity of the soil. This includes the keeping of horses, mules or 
donkeys for the grazing of land. 

Agricultural Structure: Any structure designed to be used or currently used 
in conjunction with permitted Agricultural Activities, not including any 
structure used as a dwelling for human beings. 

Ancillary Structures: Any related or auxiliary structure customarily used as 
an accessory to a Residence, such as garages or sheds, not including any 

structure used as a dwelling for human beings. Swimming pools and other 
impervious water features do not constitute Ancillary Structures for the 
purposes of this Conservation Easement. 

Approval: The prior written consent of the Grantee to allow Grantor to 
undertake an activity relating to certain rights described in Section 4 and as 

further characterized in Section 5.  

Commercial Recreation: The provision of recreation-related products or 
services by private (or public) enterprise for a fee.  

Commercial Use/Activity: Any use or activity making or intending to make 
a profit.  

Equestrian Activities: Activities directly related to horseback riding or the 

raising or keeping of horses for the purpose of horseback riding. 

Equestrian Structures: Any structure or facility designed to be used or 

currently used in conjunction with permitted Equestrian Activities, not 
including any structure used as a dwelling for human beings. These include, 
but are not limited to, barns, riding arenas, stables, tack rooms, run-in sheds, 

and storage sheds. 

Forest Management: The production, improvement, and maintenance of 
forest lands for timber production and commercial harvesting, wildlife 

management, aesthetics or any other purpose.  Forest Management includes 
silvicultural practices, which are used to control the establishment, growth, 

composition, health, quality and utilization of forestlands for multiple-use 
purposes and include, but are not limited to, harvesting, thinning, 
reforestation, competition control, prescribed fire or fire breaks. 
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Forest Management Plan: A written plan, subject to periodic updates, 
created by a licensed Registered Forester, to guide all Forest Management 

activities, or practices on the Protected Property.  

Impervious Surface: A human-made surface area that either prevents or 

significantly retards the entry of surface water and stormwater into the soil 
or into a water body. Impervious Surfaces can include, but are not limited to, 
roof tops, walkways, patios and decking, enclosed and unenclosed porches, 

paved driveways, paved parking lots, covered storage areas, concrete or 
asphalt paving, docks, boardwalks, swimming pools, or other surfaces which 
similarly impede the natural infiltration of surface and stormwater runoff. 

Impervious Surface specifically excludes ground surfaces covered with sand, 
gravel, shell sand, crushed stone, or other similar permeable materials.  

Impoundments: Any dam, weir or other structure that can raise the water 
level of a water body above its natural level. 

Natural Areas: An area of unique scenic, historic, geologic or ecological value 

and of sufficient size and character so as to allow its maintenance in a 
natural condition by the operation of physical and biological processes, 

usually without direct human intervention. 

Ordinary High Water Mark: According to the Army Corps of Engineers: “That 
line on the shore established by the fluctuations of water and indicated by 

physical characteristics such as a clear, natural line impressed on the bank, 
shelving, changes in the character of soil, destruction of terrestrial vegetation, 

the presence of litter and debris, or other appropriate means that consider 
the characteristics of the surrounding areas”.  

Passive Recreation: Recreational use by the general public that requires 

minimal development or facilities.  Examples include hiking and biking and 
generally occur in a relatively natural environment.   

Residence: Any structure that could be used for human habitation and 
which contains sleeping quarters, sanitary facilities, and cooking facilities. 

Riparian Buffer: Any vegetated areas that are within 200 feet of the Ordinary 

High Water Mark of Fall Creek or any other river, stream, waterway, pond, 
lake or Impoundment on the Protected Property that protects and improves 
water quality, provides bank stabilization, and creates aquatic and wildlife 

habitat.  Riparian Buffers are subject to specific restrictions and protections 
further described in Section 4.   

Subdivided Tract: A transferable parcel of land separate and distinct from 
the original parcel(s) comprising the Protected Property, which is created from 
said original parcel(s) after the date of this Conservation Easement; provided, 
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however, any Subdivided Tract will continue to be a portion of the Protected 
Property. 

Subdividing: The process of legally dividing the original legal parcels of land 
that comprised the Protected Property at the time this Conservation Easement 

was executed in order to create additional legal, transferable parcels of land. 

Wetlands: Those areas that are inundated or saturated by surface or ground 
water at a frequency and duration sufficient to support, and that under 

normal circumstances do support, a prevalence of vegetation typically 
adapted for life in saturated soil conditions.  

  

2. Primary Purposes.  The primary purposes of this Conservation Easement 
are to ensure that the Protected Property remains predominately in its natural 

state in perpetuity and to protect its Conservation Values in perpetuity 
(hereinafter the “Primary Purposes”). 
 

3. Reserved Rights.  Grantor reserves to themselves, and to their personal 
representative, heirs, successors, and assigns, all the rights, uses and activities 

inherent in fee simple ownership of the Protected Property (collectively, the 
“Reserved Rights”), subject to the specific restrictions and limitations of Section 
4, which are included to accomplish the Primary Purposes. All Reserved Rights 

apply to the Protected Property in its entirety, except where specifically modified 
herein. In addition, the exercise of all Reserved Rights shall be in full accordance 
with all applicable local, state and federal laws and regulations, as well as in 

accordance with the Primary Purposes and terms of this Conservation Easement.  
 

4. Restrictions on Uses of the Protected Property.  The provisions in this 
Section 4 set forth Grantor’s responsibilities with regard to acts and uses on, 
over, or under the Protected Property. There are currently two Residences, the 

main house and the cabin, and several ancillary structures, including a storage 
shed, an outhouse, and two (2) solar arrays, on the Protected Property, which 
are more particularly described in the Baseline Report. Grantor agrees that there 

shall be no building or development or any Residential, industrial, or Commercial 
Use/Activity of any nature undertaken or allowed on the Protected Property or 

any portion thereof with the following limited exceptions: 
   

A. Residences and Structures. Grantor may have three (3) Residences on 

the Protected Property. Grantor shall have the following rights regarding the 
Residences and structures on the Protected Property: 

(1) Maintenance of Existing Structures:  To maintain, repair, and 
improve the two (2) existing Residence(s), Ancillary Structures, and all 
existing patios, decks, and other Impervious Surfaces, which are more 

particularly described in the Baseline Report; 
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(2) Removal, Replacement or Expansion of Existing Residence(s) and 
Ancillary Structures: To remove, replace, or expand the existing single 

family Residence(s), provided: 

(a) The replacement Residences shall occupy the same locations as the 

existing Residences. Furthermore, the replacement Residences and 
their associated Ancillary Structures shall be constructed, subject 
to the conditions described herein, within permitted “building 

envelope” areas, which building envelope areas shall each touch and 
include the locational “Pins”, as such Pins are shown and described 
on Exhibit 2, which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by 

reference. Further, and without limiting the foregoing, the permitted 
building envelope areas shall not exceed one-half (1/2) acre for the 

building envelope corresponding to “Pin A”, and one-half (1/2) acre 
for the building envelope corresponding to “Pin B”. Further, and 
without limiting the foregoing, the relevant building envelopes 

described herein, while being required to touch and contain the 
relevant Pins described above, shall also be in the shape of either a 

perfect circle or perfect square and the center of any such building 
envelope shape shall be no further than fifty (50) feet from the 
associated Pin; 

(b) No Residence nor any Ancillary Structures shall exceed two (2) 
stories in height excluding underground basements; 

(c) A Residence may include a basement; 

(d) No Residence shall have a swimming pool or other Impervious water 
feature;  

(e) Grantor obtains Grantee’s Approval of Grantor’s plan for the location 
and construction of removal, replacement or expansion of the 
existing single family Residence before any work begins; and 

(f) Grantor obtains Grantee’s Approval of Grantor’s plan for the 
replacement or expansion of any existing or new Ancillary Structure 
that occupies a footprint over 1,000 square feet before any work 

begins; 

(3) Reserved. This section intentionally left blank. 

(4) New Structures: To construct, maintain, repair, improve and replace 
up to one (1) new single family Residence and associated Ancillary 
Structures for such Residence, provided that the new Residence, Ancillary 

Structures and their other associated Impervious Surfaces satisfy the 
following:  

(a) The Residence shall not exceed two stories in height excluding 
underground basements; 

(b) The Residence may include a basement; 
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(c) Ancillary Structures associated with the new Residence shall not 
exceed two stories in height; 

(d) No Residence shall have a swimming pool or other Impervious water 
feature;  

(e) The single family Residence and its associated Ancillary Structures 
shall be constructed, subject to the conditions described herein, in 
one of three (3) separate permitted “building envelope” areas, which 

building envelope areas shall each touch and include the three (3) 
locational “Pins”, as such Pins are shown and described on Exhibit 

2, which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference. 
Further, and without limiting the foregoing, the permitted building 
envelope areas shall not exceed one-half (1/2) acre for the building 

envelope corresponding to “Pin C”, one-half (1/2) acre for the 
building envelope corresponding to “Pin D” and one-half (1/2) acre 
for the building envelope corresponding to “Pin E”. Further, and 

without limiting the foregoing, the relevant building envelopes 
described herein, while being required to touch and contain the 

relevant Pins described above, shall also be in the shape of either a 
perfect circle or perfect square. The final location of the three 
building envelope areas, as permitted herein, shall be subject to 

Approval by the Grantee, which Approval shall not be unreasonably 
withheld. Once the one (1) envelope is chosen for the new single 

family Residence, the other two (2) will be deemed extinguished and 
no longer available for consideration as a permissible building 
envelope area. 

(f) Grantor obtains Grantee’s Approval of Grantor’s plan for the 
location, site preparation and construction of the Residence before 

any work begins; and 

(g) Grantor obtains Grantee’s Approval of Grantor’s plan for the 
location, construction, and expansion of any Ancillary Structure 

before any work begins. 

(5) Dwelling Restriction:  Other than permitted Residential structures, 
no other structure on the Protected Property shall be used as a temporary 

or permanent dwelling for human beings.     
 

B. Reserved. This section intentionally left blank. 
 
C. Subdividing and Ownership of Parcels. The Protected Property 

currently consists of three (3) legal parcels, namely Oconee County parcels 
numbered (102-00-01-005, 102-00-01-013, and 102-00-01-029. The 

Protected Property shall not be Subdivided except parcel number 102-00-01-
005 may be subdivided one (1) time into two (2) Subdivided Tracts of at least 
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thirty (30) acres each to provide for the new single family Residence permitted 
in Section 4(A)(4) described in Section 4(A) above.  

If Grantor transfers the Subdivided Tract in a separate transaction, Grantor 
shall allocate between the Subdivided Tracts the total allowable reserved 

rights in Sections 4(A), 4(J), 4(K), 4(L), and 4(M).  Said allocation shall be 
reflected in any document or instrument which creates and/or conveys the 
Subdivided Tracts.  If Grantor fails to make an allocation of the reserved rights 

upon the transfer or conveyance of title to a Subdivided Tract, said Subdivided 
Tract shall be deemed to have received an allocation of the lesser of (i) a 33% 
pro-rata share of the originally available reserved rights in Sections 4(A), 4(J), 

4(K), 4(L), and 4(M) or (ii) the remaining reserved rights under said sections.  
Allocation of the reserved rights in Sections 4(A), 4(J), 4(K), 4(L), and 4(M) for 

each Subdivided Tract may subsequently be modified by a recorded 
instrument executed by the owner(s) of the respective Subdivided Tracts. 

 

D. Commercial Activities. Except with the Approval of Grantee, there shall 
be no Commercial Uses/Activities, or structures on the Protected Property. 

For purposes of this limitation, Commercial Uses do not include: recreational 
or lease based hunting or fishing, leasing of residential structures for 
residential usage, or leasing of the Protected Property for Agricultural Uses.  

 
E. Commercial Recreation. No Commercial Recreational activities of any 
kind shall be allowed on the Protected Property, provided Grantor shall have 

the right to lease the Protected Property for hunting and fishing in accordance 
with applicable laws and regulations.    

 
F. Signs and Lighting. There shall be no construction or placing of signs, 
billboards, or any type of advertising devices or materials on the Protected 

Property except for: 

(1) Directional signs required by law;  

(2) “No trespassing,” “no hunting,” or similar signs;  

(3) Signs relating to the sale of the Protected Property;  

(4) Signs indicating the name or ownership of the farm or home, not to 

exceed twelve (12) square feet; and  

(5) Signs to indicate the Conservation Values of the Protected Property.  

Outdoor lighting is prohibited, except as may be reasonably necessary to 

ensure safe ingress to and egress from structures, to facilitate acts and uses 
on, over, or under the Protected Property, and to allow timely observance, in 

a reasonable fashion, of a holiday for which outdoor lighting is customary. 
With the exception of such holiday lights, all permitted outdoor lighting shall, 
to the maximum extent practicable, be visually unobtrusive, fully shielded, 

and focused on the immediately adjacent grade, so as to prevent glare and 
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minimize off-property light trespass. No search lights, lasers, or other high-
intensity light sources shall be employed, nor shall there be any blinking, 

moving, neon, projected, or other non-essential or visually obtrusive 
components. 

 
G. Protection of Riparian Buffers. Grantor shall not remove or cut any 
trees or otherwise alter or disturb any area of the Protected Property that is 

within the Riparian Buffer with the limited exceptions of: 

(1) Removing trees that are dead; 

(2) Removing trees that are substantially damaged or threatened by 

natural causes (e.g. – insect, disease, etc.) when it is necessary to 
maintain the ecological health of the affected forest community; 

(3) Removing trees that pose a significant and immediate hazard to life 
or property;  

(4) Cutting, removing, or eradicating any plant which is recognized by 

state or federal natural resource authorities to be a non-indigenous 
species;  

(5) For roads, bridges, and trails constructed or restored in accordance 
with Section 4(N); or 

(6) Performing ecological enhancements in accordance with a 

professionally prepared plan and following Approval by Grantee.  

In addition, Grantor shall take all steps reasonably necessary to keep cattle 

and other livestock out of all rivers, streams, or other waterways on the 
Protected Property. 
 

H. Utility Systems. Utility systems, including, without limitation, water, 
sewer, septic tanks, propane tanks, electrical power (including geothermal, 
solar and wind power), and communication lines and related facilities that 

are reasonably required to directly serve the structures and uses allowed 
under Section 4(A), 4(J) and 4(K) hereof may be located on Protected Property.  

To the extent possible, all utilities must be located underground. 
 
I. Wildlife Habitat Enhancement.  Grantor reserves the right to improve 

the ecological function of the Protected Property when such an activity is in 
accordance with a written wildlife habitat restoration or enhancement plan, 
utilizing and adhering to best management practices of a state or federal 

agency, and has been Approved in writing by Grantee. 

Further, there shall be no cutting or removal of trees or other vegetation on 

the Protected Property. Notwithstanding the above, Grantor reserves the 
right, outside of the Riparian Buffer (Section 4(G)):  

(1) To remove trees that are dead; 
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(2) To remove trees that are substantially damaged or threatened by 
natural causes (e.g. – insect, disease, etc.) when it is necessary to 

maintain the ecological health of the affected forest community; 

(3) To remove trees that pose a significant and immediate hazard to life or 

property;  

(4) To cut, remove, or eradicate any plant which is recognized by state or 
federal natural resource authorities to be a non-indigenous species;  

(5) To harvest trees for firewood or for Grantors’ sole personal use, 
including cultivation and harvesting of edible mushrooms; and 

(6) To cut and remove trees after obtaining Grantee’s Approval, when 
necessary to perform other activities otherwise permitted by this 
Conservation Easement (e.g. – clearing a site for a permitted building). 

Grantor may use prescribed fires as a Forest Management tool, may 
reasonably maintain existing firebreaks, and may install new firebreaks 

except within the Riparian Buffer.   
 

J. Agricultural, Equestrian and Recreational Activities and Structures.  
There is currently one (1) existing Agricultural Structure on the Protected 
Property, and one (1) existing recreation structure on the Protected Property, 
which are more particularly described in the Baseline Report. There are 

currently no Equestrian Structures on the Protected Property. No new 
Agricultural, Equestrian or recreational Structures may be constructed on 

the Protected Property except Grantor shall have the right to: 

(1) Existing Agricultural Activities: To continue to engage in (or lease) the 
Protected Property for those existing Agricultural Activities described 

in the Baseline Report, provided such activities do not exceed the 
number of cattle, horses or other grazing animals the Protected 

Property can reasonably accommodate; 

(2) Maintain, Expand, Remove or Replace Existing Agricultural 
Structures: To maintain, expand (subject to the square footage 

limitations set forth in Section 4(J)(3) below), remove or replace at the 
same location the existing structures and facilities that are currently 
used for Agricultural operations on the Protected Property, more 

particularly described in the Baseline Report; 

(3) Construct, Maintain, and Replace Additional Agricultural, Equestrian 

or Recreational Structures: To construct, maintain and replace 
additional structures and facilities for Agricultural Activities and new 
Equestrian Structures, including stables, feed barns, run-in sheds, 

fences, riding trails, and similar structures, and structures for storage 
or support for recreation activities, provided: 

(a) Such structures and facilities, collectively, in addition to all other 
Agricultural, Equestrian, and recreational Structures on the 
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Protected Property, excluding trails and fences, shall not exceed a 
total of 5,000 square feet in footprint;  

(b) Collectively, existing or new Impervious Surfaces associated with 
Agricultural Structures shall not exceed 1,000 square feet in 

footprint; 

(c) No new Agricultural, Equestrian, or recreational Structures may 
be located within the Riparian Buffer (Section 4(G));  

(d) Grantor must provide a written plan for all new, expanded and 
replacement structures and facilities and receive Approval from 
Grantee before site preparation or construction begins, except 

Approval shall not be required for a structure that is less than 
1,000 square feet in size and is located within 100 feet of an 

existing structure more particularly described in the Baseline 
Report; and 

(e) Unless Grantee provides Approval, no new Agricultural, 

Equestrian or recreational Structures, excluding fences and gates, 
may be located on prime soils or soils of statewide importance. 

(4) New Agricultural or Equestrian Activities: To initiate additional 
Agricultural or Equestrian Activities, not existing at the time of the 
Baseline Report, subject to the terms and conditions of a conservation 

plan that meets the National Conservation Practice Standards set by 
the USDA, as well as all other local and state criteria regarding 
agricultural practices, and is prepared by the U.S. Department of 

Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, or its successor, 
or by a qualified conservation professional and Approved by Grantee. 

Such plan and all amendments to the plan shall first be Approved by 
Grantee.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Grantor shall not use any portion of the 

Protected Property for a “concentrated animal feeding operation” as defined 
by either the United States Center for Disease Control and Prevention or by 
the United States Environmental Protection Agency, as such definitions may 

be modified from time to time, including, without limitation, a feed lot 
operation or similar intensive livestock facility. 

 
K. Ponds and Wetland Impoundments.  There are currently no existing 
ponds or Impoundments on the Protected Property. No new ponds or 

Impoundments may be constructed on the Protected Property. 
 

L. Docks and Viewing Platforms. There are currently no existing docks or 
viewing platforms on the Protected Property. No new docks or viewing 
platforms may be constructed on the Protected Property. 
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M. Open Fields and Fences.  Grantor shall have the right to maintain the 
current fences on the Protected Property, which are more particularly 

described in the Baseline Report, and to add additional fencing, provided such 
additional fencing does not impair the Conservation Values of the Protected 

Property.  

Grantor shall have the right to maintain the current open fields on the 
Protected Property, which are more particularly described in the Baseline 

Report and to establish and maintain additional open field sites provided:  

(1) The total open field area shall not exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of 
the total acreage of the Protected Property;  

(2) Grantor undertakes all reasonable measures to avoid or minimize 
adverse ecological impacts during establishment of the fields;  

(3) No part of any newly-established field is located within the Riparian 
Buffer (Section 4(G)); and 

(4) Existing fields within the Riparian Buffer, may be maintained in 

accordance with Section 4(G) hereof. 
 

N. Roads, Bridges and Trails.  The existing roads, bridges, and trails on 
the Protected Property may be maintained. New roads, bridges, and trails may 
be constructed on the Protected Property subject to compliance with all of the 

following conditions:  

(1) The roads and bridges are needed in order to provide access to the 
uses or activities permitted under Section 4 (A), (I), (J) or (K) hereof;  

(2) Roads within the Riparian Buffer area, subject to Section 4(G), shall 
be limited to the smallest area necessary to provide reasonable access 

to the uses and activities permitted under Section 4(N)(1). 

(3) Grantee shall Approve a plan for the location and construction of any 
road to be located within a Riparian Buffer, subject to Section 4(G), 

before any work begins; 

(4) Grantee shall Approve a plan for the location and construction of any 
road to be built with the use of heavy equipment before any work 

begins;  

(5) Grantee shall Approve a plan for the location and construction of any 

bridge before any work begins;  

(6) All construction shall be done in accordance with applicable federal, 
state and local laws and regulations;  

(7) Trails constructed within the Riparian Buffer area described in 
Section 4(G) shall be unpaved and no wider than five (5) feet; 
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(8) Grantor shall undertake all reasonable measures to avoid or minimize 
adverse ecological impacts on the Conservation Values of the 

Protected Property; and 

(9) Roads and trails on the Protected Property shall not be paved.   

 
O. Ditches and Wells. Existing manmade ditches may be maintained or 
replaced.  New ditches may be installed for permitted uses.  Wells may be 

installed, maintained and replaced as needed. 
 
P. Motor Vehicles. Grantor shall ensure that use of tractors, all-terrain-

vehicles (ATVs), and other vehicles do not have a significant negative impact 
on the Conservation Values.  In fulfillment of the Primary Purposes, Grantee 

shall have the right to prohibit or restrict vehicular use and to require 
restoration where appropriate. 
 

Q. Participation in Certain Government Programs. For activities and uses 
that are expressly permitted by this Conservation Easement, Grantor shall 

have the right to participate in, and receive the benefits of, federal, state or 
local government programs relating to Wetlands conservation or mitigation, 
stream bank mitigation, carbon offsets or sequestration, greenhouse gas 

credits, plant and wildlife habitat enhancement, or other natural resource 
credits or initiatives. 
 

R. No Transferable Rights.  Neither the Protected Property nor any portion 
of it shall be included as part of the gross area of other property not subject 

to this Conservation Easement for the purpose of determining density, lot 
coverage, or open space requirements under otherwise applicable laws, 
regulations or ordinances controlling land use and building density.  No 

development rights that have been encumbered or extinguished by this 
Conservation Easement may be transferred to any other lands pursuant to a 
transferable development rights program, clustered development 

arrangement or otherwise; provided, however, that with the Approval of 
Grantee, this Section 4(R) shall not preclude such transfer of development 

rights resulting from the destruction or demolition of any permitted 
residential building on the Protected Property.   
 

S. Archaeological Artifacts and Features.  Prior to disturbing 
archaeological features or commencing any archaeological digs on the 

Protected Property, Grantor shall give at least thirty (30) days prior written 
notice to Grantee of such activities. Any archaeological site shall, upon 
completion of any disturbance or excavation, be returned to, or as close as 

possible to, its previous state, unless the site is to be maintained in an 
excavated condition for interpretive purposes related to education.  
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T. No Other Disturbances.  On the Protected Property, except as may be 
reasonably required in connection with any of the uses and activities 

expressly permitted by this Conservation Easement and except for the 
installation, use and maintenance of erosion control measures in full 

compliance with applicable laws and regulations, there shall be no filling, 
excavating, dredging, draining, diking, mining (on or below the surface) or 
drilling; no removal of topsoil, sand, gravel, rock, minerals or other materials; 

no dumping of trash, garbage, or any other material; and no alteration of the 
topography of the land in any manner.   
 

U. Other Uses and Activities.  Any use of the Protected Property and any 
activity thereon that contravenes the Primary Purposes of this Conservation 

Easement is prohibited. 
 
5. Rights of Grantee.  Grantor hereby conveys the following rights to the 

Grantee: 
 

A. Right of Visual Access.  To have visual access to the Protected Property 
for the purposes of monitoring and enforcement of this Conservation 
Easement, provided that such right shall not be construed to permit general 

public access over or upon the Protected Property. 
 
B. Right of Inspection.  Grantee and its agents, contractors and 

representatives shall have the right, in a reasonable manner and at 
reasonable times, to enter the Protected Property for the purpose of inspecting 

it to determine compliance with the provisions of this Conservation Easement.  
Grantee shall not inspect the Protected Property more than two times per year 
unless Grantee is invited to do so by Grantor or unless Grantee determines, 

or has reason to believe, that a violation of this Conservation Easement has 
occurred, could occur, or is occurring. In such events, Grantee shall have the 
right to enter upon the Protected Property without notice.  

 
C. Right to Prevent Inconsistent Uses.  To prevent Grantor and / or third 

parties from conducting any activity or use inconsistent with the Primary 
Purposes and terms of this Conservation Easement. 
 

D. Right to Require Restoration.  To require Grantor and/or third parties 
to restore such Conservation Values that may be damaged by any uses or 

activities prohibited by, or inconsistent with the Primary Purposes of, this 
Conservation Easement. 
 

E. Right of Approval; Constructive Denial.  For activities or uses that are 
expressly permitted by the terms of this Conservation Easement subject to 
Grantee’s Approval, the Grantor’s request for Approval shall be in writing and 

shall describe the nature, scope, design, location, timetable, and any other 
material aspect of the proposed activity or use in sufficient detail to permit 
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the Grantee to make an informed determination regarding Approval or denial 
of the request. Such a request shall be delivered to the Grantee at least sixty 

(60) days prior to the anticipated start date of such activity or use. The 
Grantee agrees to use reasonable diligence to respond in writing to such a 

request within sixty (60) days of delivery of said request. Unless otherwise 
specified, Approval or denial shall be subject to Grantee’s sole discretion but 
shall not be unreasonably withheld and shall be based on whether the activity 

or use is consistent with the Primary Purposes of this Conservation 
Easement.  Approval for an activity or use may be granted with conditions. 
The Grantee’s failure to respond to such a request within the sixty (60) day 

period shall be deemed a constructive denial of the request for Approval. 
Because a constructive denial is not a decision by the Grantee based on the 

merits of the Grantor’s request, it is not final or binding on the Grantee and 
the Grantor can resubmit the same or similar request for Approval. 
 

F. Right of Discretionary Consent.  If, owing to unforeseen circumstances, 
any of the uses or activities prohibited under this Conservation Easement are 

deemed by both Grantor and Grantee to be necessary to maintain or enhance 
the Conservation Values, Grantee may, in its sole discretion, give permission 
for such activities for a specified period of time, subject to such limitations as 

it deems necessary or desirable, and provided that: 

(1) The activities will not affect the qualification of this Conservation 
Easement as a “qualified conservation easement” under any applicable 

laws, including §§170(h) and 2031(c) of the Code or any provision of the 
S.C. Conservation Easement Act; 

(2) The activities will not adversely affect the tax exempt status of Grantee 
under any applicable laws, including §501(c)(3) of the Code and 
Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder;  

(3) The activities will not adversely affect the Conservation Values of the 
Protected Property; 

(4) Neither the Grantee nor Grantor shall have the right or power to agree 

to any uses or activities that would result in the termination of this 
Conservation Easement; and 

(5) Grantee reserves the right to deny a request by Grantor for 
discretionary consent without liability. 

Discretionary consent pursuant to this provision is distinct from Grantee 

Approval, where such may be required herein, and from amendment 
pursuant to Section 19 of this Conservation Easement. 

 
6. Notice of Third Party Activities.  Grantor shall keep Grantee reasonably 
informed as to activities being conducted on the Protected Property which are 

within the scope of this Conservation Easement and as to the identity of any 
third parties who are conducting or managing such activities (for example 
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agricultural leasing). Grantor shall ensure that all third parties who are 
conducting activities relating to the Conservation Values and/or the permitted 

uses of the Protected Property are fully and properly informed as to the 
restrictions and covenants contained within this Conservation Easement which 

relate to such uses, including without limitation, the provisions of this Section 6 
and Sections 1 through 5. 
 

7. Representation of Title.  Grantor represents and warrants that they own 
valid, fee simple absolute title to the Protected Property and has the right to grant 
and convey this Conservation Easement and that the Protected Property is free 

and clear of any and all encumbrances, except easements of record, prescriptive 
easements, and mortgages or liens that have been subordinated to this 

Conservation Easement. 
 

8. Additional Representations and Warranties. Grantor further represents 

and warrants the following: 
 

A. Hazardous or Harmful Substances. No substance defined, listed or 
otherwise classified pursuant to any federal, state, or local law, regulation, 
or requirement as hazardous, toxic, polluting, or otherwise contaminating 

to the air, water, or soil, or in any way harmful or threatening to human 
health or the environment exists or has been released, generated, treated, 
stored, used, disposed of, deposited, abandoned, or transported in, on, 

from or across the Protected Property in a manner not in compliance with 
applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and requirements 

except as disclosed in writing by Grantee to Grantor. 
 
B. Underground Storage Tanks. There is currently one (1) 300 gallon 

propane tank buried underground at the main house. Otherwise, there are 
not any other underground storage tanks located on the Protected 
Property, whether presently in service or closed, abandoned, or 

decommissioned, and no underground storage tanks have been removed 
from the Protected Property in a manner not in compliance with applicable 

federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and requirements.   
 
C. Compliance with Laws and Regulations. Grantor and the Protected 

Property are in compliance with all federal, state, and local laws, 
regulations, and requirements applicable to the Protected Property and its 

use. 
 
D. Litigation. There is no pending or threatened litigation in any way 

affecting, involving, or relating to the Protected Property. 
 
E. Proceedings or Investigations. No civil or criminal proceedings or 

investigations have been instigated at any time or are now pending, and 
no notices, claims, demands, or orders have been received, arising out of 
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any violation or alleged violation of or failure to comply with any federal, 
state, or local law, regulation, or requirement applicable to the Protected 

Property or its use, nor do there exist any facts or circumstances that 
Grantor might reasonably expect to form the basis for any such 

proceedings, investigations, notices, claims, demands, or orders. 
 
F. Mineral Rights. There are no outstanding surface or subsurface mineral 

rights associated with the Protected Property. 
  
9. Grantee’s Remedies. If Grantee determines that a violation of this 

Conservation Easement has occurred, is occurring or is threatened, Grantee 
shall give written notice to Grantor of such violation and demand corrective 

action to cease or cure the violation and where such violation involves injury to 
the Protected Property resulting from any use or activity inconsistent with the 
purposes of this Conservation Easement, to restore the Protected Property so 

injured.  If Grantor fails to cease or cure the violation within thirty (30) days after 
receipt of Grantee’s notice or, if the circumstances are such that the violation 

cannot be cured within the thirty (30) day period, Grantor does not begin curing 
such violation within the thirty (30) day period, or if Grantor fails to continue 
diligently to cure the violation until finally cured, Grantee may bring an action 

at law or in equity in a court of competent jurisdiction to enforce the terms of 
this Conservation Easement.  In such action, Grantee may seek a temporary or 
permanent injunction, damages for violation of this Conservation Easement, 

including damages for the loss of the Conservation Values of the Protected 
Property, and an order requiring Grantor to restore the Protected Property to the 

condition that existed at the time of this grant. 

If Grantee, in its sole discretion, determines that a violation of this Conservation 
Easement has occurred, is occurring, or is threatened, and that circumstances 

require immediate action to prevent or mitigate significant damage to the 
Conservation Values of the Protected Property, Grantee may pursue its remedies 
under this Section 9 without prior notice to Grantor and without waiting for the 

thirty (30) day period provided for cure to expire.   

Grantor agrees that Grantee’s remedies for violation of this Conservation 

Easement are inadequate and that Grantee shall be entitled to the injunctive 
relief described in this Section 9, both prohibitive and mandatory, in addition to 
such other relief to which Grantee may be entitled, including specific 

performance of this Conservation Easement, without the necessity of proving 
either actual damages or the inadequacy of otherwise available legal remedies.  

Grantee’s remedies described in this Section shall be cumulative and shall be in 
addition to all remedies now or hereafter existing at law or in equity.  

In the event there has been a dispute, or an event or circumstance of non-

compliance which is corrected through negotiation and voluntary compliance, 
but which has caused Grantee to incur extraordinary costs or fees, including 
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without limitation staff time, in investigating the dispute, or an event or 
circumstance of non-compliance and securing a resolution, Grantor shall, at 

Grantee’s request, reimburse Grantee for all such costs and fees incurred in 
such actions. 

All reasonable fees and costs incurred by Grantee in administration including, 
without limitation, investigation, negotiation, mediation, settlement or suit of 
any dispute regarding this Conservation Easement, including without 

limitation, all fees, costs and expenses of investigation, dispute management, 
negotiation, mediation, settlement or suit and reasonable attorneys, experts 
and consultants fees, staff time and any fees and costs of restoration, 

remediation or other damage correction necessitated by any such action shall 
be borne by Grantor; provided, however, that if Grantor ultimately prevails in 

full in a judicial enforcement action, each party shall bear its own costs. If 
Grantee prevails in part, then Grantor shall be responsible for all fees and 
costs of both parties as set forth above. 

Enforcement of this Conservation Easement shall be at the discretion of Grantee, 
and any forbearance by Grantee to exercise its rights hereunder in the event of 

any breach of any provision hereof by Grantor shall not be deemed or construed 
to be a waiver by Grantee of such provision or of any subsequent breach of the 
same or any other provision of this Conservation Easement or of any of Grantee’s 

rights hereunder.   No delay or omission by Grantee in the exercise of any right 
or remedy upon any breach by Grantor shall impair such right or remedy or be 
construed as a waiver. No third party shall have any right to enforce any 

provision of this Conservation Easement. 

Nothing herein shall be construed to entitle Grantee to bring any action against 

Grantor for any injury to or change in the Protected Property resulting from 
causes beyond Grantor’s reasonable control, including, without limitation, fire, 
floods, storms or unauthorized wrongful acts of third persons.  Notwithstanding 

the foregoing, Grantor and Grantee fully reserve their respective rights to pursue 
a claim or action against a third party for damages to the Protected Property 
caused by trespass, nuisance, vandalism and other activities.   

 
10.     Costs and Liabilities. Grantor retains all responsibilities and shall bear 

all costs and liabilities of any kind relating to the ownership, operation, upkeep, 
and maintenance of the Protected Property, including maintenance of adequate 
comprehensive general liability insurance coverage.  Grantor shall keep the 

Protected Property free of any liens arising out of any work performed for, 
materials furnished to, or obligations incurred by Grantor. 

 
11.  Remediation. If at any time there occurs, or has occurred, a release in, 
on or about the Protected Property of any substance now or hereafter defined, 

listed or otherwise classified pursuant to any federal, state, or local law, 
regulation, or requirement as hazardous, toxic, polluting, or otherwise 
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contaminating to the air, water, or soil, or in any way harmful or threatening to 
human health or the environment, in a manner not in compliance with 

applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and requirements, Grantor 
agrees to take all steps necessary to assure the containment and remediation of 

such release, including any cleanup that may be required.   
  
12. Taxes. Grantor shall pay before delinquency all taxes, assessments, fees, 

and charges of whatever description levied on or assessed against the Protected 
Property by competent authority.  In the event Grantor fails to pay property taxes 
on time, Grantee shall have the right, but not the obligation, to pay such taxes 

and to receive from Grantor an immediate reimbursement of the amount of its 
payment and if such reimbursement is not made, to file a lien against the 

Protected Property, which lien shall be subordinate to this Conservation 
Easement.  Any such lien may be enforced and/or foreclosed in accordance with 
the laws of the State of South Carolina.   

 
13. Subsequent Liens. No provision of this Conservation Easement should be 

construed as impairing the ability of Grantor to use the Protected Property as 
collateral for subsequent borrowing. Any mortgage or lien arising from such a 
borrowing shall be subject and subordinate to this Conservation Easement.   

 
14. Hold Harmless. Grantor agrees to release, hold harmless, defend and 
indemnify the Grantee and its members, officers, directors, employees, agents 

and contractors and their respective heirs, successors and assigns (the 
“Indemnified Parties”) from and against any and all liabilities including, but not 

limited to, injury, losses, damages, judgments, penalties costs, expenses and 
fees (including reasonable attorney’s fees), causes of action, claims, demands or 
judgments arising from or in any way connected to any injury, including death, 

to any person or physical damage to any part of the Protected Property, resulting 
from any act, omission, condition, or other matter related to or occurring on or 
about the Protected Property, regardless of cause, unless due to the gross 

negligence or willful act of any of the Indemnified Parties. 
 

15. Condemnation.  If all or any part of the Protected Property is taken 
through the exercise or threat of exercise, of eminent domain, Grantor and 
Grantee shall each take appropriate actions at the time of such taking to recover 

the full value of the taking and all direct and incidental damages resulting from 
the taking.  The amount of the proceeds to which Grantee shall be entitled from 

the condemnation or involuntary conversion of all or any portion of the Protected 
Property shall be determined in accordance with Section 21, Determination of 
Proceeds, of this Conservation Easement.  Grantee shall use all proceeds that it 

receives in a manner consistent with the Primary Purposes of this Conservation 
Easement.  

 

16.  Assignment. This Conservation Easement is assignable, but Grantee may 
assign its rights and obligations under this Conservation Easement only to an 
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organization which is a qualified organization at the time of transfer under 
Section 170(h) of the Internal Revenue Code, as amended (or any successor 

provision then applicable), and the applicable regulations promulgated 
thereunder, and which is authorized to acquire and hold conservation easements 

under South Carolina law.  An express condition of such assignment is that the 
assignee organization shall have the commitment, ability and resources to meet 
its responsibilities and obligations under this Conservation Easement and to 

take the necessary steps to protect the Conservation Values of the Protected 
Property. 

If Grantee shall cease to exist or to be a qualified organization under Section 

170(h) of the Internal Revenue Code, or if Grantee is unable or unwilling to carry 
out its obligations under this Conservation Easement, then The Nature 

Conservancy shall have the first option to serve as holder of this Conservation 
Easement.  If The Nature Conservancy is not qualified or declines to serve as 
holder, then the rights and obligations under this Conservation Easement shall 

vest in such other qualified organization as a court of competent jurisdiction 
shall direct pursuant to applicable law.    

 
17.  Notice of Subsequent Transfers. Grantor agrees to incorporate the 
provisions of this Conservation Easement in any deed or other legal instrument 

by which Grantor divests themselves of any interest in all or a portion of the 
Protected Property, including, without limitation, a leasehold interest.  Grantor 
further agrees to give written notice to Grantee of the transfer of any 

interest at least twenty (20) days prior to the date thereof.  The failure of 
Grantor to perform any act required by this Section shall not impair the validity 

of this Conservation Easement or limit its enforceability in any way. 
 
18.  Transfer Fee.  There shall be assessed by Grantee a transfer fee equal to 

one percent of the sales price or other consideration paid in connection with the 
sale or transfer of any interest in the Protected Property, directly or indirectly 
(including the transfer of shares, membership, or other ownership interests in a 

corporation, limited liability company, partnerships or other entity which owns 
the Protected Property), other than condemnation or the sale of timber or timber 

rights, which transfer fee shall be paid to Grantee at the time of the sale or 
transfer.  This sum shall be placed in Grantee’s stewardship fund, or such 
similarly named successor fund, to support Grantee’s efforts to uphold its duties 

and responsibilities under this Conservation Easement as well as on Grantee’s 
other protected properties.      

Grantee may require Grantor and/or any subsequent purchaser to provide 
reasonable written proof of the applicable sales price, such as closing 
statements, contracts of sale, copies of deeds and other such relevant evidence.   

In the event of non-payment of such transfer fee, Grantee shall have the right to 
file a lien for such unpaid transfer fee which shall be a lien on the Protected 
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Property but which lien shall be subordinate to this Conservation Easement.  
Any such lien may be enforced and/or foreclosed in accordance with the laws of 

the State of South Carolina.  

Any transfer subsequent to the conveyance of this Conservation Easement: a) 

without consideration, b) to a spouse, a lineal descendant, a spouse of a lineal 
descendent of Grantor (collectively, “Immediate Family Members”), c) to an entity 
at least 50% of the equity interest of which is owned by Grantor or owners of 

corporate grantor or an Immediate Family Member, d) to a trust whose 
presumptive beneficiaries are Grantor or an Immediate Family Member, or e) to 
a charitable organization which is tax exempt under 501(c)(3), shall be exempt 

from the assessment of such transfer fee. If Grantor is a corporation, limited 
liability company, partnerships or other entity, it shall notify Grantee upon 

transfer of shares, membership, or other ownership interests in Grantor.   

An exchange of properties pursuant to Section 1031 of the Internal Revenue 
Code, or similar statute, shall be deemed to be for consideration based on the 

market value of the property received at the time of such transfer.  Market value 
shall be determined by agreement of Grantor and Grantee, or in the absence of 

such agreement by an MAI appraiser selected by Grantee, whose appraisal fee 
shall be paid by Grantee.   
 

19. Limitations on Amendment.  If Grantor desires to add real property 
subject to the restrictions set forth in this Conservation Easement to the 
Protected Property or enhance the Conservation Values of the Protected 

Property, Grantor and Grantee may amend this Conservation Easement by a 
mutually acceptable written agreement, provided that the amendment:    

A. Does not affect this Conservation Easement’s perpetual duration; 

B. Does not permit development, improvements or uses prohibited by this 
Conservation Easement; 

C. Does not conflict with or be contrary to or inconsistent with the 
Conservation Purposes of this Conservation Easement;  

D. Does not reduce the protection of the Conservation Values of the Protected 

Property;  

E. Does not affect the qualification of this Conservation Easement as a 

“qualified conservation contribution” under Section 170(h)(1) of the Code;  

F. Does not affect the status of Grantee as a “qualified organization” under 
Section 170(h)(3) of the Code; and 

G. Does not create an impermissible private benefit or private inurement in 
violation of federal tax law.   

No amendment shall be effective unless documented in a notarized writing 
executed by Grantor and Grantee and recorded in the appropriate public office 
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of the county or counties in which the Protected Property is located.  Nothing in 
this Section 19 shall be construed as requiring Grantor or Grantee to enter into 

any discussions or negotiations regarding any amendment of this Conservation 
Easement or to agree to any such amendment.   

 
20. Extinguishment.  Grantor and Grantee agree that, if a subsequent 
unexpected change in the conditions surrounding the property that is the 

subject of a donation of the perpetual conservation restriction renders impossible 
or impractical the continued use of the property for conservation purposes, the 
conservation purpose can nonetheless be treated as protected in perpetuity if (1) 

the restrictions are extinguished by judicial proceeding and (2) all of Grantee’s 
portion of the proceeds (as determined in Section 21, Determination of Proceeds) 

from a subsequent sale or exchange of the property are used by the Grantee in 
a manner consistent with the conservation purposes of the original contribution.   
 

The fact that any use of the Protected Property that is expressly prohibited by 
this Conservation Easement, or any other use that is inconsistent with the 

Primary Purposes of this Conservation Easement, as set forth in Section 2, may 
become more economically valuable than permitted uses, or that neighboring 
properties may in the future be put to uses that are not permitted hereunder, 

has been fully and carefully considered by Grantor in granting this Conservation 
Easement.  It is the intent of both Grantor and Grantee that any such changes 
shall not constitute circumstances justifying the termination or extinguishment 

of this Conservation Easement pursuant to this Section 20.  In addition, the 
inability or difficulty of carrying on any or all of the permitted uses, or the 

unprofitability of doing so, shall not impair the validity or enforceability of this 
Conservation Easement or be considered grounds for its termination or 
extinguishment pursuant to this Section 20. 

 
21.  Determination of Proceeds.  Grantor and Grantee agree that the donation 
of the perpetual conservation restriction gives rise to a property right, 

immediately vested in Grantee, with a fair market value that is at least equal to 
the proportionate value that the perpetual conservation restriction, at the time 

of the gift, bears to the fair market value of the property as a whole at that time.  
The proportionate value of Grantee’s property rights remains constant such that 
if a subsequent sale, exchange, or involuntary conversion of the subject property 

occurs, Grantee is entitled to a portion of the proceeds at least equal to that 
proportionate value of the perpetual conservation restriction. 

 
22. Notice.  Any notice, demand, request, consent, Approval, or 
communication that either party desires or is required to give to the other party 

shall be in writing and either served personally or sent by first class mail, postage 
prepaid, addressed as follows: 
  

To Grantor:  April E. Childress and Joseph L. Tinsley 
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    286 Red Mountain Rd. 
    Mountain Rest, SC 29664 

 
To Grantee:  Scott Park (or successor) 

   Land Conservation Director 
   Upstate Forever 
   507 Pettigru Street 

   Greenville, South Carolina 29601 
 
Grantor and Grantee may designate additional or different persons and/or 

addresses by written notice either served personally or sent by first class mail, 
postage prepaid. 

  
23.   Severability.  If any provision of this Conservation Easement is 
determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be void and unenforceable, 

all remaining terms shall remain valid and binding. 
 

24.    Captions.  The captions in this Conservation Easement have been inserted 
solely for convenience of reference and are not a part of this Conservation 
Easement and shall have no effect upon its enforcement, construction or 

interpretation. 
 
25.   Incorporation of Recitals and Exhibits.  The introductory paragraphs, 

or recitals, and the Exhibits identified in this Conservation Easement are 
incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof. 

 
26.   Recordation.  This instrument shall be recorded in a timely fashion in the 
Office of the Register of Deeds for Oconee County, South Carolina, and may be 

re-recorded by Grantee at any time as may be required to preserve its rights in 
this Conservation Easement. 
 

27. Controlling Law.  The interpretation and performance of this 
Conservation Easement shall be governed by the laws of South Carolina. 

 
28. Liberal Construction.  Any general rule of construction to the contrary 
notwithstanding, this Conservation Easement shall be liberally construed in 

favor of the Primary Purposes.  If any provision in this instrument is found to be 
ambiguous, an interpretation consistent with the Primary Purposes that would 

render the provision valid should be favored over any interpretation that would 
render it invalid. 
 

29.  Counterparts.  The parties may execute this Conservation Easement in two 
or more counterparts, which shall, in the aggregate, be signed by all parties; 
each counterpart shall be deemed an original instrument as against any party 

who has signed.  In the event of any disparity between the counterparts 
produced, the recorded counterpart shall be controlling.   
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30. Binding Effect.   The burdens of this Conservation Easement shall run 

with the Protected Property in perpetuity and shall be enforceable against 
Grantor and their heirs, successors and assigns and all future owners of the 

Protected Property and all persons or entities having any interest therein, in 
perpetuity. The benefits of this Conservation Easement shall inure to Grantee 
and its successors and assigns in perpetuity. 

 
 
 

{Signature pages follow} 
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SIGNATURE PAGE FOR CONSERVATION EASEMENT 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor has set their hands to this Easement as 

of this ___ day of __________, 20___.” 
 
 

GRANTOR:      WITNESSES: 
 

   

             
APRIL E. CHILDRESS 

 
 

             

JOSEPH L. TINSLEY 
 

 
 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 

     )  ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
COUNTY OF _______________ ) 
  

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged this ____ day of ________, 

202___ before me the undersigned Notary, and I do hereby certify that the above 
named Grantor(s) personally appeared before me and acknowledged the due 
execution of the foregoing instrument. 

 
 

     

 ___________________________________________  
  (Signature of Notary) 

 
Notary Public for the State of South Carolina  
 

My commission expires: _______________ 
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SIGNATURE PAGE FOR CONSERVATION EASEMENT 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantee has caused the execution of this 
Easement as of the day and year first above written. 

 
 

GRANTEE:      WITNESSES: 

Upstate Forever  
     
 

By: __________________________         
Scott Park 

Land Conservation Director         
             

 
 

 
 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 

     )  ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
COUNTY OF _______________ ) 
   

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged this ____ day of ________, 

202___ before me the undersigned Notary, and I do hereby certify that the above 
named duly authorized representative of the Grantee personally appeared before 
me and acknowledged the due execution of the foregoing instrument. 

 
 

     
 ___________________________________________  

  (Signature of Notary) 

 
Notary Public for the State of South Carolina  
 

My commission expires: _______________ 
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EXHIBIT 1 
 

Legal Description of Property 
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EXHIBIT 2 
 

Residential and Agricultural Pin Locations and Building Envelope Areas 
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EXHIBIT 3 
 

Plat of Survey 
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Fall Creek Headwaters 

286 Red Mountain Road 
Mountain Rest, Oconee County, SC, 29664 
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January 31, 2024 
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Mr. Joseph Tinsley and Ms. April Childress 

Oconee County Conservation Bank, Upstate Forever, and the South Carolina Conservation 
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Easley, SC 29642 
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Batson Company, Inc. 

2811 Brushy Creek Road 
Easley, South Carolina, 29642  

 
Office (864) 307-8282 

 
www.batsonval.com 

 

March 12, 2024 
 
Mr. Joseph Tinsley and Ms. April Childress 
286 Red Mountain Road 
Mountain Rest, SC 29664 
And the Oconee County Conservation Bank, Upstate Forever, and the South Carolina 
Conservation Bank 

Re: Appraisal Report  
Fall Creek Headwaters 
286 Red Mountain Road, Mountain Rest,  
Oconee County, SC, 29664 
Batson Company Inc. File No.: 24-041 

Dear Mr. Tinsley and Ms. Childress: 

At your request, we are pleased to present the attached Appraisal Report. The following report 
sets forth my opinions of market value along with supporting data and the reasoning which 
forms the basis of the opinions. 

We appraise the subject property “as is” and “as encumbered” by a conservation easement in 
Fee Simple interest. The subject is three adjoining tax map parcels owned by Joseph Tinsley 
& April Childress; located along Red Mountain Road near the Mountain Rest community in 
Oconee County, South Carolina. The site contains a total of 108.25 acres, which is comprised 
of mostly mixed hardwood and pine stands. The site is improved with two single-family 
residences, storage shed, outhouse, and solar arrays, with a street address of 286 Red 
Mountain Road. The site is more fully described in the attached appraisal report.   
 
The entire tract of 108.25 acres is to be encumbered by a voluntary, perpetual conservation 
easement to Upstate Forever, et al in 2024. The draft conservation easement deed is included 
in the addenda of this report. After the conservation easement, there are no unencumbered 
remainders of the larger parcel, but the owner retains limited property rights in the 
encumbered areas as explained in the appraisal report. The values reported in this appraisal 
include the “as is” or before the conservation easement, and “as encumbered” by the 
conservation easement in Fee Simple interest.



Fall Creek Headwaters, 
Mountain Rest, SC 
March 12, 2024  
 
The difference in the two values is the value of the easement to be placed on the property as 
of January 31, 2024.  This value is further defined as the estimated fair market value of the non-
cash charitable donation, subject to the Declaration of Restrictions and Covenants, by the 
property owner. The purpose of this appraisal is for income tax purposes as further defined in 
the appraisal. We understand that Upstate Forever, Oconee County Conservation Bank, and 
the SC Conservation Bank are additional intended users; the appraisal is to be used for 
documentation.  
 
The Sales Comparison Approach to market value is considered the only applicable approach 
and was completed within the report.  The Cost Approach and the Income Approach were not 
considered applicable and were not completed. The entire report, including all assumptions 
and limiting conditions contained in the Addendum, are inseparable from this letter.  The data 
and analysis that formulated the value conclusions are incorporated in the report following this 
letter.     
 
The final appraisal may be used by the landowners and the receiving land trust for income tax 
and disclosure purposes. The entire report, including all assumptions and limiting conditions 
contained in the Addendum, are inseparable from this letter. The data and analysis that 
formulated the value conclusion are incorporated in the report following this letter.    
 
For this report, we make the following hypothetical conditions, and also include the following 
extraordinary assumptions. 

 The landowner has made representations to us that there are no other properties 
owned by the donor in the immediate vicinity of this conservation easement that could 
potentially benefit from the donation of a conservation easement. We exclude other 
parcels under the ownership of the donor or other family members that may be 
proximate or contiguous from the appraisal, as we believe there is no impact on their 
value.  This is a hypothetical condition of the appraisal.  

 For purposes of analysis, we assume that the dates of value as encumbered and 
unencumbered by the easement are similar.  This is a hypothetical condition of the 
appraisal.  

 No separate timber value is reported, and the standing timber on the site, if any, is 
implicitly included in the valuation given the larger parcel's highest and best use. This 
is an extraordinary assumption.  

 
The report has been prepared for, and the professional fee billed to Client.  It is intended for 
use by your internal management and may not be relied upon by other third-party entities 
without our written permission.   
 
  



Fall Creek Headwaters, 
Mountain Rest, SC 
March 12, 2024  
 
Based on our investigation and analysis, and subject to the attached assumptions and limiting 
conditions, we have formed the following value conclusion: 
 

Property Appraisal Premise Interest Effective Date Market Value

Fall Creek Headwaters Before the Easement Fee Simple January 31, 2024 $650,000

Fall Creek Headwaters After the Easement Fee Simple January 31, 2024 $260,000

Fall Creek Headwaters
Conservation Easement 

Fair Market Value Fee Simple January 31, 2024 $390,000

Final Opinion of Market Value

 
The analyses, opinions, and conclusions developed and presented in this report have been 
prepared to conform with our interpretation of the requirements and recommendations 
established in the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP), the Code of 
Professional Ethics and Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute, 
the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act of 1989 (FIRREA), and Title XI 
Regulations.  
 
If there are any questions concerning the report or if we can be of further service, please feel 
free to contact me.  
 
Best regards,  
 

      
A. Keith Batson, MAI     Grant  Turner 
SC Certified General Real Estate Appraiser   SC Apprentice Appraiser 
Certificate No. CG1627     Certificate No. 7883 
Expires 6/30/24      Expires 6/30/24 
 
    



FALL CREEK HEADWATERS, MOUNTAIN REST, SC  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

File No. 24-041 Batson Company, Inc. 5 
 

Executive Summary 
Subject Property Information 
  Property Type Conservation Easement 
  Address 286 Red Mountain Road, Mountain Rest, SC 

29664 
  Tax Identification Numbers 
  Owner 

102-00-01-013, 102-00-01-005, & 102-00-01-
029 
Joseph Tinsley & April Childress 

  Date of Inspection January 31, 2024 
Site Summary 
  Total Land Size 108.25 acres or 4,715,370 SF 
  Zoning CFD 
  Flood Zone X, 45073C0155C, September 11, 2009 
Highest and Best Use  
  As Vacant single-family 

 

Property Appraisal Premise Interest Effective Date Market Value

Fall Creek Headwaters Before the Easement Fee Simple January 31, 2024 $650,000

Fall Creek Headwaters After the Easement Fee Simple January 31, 2024 $260,000

Fall Creek Headwaters
Conservation Easement 

Fair Market Value Fee Simple January 31, 2024 $390,000

Final Opinion of Market Value

 
For this report, we make the following hypothetical conditions, and also include the following 
extraordinary assumptions. 

 The landowner has made representations to us that there are no other properties 
owned by the donor in the immediate vicinity of this conservation easement that could 
potentially benefit from the donation of a conservation easement. We exclude other 
parcels under the ownership of the donor or other family members that may be 
proximate or contiguous from the appraisal, as we believe there is no impact on their 
value.  This is a hypothetical condition of the appraisal.  

 For purposes of analysis, we assume that the dates of value as encumbered and 
unencumbered by the easement are similar.  This is a hypothetical condition of the 
appraisal.  

 No separate timber value is reported, and the standing timber on the site, if any, is 
implicitly included in the valuation given the larger parcel's highest and best use. This 
is an extraordinary assumption.  

 The land area/size of the larger parcel is based on the conservation easement and prior 
legal description. If the final conservation easement area differs significantly than as 
represented, we reserve the right to amend the appraisal accordingly. This is an 
extraordinary assumption.  
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Certification Statement 
We certify to the best of our knowledge and belief: 

1. The statements of facts contained in this report are true and correct to the best of our 
knowledge.  

2. The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported 
assumptions and limiting conditions and is our personal, impartial and unbiased 
professional analyses, opinions, and conclusions. 

3. We have no present or prospective interest in or bias with respect to the property that 
is the subject of this report and have no personal interest in or bias with respect to the 
parties involved. 

4. We have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the 
parties involved in the assignment.  

5. Our engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting 
predetermined results. 

6. Our compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the 
development of reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the 
cause of the client, the amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, 
or the occurrence of a subsequent event directly related to the intended use of this 
appraisal. 

7. A. Keith Batson, MAI and Grant Turner made a personal inspection of the subject 
property. 

8. No one provided professional real estate appraisal assistance to the person(s) signing 
this report.  

9. Although several market participants may be contacted as a part of our routine market 
research investigation, absolute client confidentiality and privacy are maintained at all 
times with regard to this assignment without conflict of interest. 

10. The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has 
been prepared, in conformity with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal 
Practice of the Appraisal Foundation and the requirements of the Code of Professional 
Ethics and the Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute.   

11. The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating 
to review by its duly authorized representatives.  

12. We have performed no prior professional or appraisal services on the subject property. 
We have no present or prospective interest in this property, or the parties involved.  

13. A. Keith Batson, MAI has completed the requirements of the continuing education 
program for Designated Members of the Appraisal Institute. 

      
A. Keith Batson, MAI     Grant  Turner 
SC Certified General Real Estate Appraiser   SC Apprentice Appraiser 
Certificate No. CG1627     Certificate No. 7883 
Expires 6/30/24      Expires 6/30/24 



 

 



DAVIS ANGELA & BOBBY
256 RED MTN RD
MOUNTAIN REST, SC 29664

HESTER ALLEN LAWRENCE
1000 3RD ST 6C
NEPTUNE BEACH, FL 32266

TINSLEY JOSEPH L & CHILDRESS APRI
286 RED MOUNTAIN RD
MOUNTAIN REST, SC 29664

TINSLEY JOSEPH L & CHILDRESS APRI
286 RED MTN RD
MOUNTAIN REST, SC 29664

TUPKER WILLEM E & LOUISE M J
PO BOX 279
LONG CREEK, SC 29658

WILBANKS LARRY GENE
770 CHATTOOGA RIDGE RD
MOUNTAIN REST, SC 29664



CLAY WILLIAM C
125 APPLE ORCHARD RD
MOUNTAIN REST, SC 29664

HESTER ALLEN LAWRENCE
1000 3RD ST 6C
NEPTUNE BEACH, FL 32266

KEIGAN DAVID
1826 ED PRATCHER RD
COMO, MS 38619

MCWHIRT STEVEN M & SARAH D
151 MOUNTAIN COVE RD
MOUNTAIN REST, SC 29664

STEPHENS STEPHEN L & TERESA A
283 RED MOUNTAIN RD
MOUNTAIN REST, SC 29664

TINSLEY JOSEPH L & CHILDRESS APRI
286 RED MTN RD
MOUNTAIN REST, SC 29664

U S A, % DEPT OF AGRICULTURE
1371 PEACHTREE NE #600
ATLANTA, GA 30319

  



HESTER ALLEN LAWRENCE
1000 3RD ST 6C
NEPTUNE BEACH, FL 32266

TINSLEY JOSEPH L & CHILDRESS APRI
286 RED MOUNTAIN RD
MOUNTAIN REST, SC 29664

TINSLEY JOSEPH L & CHILDRESS APRI
286 RED MTN RD
MOUNTAIN REST, SC 29664

U S A, % DEPT OF AGRICULTURE
1371 PEACHTREE NE #600
ATLANTA, GA 30319

WILBANKS LARRY GENE
770 CHATTOOGA RIDGE RD
MOUNTAIN REST, SC 29664

 



Total With 
Restrictions

Total Without 
Restrictions Total 2024 Budget

Funding Sources
Contributions Income 10,000                             500,000                  510,000                          
Campaign Income 360,000                           562,267                  922,267                          
Grants 444,725                           20,000                    464,725                          
Program Fees 50,000                             4,000                      54,000                            
Total Revenue 864,725                           1,086,267              1,950,992                      
LT Endowment Transfer In 70,000                             -                          70,000                            
Endowment Transfer In 80,000                             80,000                            
Campaign Cash Carryforward 67,122                             520,982                  588,104                          
Total Funds Available 1,081,847                        1,607,249              2,689,096                      
Expenses
Payroll Costs

Salaries 840,041                           1,086,930              1,926,971                      
Employee Benefits 54,603                             70,650                    125,253                          
Payroll Tax Expense 63,003                             81,520                    144,523                          
Payroll Service -                                    5,000                      5,000                              

Total Payroll 957,647                           1,244,100              2,201,747                      
Allocation of Overhead 134,407                           173,909                  308,315                          
Allocation Trsfd Out -                                    (308,315)                (308,315)                        
Conservation Easements 45,000                             -                          45,000                            
Consultants 62,640                             160,000                  222,640                          
Computer Assistance & Support 17,000                             36,500                    53,500                            
Hardware & Software 12,180                             35,100                    47,280                            
Telecommunications 3,500                               14,730                    18,230                            
Insurance 1,300                               27,000                    28,300                            
Meeting and Conference Expenses 17,000                             23,600                    40,600                            
Printed Materials 4,900                               58,750                    63,650                            
Office Supplies and Occupancy 2,700                               45,000                    47,700                            
Travel 23,110                             14,700                    37,810                            
Other Expenses -                                    

Accounting -                                    20,000                    20,000                            
Advertising 1,000                               -                          1,000                              
Bank Charges 250                                   3,800                      4,050                              
Education & Training 3,750                               28,600                    32,350                            
Organizational Dues 21,000                             1,775                      22,775                            
Sponsorships -                                    8,000                      8,000                              
Other 700                                   20,000                    20,700                            

Total Other Expenses 26,700                             82,175                    108,875                          
Total Expense 1,308,084                       1,607,248              2,915,332                      

Change in Net Assets (226,237)                         0                              (226,236)                        
2023 Carry-Over into 2024 679,000                           -                          679,000                          
2024 Projected Ending Fund Balance 452,763                           0                              452,764                          

21.9%

2024 Budget

2024 Administrative costs as a % of total Expenses
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Board of Trustees 
Upstate Forever 
Greenville, South Carolina 

Opinion  

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Upstate Forever (a nonprofit organization), which 
comprise the statements of financial position as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related statements of 
activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial 
statements.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Upstate Forever. as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the 
years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of Upstate Forever and to meet our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, 
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Upstate Forever’s ability to continue as a going concern 
within one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. Misstatements, are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually 
or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

1



In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining,
on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
Upstate Forever’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about Upstate Forever’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of
time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters that we identified 
during the audit. 

Greene Finney Cauley, LLP 
Mauldin, South Carolina 
March 30, 2023 
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UPSTATE FOREVER
GREENVILLE, SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

DECEMBER 31, 2022
(WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR DECEMBER 31, 2021)

WITHOUT WITH
DONOR DONOR 2022 2021

RESTRICTIONS RESTRICTIONS TOTAL TOTAL
ASSETS

Cash (46,411)$               411,854 365,443          552,452$        
Marketable Securities 3,666,179             2,255,455             5,921,634       7,250,821       
Private Equity 41,949 - 41,949 183,986          
Accounts Receivable 30,000 341,410 371,410 193,652          
Long-Term Accounts Receivable, net 46,032 170,006 216,038 116,567          
Campaign Pledge Receivables, net 11,180 - 11,180 72,713            
Prepaid Expenses - - - 3,474              
Other Current Assets 1,807 - 1,807 7,973              

Due to/from Other Funds (72,578) 72,578 - - 
Property and Equipment, net 565,512 - 565,512 587,344          

TOTAL ASSETS 4,243,670$           3,251,303             7,494,973       8,968,982$     

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 19,967$                - 19,967 11,030$          
Accrued Liabilities 61,516 - 61,516 60,570            

TOTAL LIABILITIES 81,483 - 81,483 71,600            

NET ASSETS

Without Donor Restrictions 4,162,187             - 4,162,187 5,699,343       
With Donor Restrictions - 3,251,303 3,251,303 3,198,039       

TOTAL NET ASSETS 4,162,187             3,251,303             7,413,490       8,897,382       

TOTAL LIABILITIES
     AND NET ASSETS 4,243,670$           3,251,303             7,494,973       8,968,982$     

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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UPSTATE FOREVER
GREENVILLE, SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022
(WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021)

WITHOUT WITH
DONOR DONOR 2022 2021

RESTRICTIONS RESTRICTIONS TOTAL TOTAL
PUBLIC SUPPORT AND REVENUE

Public Support
Grants 10,000$               934,163               944,163           411,327$         
PPP Loan Forgiveness -                       -                       -                  196,005           
Contributions 729,556               -                       729,556           235,965           
Membership 570,521               -                       570,521           645,877           
Land Trust Endowments -                       64,816                 64,816             166,630           
Transfers Between Funds (106,371)              106,371               -                  -                  
Net Assets Released from Restrictions 714,643               (714,643)              -                  -                  

     TOTAL PUBLIC SUPPORT 1,918,349            390,707               2,309,056        1,655,804        

Revenue
Consulting Fees 22,250                 -                       22,250             28,910             
Special Events, net of Expenses 19,500                 -                       19,500             -                  
Interest Income -                       9                          9                      6,799               
Investment Income  (Loss) (852,134)              (337,452)              (1,189,586)      620,654           
Other -                       -                       -                  38                    

     TOTAL REVENUE (810,384)              (337,443)              (1,147,827)      656,401           

          TOTAL PUBLIC SUPPORT 
               AND REVENUE

1,107,965            53,264                 1,161,229        2,312,205        
EXPENSES

Program 2,024,047            -                       2,024,047        1,730,730        
Management 134,045               -                       134,045           125,381           
Fundraising 487,029               -                       487,029           312,008           

          TOTAL EXPENSES 2,645,121            -                       2,645,121        2,168,119        

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (1,537,156)           53,264                 (1,483,892)      144,086           

NET ASSETS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 5,699,343            3,198,039            8,897,382        8,753,296        

NET ASSETS, END OF YEAR 4,162,187$          3,251,303            7,413,490        8,897,382$      

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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UPSTATE FOREVER
GREENVILLE, SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022
(WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021)

OTHER 
PROGRAMS MANAGEMENT FUNDRAISING

2022
TOTAL

2021
TOTAL

EXPENSES

EMPLOYEE EXPENSES
Salaries 1,147,881$      181,523              274,070             1,603,474        1,270,330$    
Employee Benefits 65,532             13,046                14,984               93,562             84,225           
Salaries, Paid Time Off 2,948               3,747                  2,438                 9,133               18,365           
Payroll Service -                   4,532                  -                     4,532               3,734             
Payroll Tax Expense 86,178             13,586                20,908               120,672           90,729           

TOTAL EMPLOYEE EXPENSES 1,302,539        216,434              312,400             1,831,373        1,467,383      

ALL OTHER EXPENSES
Consultants 297,822           25,668                7,500                 330,990           243,248         
Consultants Easement  Assistance 30,485             -                      -                     30,485             70,809           
Information Technology & Support 60,454             25,840                24,364               110,658           92,412           
Depreciation Expense 500                  21,333                -                     21,833             24,158           
Education/Training 11,593             86                       59                      11,738             5,889             
Insurance 9,093               29,697                -                     38,790             28,030           
Meeting and Conference Expenses 22,337             675                     7,572                 30,584             17,999           
Overhead Allocation 179,032           (222,883)             43,851               -                  -                
Printed Materials & Mailing 39,057             495                     10,649               50,201             47,287           
Supplies and Occupancy 22,809             23,075                2,889                 48,773             49,439           
Sponsorship Expenses 7,950               -                      3,750                 11,700             36,855           
Travel 22,004             448                     1,835                 24,287             14,175           
Other Expenses 18,372             13,177                72,160               103,709           70,435           

TOTAL ALL OTHER EXPENSES 721,508           (82,389)               174,629             813,748           700,736         

TOTAL EXPENSES 2,024,047$      134,045              487,029             2,645,121        2,168,119$    

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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UPSTATE FOREVER
GREENVILLE, SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021

2022 2021
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Change in Net Assets (1,483,892)$   144,086$        
Adjustments to Reconcile Change in Net Assets to Cash Provided

by Operating Activities:
Unrealized Loss (Gain) on Marketable Securities and Investments 1,287,515       (429,956)        
Depreciation 21,833            24,158            
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities

Decrease in Deposits, Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets 9,640              6,741              
(Increase) Decrease in Accounts and Long-Term Pledges Receivable (215,696)        113,201          
Decrease in Land Held for Resale -                 421,000          
Increase in Liabilities 9,883              21,044            

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES (370,717)        300,274          

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net Sale (Purchase) of Marketable Securities and Investments 183,708          (503,068)        
Acquisition of Property and Equipment -                 (5,522)            

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES 183,708          (508,590)        

NET DECREASE IN CASH (187,009)        (208,316)        

CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR 552,452          760,768          

CASH, END OF YEAR 365,443$        552,452$        

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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UPSTATE FOREVER
GREENVILLE, SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

DECEMBER 31, 2021

WITHOUT WITH
DONOR DONOR 2021

RESTRICTIONS RESTRICTIONS TOTAL
ASSETS

Cash 151,506$              400,946                552,452$        
Marketable Securities 4,778,940             2,471,881             7,250,821       
Private Equity 183,986                -                        183,986          
Accounts Receivable 30,000                  163,652                193,652          
Long-Term Accounts Receivable, net 76,032                  40,535                  116,567          
Campaign Pledge Receivables, net 72,713                  -                        72,713            
Prepaid Expenses 3,474                    -                        3,474              
Other Current Assets 7,973                    -                        7,973              

Due to/from Other Funds (121,025)               121,025                -                 
Property and Equipment, net 587,344                -                        587,344          

TOTAL ASSETS 5,770,943$           3,198,039             8,968,982$     

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 11,030$                -                        11,030$          
Accrued Liabilities 60,570                  -                        60,570            

TOTAL LIABILITIES 71,600                  -                        71,600            

NET ASSETS

Without Donor Restrictions 5,699,343             -                        5,699,343       
With Donor Restrictions -                        3,198,039             3,198,039       

TOTAL NET ASSETS 5,699,343             3,198,039             8,897,382       

TOTAL LIABILITIES
     AND NET ASSETS 5,770,943$           3,198,039             8,968,982$     

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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UPSTATE FOREVER
GREENVILLE, SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021

WITHOUT WITH
DONOR DONOR 2021

RESTRICTIONS RESTRICTIONS TOTAL
PUBLIC SUPPORT AND REVENUE

Public Support
Grants 10,000$               401,327               411,327$         
PPP Loan Forgiveness 196,005               -                       196,005           
Contributions 235,965               -                       235,965           
Membership 645,877               -                       645,877           
Land Trust Endowments -                       166,630               166,630           
Transfers Between Funds (57,732)                57,732                 -                  
Net Assets Released from Restrictions 695,507               (695,507)              -                  

     TOTAL PUBLIC SUPPORT 1,725,622            (69,818)                1,655,804        

Revenue
Consulting Fees 1,509                   27,401                 28,910             
Interest Income 6,204                   595                      6,799               
Investment Income 358,599               262,055               620,654           
Other 38                        -                       38                    

     TOTAL REVENUE 366,350               290,051               656,401           

          TOTAL PUBLIC SUPPORT 
               AND REVENUE

2,091,972            220,233               2,312,205        
EXPENSES

Program 1,730,730            -                       1,730,730        
Management 125,381               -                       125,381           
Fundraising 312,008               -                       312,008           

          TOTAL EXPENSES 2,168,119            -                       2,168,119        

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (76,147)                220,233               144,086           

NET ASSETS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 5,775,490            2,977,806            8,753,296        

NET ASSETS, END OF YEAR 5,699,343$          3,198,039            8,897,382$      

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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UPSTATE FOREVER
GREENVILLE, SOUTH CAROLINA

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021

OTHER 
PROGRAMS MANAGEMENT FUNDRAISING

2021
TOTAL

EXPENSES

EMPLOYEE EXPENSES
Salaries 940,491$         157,829              172,010             1,270,330$      
Employee Benefits 64,422             7,687                  12,116               84,225             
Salaries, Paid Time Off 11,008             1,986                  5,371                 18,365             
Payroll Service -                   3,734                  -                     3,734               
Payroll Tax Expense 69,990             7,458                  13,281               90,729             

TOTAL EMPLOYEE EXPENSES 1,085,911        178,694              202,778             1,467,383        

ALL OTHER EXPENSES
Consultants 227,023           2,600                  13,625               243,248           
Consultants Easement  Assistance 70,809             -                      -                     70,809             
Information Technology & Support 46,150             36,561                9,701                 92,412             
Depreciation Expense 1,200               22,958                -                     24,158             
Education/Training 4,364               1,525                  -                     5,889               
Insurance 7,701               20,329                -                     28,030             
Meeting and Conference Expenses 14,489             -                      3,510                 17,999             
Overhead Allocation 145,463           (172,984)             27,521               -                  
Printed Materials & Mailing 34,315             822                     12,150               47,287             
Supplies and Occupancy 24,980             21,272                3,187                 49,439             
Sponsorship Expenses 36,855             -                      -                     36,855             
Travel 11,757             203                     2,215                 14,175             
Other Expenses 19,713             13,401                37,321               70,435             

TOTAL ALL OTHER EXPENSES 644,819           (53,313)               109,230             700,736           

TOTAL EXPENSES 1,730,730$      125,381              312,008             2,168,119$      

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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UPSTATE FOREVER 
GREENVILLE, SOUTH CAROLINA 
  
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 
 

 

                   
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Operation 
 
Upstate Forever is a nonprofit organization founded in 1998 to protect critical lands, waters, and the unique 
character of the Upstate of South Carolina.  Upstate Forever accomplishes its mission through four major 
programs: Land Conservation, Clean Water, Land Planning and Policy, and Energy.  Upstate Forever 
receives third-party donations, grants from state and federal governments, foundations and private industry, 
and investment income. 
 
Basis of Presentation 
 
The accompanying financial statements of Upstate Forever have been prepared on the accrual basis of 
accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
and are presented in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) ASC 958-205 Not-
For-Profit Presentation of Financial Statements.  
 
Revenue Recognition 
 
Upstate Forever recognizes revenue on grants either when received or when the funds have been expended 
(reimbursable grants) in accordance with grant requirements. Contributions are recognized when received 
or when a written pledge is received for contributions promised over more than one year. Planned gifts are 
future contributions that a donor plans during their lifetime that will take effect upon the donor’s passing. 
Planned gifts are not recognized on the financial statements until the cash or other assets are received.  
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
For the Statement of Cash Flows, Upstate Forever generally considers all instruments with a maturity of 
three months or less at date of purchase to be cash equivalents. 
 
Marketable Securities 
 
Marketable securities consist primarily of publicly traded mutual funds and publicly traded stock and are 
classified as available-for-sale.  Such securities are carried at fair value based on quoted market prices, with 
any unrealized gains or losses reported as a change in net assets with donor restrictions or net assets without 
donor restrictions. 
 
Investments 
 
Investments consist of a private equity limited partnership fund that makes investments in middle-market 
businesses. 
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UPSTATE FOREVER 
GREENVILLE, SOUTH CAROLINA 
  
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 
 

 

 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Receivables 
 
Receivables consist primarily of amounts due from grantors and large donors. 
 
Campaign pledge receivables that are expected to be collected within one year are recorded at net realizable 
value. Campaign pledge receivables that are expected to be collected in future years are recorded at the 
present value of their estimated future cash flows. The discounts on those amounts are computed using risk-
free interest rates applicable to the years in which the pledge receivables are received. Amortization of the 
discounts is included in contribution revenue. 
 
Allowances for uncollectible accounts are determined based on subsequent collections, past experience, 
and an assessment of economic conditions. Receivables are written off when deemed uncollectible. 
 
Income Taxes 
 
Upstate Forever is exempt from federal income taxes under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, 
and therefore has made no provision for federal income taxes in the accompanying financial statements.   
 
Property and Equipment 
 
Property and equipment with an estimated useful life of at least 2 years and with a cost or value equal to or 
greater than $2,500 are recorded at cost if purchased, and recorded at fair market value if donated.  Assets 
are depreciated on a straight-line method.  
 
Net Assets  
 
Net assets and revenues are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.  
Accordingly, net assets of Upstate Forever and changes therein are classified and reported as follows: 

 
 Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions are net assets available for use in general operations and not 

subject to donor-imposed restrictions.  The Board, at its discretion, may designate a portion of the net 
assets without donor restrictions to be used for specific purposes, such as capital improvements.  

 
 Net Assets With Donor Restrictions are net assets subject to donor-imposed restrictions.  Some donor-

imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those that will be met either by the actions of 
Upstate Forever or the passage of time.  Other donor-imposed restrictions may be perpetual in nature, 
where the donor stipulates that the resources be maintained in perpetuity.  When a restriction expires 
(that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished), net assets with 
donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the 
Statement of Activities as net assets released from restrictions.  If a restriction is fulfilled during the 
same year in which the contribution is received, Upstate Forever reports that support as an increase 
in net assets without donor restrictions. 
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UPSTATE FOREVER 
GREENVILLE, SOUTH CAROLINA 
  
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 
 

 

 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Conservation Easements 
 
A conservation easement is an agreement between a landowner and the organization in which the landowner 
permanently relinquishes most or all of the rights to develop the property and agrees to other terms 
benefitting the public.  The easement is publicly recorded and is binding on all future owners of the property.  
Upstate Forever’s principal responsibility is to ensure compliance with the terms of the easement.  It meets 
this responsibility by periodically inspecting the property and, if necessary, taking appropriate action to 
enforce the easement. 
 
Each conservation easement received by Upstate Forever provides that it cannot be transferred or assigned 
to any person or entity except to an organization that is qualified under the Internal Revenue Code to receive 
easements and that has the commitment, ability, and resources to meet its responsibilities and obligations 
under the easement and to take the necessary steps to protect the conservation values of the property.  
Accordingly, there is no market for any of the conservation easements received by Upstate Forever. 
 
Conservation easements donated to Upstate Forever are recorded at a zero value in the Statement of 
Financial Position, the Statement of Activities and the Statement of Functional Expenses.  Conservation 
easements that are purchased are recorded at a zero value in the Statement of Financial Position and are 
shown as an expense in the Statement of Activities, Statement of Functional Expenses and Statements of 
Cash Flows.  The funding source that enables the purchase of these easements is shown as a revenue in the 
Statement of Activities and Statements of Cash Flows, resulting in a net zero effect on net assets. 
 
Upstate Forever believes that tracking the value of conservation easements under management is useful to 
gauge the significance of the ongoing responsibility to monitor these easements.  Accordingly, for purposes 
of note disclosure only, conservation easements received by Upstate Forever are disclosed at the value paid 
to acquire the conservation easement or the estimated value of the development rights relinquished under 
the easement, that is, the amount of the reduction in fair market value (as defined in IRS regulations) 
resulting from the easement at the date it is recorded.  This value is generally established through qualified 
appraisals that are performed at or near the recording date.  Where such an appraisal is not available, 
management makes its best estimate of the value based on relevant facts and circumstances. Values are not 
updated as they represent the historical cost at the date the easements were granted. See Note 14 for more 
details of Upstate Forever’s conservation easements. 
 
Grants  
 
Upstate Forever receives grants from federal, state and local governments, as well as from private 
organizations, to be used for specific programs or for the purchase of conservation easements.  
 
Accounting Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires Upstate Forever’s management to make estimates and assumptions.  
These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
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UPSTATE FOREVER 
GREENVILLE, SOUTH CAROLINA 
  
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 
 

 

 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Reclassifications 
 
Certain amounts presented in the prior year data have been reclassified in order to be consistent with the 
current year’s presentation. 
 
NOTE 2—LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY 
 
Financial assets available for general expenditure, that is, without donor or other restrictions limiting their 
use, within the following fiscal year consisted of the following: 
 

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Cash and Cash Equivalents (46,411)$                151,506$               
Marketable Securities 3,666,179              4,778,940              
Investments 41,949                   183,986                 
Accounts Receivable 30,000                   30,000                   
Campaign Pledge Receivables, Net 11,180                   72,713                   

3,702,897$            5,217,145$            

 
Upstate Forever’s board-designated endowment of $2,827,016 is subject to board approval for 
disbursement. Although they do not intend to spend from this endowment (other than amounts appropriated 
for general expenditure as part of the Board’s annual budget approval), these amounts could be made 
available if necessary. 
 
NOTE 3 – FUNCTIONAL ALLOCATION OF EXPENSES 
 
The costs of providing the various programs and other activities have been summarized on a functional 
basis in the statement of activities.  Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among the programs and 
supporting services benefited. 
 
NOTE 4 – CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK  
 
Upstate Forever currently maintains bank accounts.  Accounts at each institution were insured by the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) up to $250,000 as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and 
Upstate Forever’s holdings did not exceed the insured limits.  
 
NOTE 5 – FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES  
 
The FASB issued a statement that defines fair value and establishes a framework for measuring fair value. 
That framework provides a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to 
measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs 
(Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described as follows: 
 

Level 1 – Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or 
liabilities in active markets that Upstate Forever has the ability to access. 
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UPSTATE FOREVER 
GREENVILLE, SOUTH CAROLINA 
  
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 
 

 

 
NOTE 5 – FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 

 
Level 2 – Inputs to the valuation methodology include 

 quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; 
 quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets; 
 inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by 

correlation or other means. 
 

If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, the Level 2 input must be observable for 
substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 

 
Level 3 – Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value 
measurement. 
 
The asset’s or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on 
the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurements. Valuation techniques 
used need to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. 

 
At December 31, 2022 and 2021, Upstate Forever’s marketable securities, investments, and campaign 
pledges receivable were the only financial instruments carried at fair value on the statements of financial 
position in accordance with the FASB ASC 820-10 valuation hierarchy. These marketable securities and 
investments were valued based upon Level 1 inputs. 
 
The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value. There 
have been no changes in the methodologies used at December 31, 2022 and 2021. 
 
Mutual and Money Market Funds 
 
These investments are public investment vehicles valued using the Net Asset Value (NAV) provided by the 
administrator of the fund. The NAV is based on the value of the underlining assets owned by the fund, 
minus its liabilities, and then divided by the number of shares outstanding. The NAV is a quoted price in 
an active market and classified within Level 1 of the valuation hierarchy. 
 
Stocks 
 
These investments are valued based on the current stock market price or information obtained from the 
company itself if there is no secondary market for the sale of the shares of stock. The current stock market 
price investments are classified within Level 1. 
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UPSTATE FOREVER 
GREENVILLE, SOUTH CAROLINA 
  
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 
 

 

 
NOTE 5 – FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 
 
Private Equity Fund 
  
A contribution was given to Upstate Forever in December 2018 that is an interest in a private equity limited 
partnership fund that makes investments in lower middle-market businesses. This investment is reported at 
NAV of Upstate Forever’s share in the private equity fund. As part of the transfer of ownership agreement, 
Upstate Forever is not responsible for any future calls for funding and any or all future distributions are 
solely the property of Upstate Forever.  The private equity partnership was not extended beyond December 
31, 2021.  Accordingly, the fund has commenced to wind up affairs and liquidate the assets in an orderly 
manner in line with the agreement.  Those final disbursements were not resolved as of the audit report 
date. Upstate Forever uses NAV reported by fund managers to estimate fair value of alternative investments 
that (a) do not have a readily determinable fair value and (b) either have the attributes of an investment 
company or prepare their financial statements consistent with the measurement principles of an investment 
company, unless it is probable that all or a portion of the investment will be sold for an amount different 
from NAV. The private equity investment, whose fair value was determined using NAV as a practical 
expedient, is not categorized within the described fair value hierarchy. 
 
The table below details the activity within the private equity fund during 2022: 
 

Private Equity Fund Value at December 31, 2021 183,986$                  
Cash Distributions from the Fund (143,469)          
Unrealized Gains on Investment 1,432                
Private Equity Fund Value at December 31, 2022 41,949$                    

 
The table below details the activity within the private equity fund during 2021: 
 

Private Equity Fund Value at December 31, 2020 214,037$                  
Unrealized Losses on Investment (30,051)            
Private Equity Fund Value at December 31, 2021 183,986$                  
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UPSTATE FOREVER 
GREENVILLE, SOUTH CAROLINA 
  
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 
 

 

 
NOTE 5 – FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 
 
The following table sets forth by level the fair value hierarchy of Upstate Forever’s assets accounted for at 
fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2022 and 2021: 
 

Fair Value at 
December 31, 2022

Fair Value at 
December 31, 2021

Assets:
Cash and Deposit-in-Transit 24,379$                     32,013$                     
Certificates of Deposit -                             124,908                     
Equities - Publicly Traded 1,059,127                  1,416,355                  
Bonds - Publicly Traded 325,734                     372,121                     
Treasury Notes 212,247                     240,336                     
Mutual Funds:
     Stocks 2,435,548                  2,719,812                  
     Bonds 1,369,195                  1,988,158                  
     Other 323,085                     -                             

   Total Mutual Funds 4,127,828                  4,707,970                  

Money Market Funds 172,319                     357,118                     

Total Assets at Fair Value 5,921,634$                7,250,821$                

Quoted Prices in Active Markets for Identical 
Assets and Liabilities (Level 1 Inputs)

 
Total investment loss on marketable securities and investments of $1,189,586 includes $1,287,515 of 
unrealized losses for the year ended December 31, 2022. Investment fees in the amount of $45,656 are 
netted with Investment Income (Loss) on the Statement of Activities for the year ended December 31, 2022. 
 
Total investment gain on marketable securities and investments of $620,654 includes $429,956 of 
unrealized gains for the year ended December 31, 2021. Investment fees in the amount of $24,260 are netted 
with Investment Income on the Statement of Activities for the year ended December 31, 2021. 
 
NOTE 6 – ENDOWMENT FUNDS 
 
Land Trust Endowment 
 
As part of Upstate Forever’s Land Trust program, it receives gifts and contributions from individuals and 
entities to be used to ensure compliance with the terms of its conservation easements. (See Note 14 for a 
description of Upstate Forever’s conservation easements).  
 
The Land Trust Endowment is comprised of three individual funds: The Principal Fund (investment), 
Monitoring Fund, and Defense Fund, all of which are classified as with donor restrictions. These funds 
include amounts invested in marketable securities, and accounts receivable from donors.  
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UPSTATE FOREVER 
GREENVILLE, SOUTH CAROLINA 
  
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 
 

 

 
NOTE 6 – ENDOWMENT FUNDS (CONTINUED) 
 
Land Trust Endowment (Continued) 
 
Investment income earned on the marketable securities is allocated to the Defense and Monitoring Funds 
in order to provide continuing support for Upstate Forever’s oversight responsibilities. 
 
It is the written intent of most donors and Upstate Forever that cumulative investment losses, if any, will 
not be reported in net assets without donor restrictions. Investment losses will be reported first in the 
Monitoring and Defense net assets to the extent of cumulative investment earnings, net of appropriations 
for expenditures, and then against the account principal. Future investment income will be used to restore 
losses, if any, to the principal before again being available for oversight activities.  
 
Endowment Without Donor Restrictions 
 
As of December 31, 2022, Upstate Forever has an endowment that was funded by receiving $2,200,000 in 
funds without restrictions from one family, which the Board of Directors designated to be held as an 
endowment fund for future endeavors. Upstate Forever classified these as net assets without donor 
restrictions, and also records investment earnings as without donor restrictions. The Board of Directors 
approves when and how to use this endowment. 
 
Accounting Guidance 
 
Net assets with donor restrictions are appropriated for expenditure by Upstate Forever in a manner 
consistent with the standard of prudence prescribed by the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional 
Funds Act (“UPMIFA”). In accordance with UPMIFA, Upstate Forever considers the following factors in 
making a determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: 
 

 The duration and preservation of the endowment fund. 
 The purposes of Upstate Forever and the endowment fund. 
 General economic conditions. 
 The possible effect of inflation or deflation. 
 The expected total return from income and appreciation of investments. 
 Other resources of Upstate Forever. 
 The investment policy of Upstate Forever. 

 
Investment Objective 
 
Upstate Forever’s investment objective is to attain an average annual real total return (net of investment 
management fees) with an acceptable margin of risk. The overall goal is for the fund, over the long term 
(rolling three-year periods), to achieve returns comparable to appropriate asset class indexes. Upstate 
Forever has a diversified approach to investment that balances the goals of maximizing return with 
preservation of funds. By diversifying among asset classes, and rebalancing toward policy target 
allocations, Upstate Forever expects to enhance real market value. 
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UPSTATE FOREVER 
GREENVILLE, SOUTH CAROLINA 
  
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 
 

 

 
NOTE 6 – ENDOWMENT FUNDS (CONTINUED) 
 
Investment Objective (Continued) 
 
Rebalancing asset allocations to policy targets is essential for maintaining the risk profile of this policy. 
When funds exceed established ranges, a rebalancing occurs, generally not more frequently than quarterly. 
Funds are diversified both by asset class and within asset class in accordance with the following guidelines: 
60%- 70% in equity securities, alternate investments and real estate, and 30%- 40% in fixed income funds 
(bonds and cash equivalents). 
 
Upstate Forever has chosen not to manage its underlying assets directly, but utilizes independent investment 
managers to do so.  The Finance and Investment Committee of Upstate Forever meets twice annually with 
the investment managers to review and discuss the management of Upstate Forever’s endowment funds.   
 
The total fund balance is comprised of both marketable securities and other assets and liabilities of Upstate 
Forever’s endowment funds. 
 
Changes in Upstate Forever’s Endowment Funds, by net asset classification, for the years ended December 
31, 2022 and 2021 are summarized as follows:  
 

Board Designated Land Trust

Description
Without Donor 

Restrictions
With Donor 
Restrictions Total

Endowment Fund, Beginning of Year 3,216,267$            2,650,839            5,867,106$ 
Investment Gain (Loss) (661,750)                (337,452)             (999,202)     
Contributions 450,000                 64,816                 514,816      
Appropriation of Assets for Expenditure (177,501)                (7,599)                 (185,100)     

Endowment Funds, End of Year 2,827,016$            2,370,604            5,197,620$ 

2022

 

Board Designated Land Trust

Description
Without Donor 

Restrictions
With Donor 
Restrictions Total

Endowment Fund, Beginning of Year 2,882,674$            2,269,274            5,151,948$ 
Investment Gain 362,307                 262,055               624,362      
Contributions -                         166,630               166,630      
Appropriation of Assets for Expenditure (28,714)                  (47,120)               (75,834)       

Endowment Funds, End of Year 3,216,267$            2,650,839            5,867,106$ 

2021

 
Although substantially all of the assets of the Endowment Fund are invested in marketable securities, the 
category Marketable Securities on the balance sheet also includes Certificates of Deposit with original 
maturities over 90 days and funds collected as part of the Crossroads Campaign but not yet spent.   
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UPSTATE FOREVER 
GREENVILLE, SOUTH CAROLINA 
  
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 
 

 

 
NOTE 7 – ACCOUNTS AND PLEDGES RECEIVABLE 
 
Accounts and long-term pledges receivable consist of the following amounts due to the programs and funds 
noted below: 

2022 2021

Land Policy and Planning 72,461$      50,000$      

Land Trust Endowment Funds 33,170        38,399        

Clean Water Program 103,102      54,252        
Land Conservation Program 132,677      21,000        

Other Receivables 30,000        30,000        

Total 371,410$    193,652$    

Accounts Receivable

 

2022 2021

Land Policy and Planning 48,780$      -$            
Land Conservation Program, Net 111,823      -              
Land Trust Endowment, Net 9,403          19,535        
Clean Water, Net -              21,000        
Other Receivables, Net 46,032        76,032        

Total 216,038$    116,567$    

Long-Term Accounts Receivable, net

 
During 2018, Upstate Forever launched the “Crossroads Campaign” with a goal of $7 million, with $3 
million in donations and $4 million in planned gifts. At the close of the campaign in 2019, Upstate Forever 
exceeded its goals with $3.6 million in donations and $4.9 million in planned gifts. Of the $3,558,379 in 
donations, $3,535,199 was received in cash, marketable securities and real property as of December 31, 
2022. The remaining pledges receivable are due as follows: 
 

2022 2021
Due in 2022 -$                84,713$          
Due in 2023 23,180            -                  

23,180            84,713            

Less Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (12,000)           (12,000)           

Pledges Receivable, Net 11,180            72,713            
Less Current Portion Included in 
     Accounts Receivable (11,180)           (72,713)           

Portion Included in Long-Term 
Accounts Receivable, Net -$                -$                

Pledges Receivable
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UPSTATE FOREVER 
GREENVILLE, SOUTH CAROLINA 
  
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 AND 2021 
 

 

 
NOTE 7 – ACCOUNTS AND PLEDGES RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED) 
 
The carrying amount of campaign pledges approximate fair value because the pledges have been discounted 
to present value. Also, Upstate Forever has recorded a $12,000 allowance for doubtful accounts. 
 
During 2022, Upstate Forever received a $150,000 pledge from The Jolley Foundation for Shaping Growth 
Greenville. 

2022 2021
Due in 2023 50,000$          -$                
Due in 2024 50,000            -                  

100,000          -                  
Less Discount to Net Present Value 
     of 2.5% per year (1,220)             -                  

Critical Lands Grant Receivable, Net 98,780            -                  
Less Current Portion Included in 
     Accounts Receivable (50,000)           -                  

Portion Included in Long-Term 
Accounts Receivable, Net 48,780$          -$                

 
During 2022, Upstate Forever received a $375,000 5 year grant from ReWa for Expanding Land and Water  
Protection in the Tigerville Area. $135,000 of the grant is planned for conservation projects as a pass 
through to the project recipient. The pass through amounts will be recognized at the time of the expense 
over the course of the grant work. 
 

2022
Due in 2023 122,677$        
Due in 2024 40,000            
Due in 2025 40,000            
Due in 2026 37,323            

240,000          
Less Discount to Net Present Value 
     of 2.5% per year (5,500)             

Tigerville Land Water Protection 
Grant Receivable, Net 234,500          
Less Current Portion Included in 
     Accounts Receivable (122,677)         

Portion Included in Long-Term 
Accounts Receivable, Net 111,823$        
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NOTE 7 – ACCOUNTS AND PLEDGES RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED) 
 
During 2018, Upstate Forever also received a $50,000 pledge from Daniel-Mickel Foundation for a Critical 
Lands Grant. The grant is to be received over a period of five years. The remaining grant receivable is due 
as follows: 
 

2022 2021
Due in 2022 -$                10,000$          
Due in 2023 10,000            10,000            

Critical Lands Grant Receivable, Net 10,000            20,000            
Less Current Portion Included in 
     Accounts Receivable (10,000)           (10,000)           

Portion Included in Long-Term 
Accounts Receivable, Net -$                10,000$          

 
During 2020, Upstate Forever also received a total of $42,573 in pledges for land trust endowment 
receivables for five separate easements. These are to be received over a period of up to three years. The 
remaining land trust endowment receivable is due as follows: 
 

2022 2021
Due in 2022 -$                38,400$          
Due in 2023 33,170            20,540            
Due in 2024 9,638              -                  

42,808            58,940            

Less Discount to Net Present Value 
     of 2.5% per year (235)                (1,006)             

Land Trust Endowment Receivable, Net 42,573            57,934            
Less Current Portion Included in 
     Accounts Receivable (33,170)           (38,400)           

Portion Included in Long-Term 
Accounts Receivable, Net 9,403$            19,534$          
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NOTE 8 – FUNDS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS 
 
Grants with donor restrictions received in 2022 and 2021 are comprised of the following: 
 

Major Grants 2022 2021

Expanding conservation in Tigerville Area 240,000$        -$              

Shaping Growth - Greenville, net discount 225,000          75,000          

Tyger River Section 319 Grant 127,066          163,891        

Tyger River Confluence project 125,000          -                

3&20 Creek Section 319 Grant 98,680            43,472          

Sea Change - Energy and Pipeline Initiatives 45,000            -                

Electrifying the Upstate 25,000            -                

Twelve Mile Watershed based plan 15,228            -                

Oconee County Land Conservation -                  100,000        

Lake Greenwood Watershed Based Plan -                  39,191          

Campaign for Critical Lands, net discount -                  726               

Priority Upcountry Land and Water Conservation Project -                  (20,953)         

Other Grants

Saluda Grade Rails to Trails 18,189            -                

Upstate Voice for SC Energy Efficiency 15,000            -                

934,163$        401,327$      

 
In 2022, Upstate Forever began work on four major grants and completed work under three major grants, 
continues work under six other major grants. The work funded by these major grants is described below.  
 
Tyger River Confluence Project – New 
 
In 2022, Upstate Forever began working with a coalition of public, private, and nonprofit partners in 
Spartanburg County to create a recreation and eco-tourism corridor in one of the nation’s fastest growing 
regions. It is modeled after the new Black River Water Trail and Park Network in the Pee Dee River Basin, 
an emerging new state park that is unlike any other experience currently offered in South Carolina’s 47 
state parks. As proposed, the Tyger River Confluence Project will cover 20 river miles and include public 
park spaces with trails and a Nature Center. Funding will be used to support staff time and administrative 
costs and well as matching funds for master planning efforts and associated legal fees.  
 
A listing of the grantors for this initiative and a table of the grant activity to date is below.  
 

Grantors Total Grants

Spartanburg Community Foundation 100,000$          

Mary Black Foundation 25,000              

Total  $         125,000 
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NOTE 8 – FUNDS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
Tyger River Confluence Project – New (Continued) 
 

Inception 
Through 
12/31/20 2021 2022 Total

Total Grants -$                 -                  125,000      125,000$      

Direct Expenses -                   -                  (15,198)       (15,198)         

Transfer in from Other Funds -                   -                  3,161          3,161            

Change in Net Assets -$                 -                  112,962      112,962$      
 

 
Expanding Conservation in Tigerville Area – New 
 
In 2022, Upstate Forever began working in conjunction with Renewable Water Resources to promote 
conservation of Land and Water in the Tigerville area. Through a state statute Renewable Water Resources 
committed $375,000 over 5 years to identify conservation projects in the Tigerville area. The funds provide 
administrative costs and programs dedicated to preserving the rural nature, environmental integrity, and 
sustainability of the Tigerville community. The program will bolster our current land and water protection 
efforts in this area by allowing Upstate Forever to encourage landowners to protect water quality projects 
such as riparian buffers, septic repairs, helping attract landowners to conservation easements with additional 
aid for to due diligence costs, cost share fees, and conservation easement purchases. 
 
The table below details the grant activity to date.  In addition to the $240,000 recognized as income in 2022 
in the table below, there is an additional $135,000 available that is earmarked for project pass through 
expenses that Upstate Forever will recognize when incurred.  
 

Inception 
Through 
12/31/20 2021 2022 Total

Total Grants -$                 -                  240,000      240,000$      

Direct Expenses -                   -                  (4,706)         (4,706)           

Transfer in from Other Funds -                   -                  -              -                

Change in Net Assets -$                 -                  235,294      235,294$      
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NOTE 8 – FUNDS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
Electrifying the Upstate – New 
 
In 2022, Upstate Forever received a $25,000 grant from The Energy Foundation to promote the 
electrification of the transportation sector. There is a growing interest from the business community, local 
planners, and electric utilities and is matched with unprecedented dollars from the state of South Carolina.  
Upstate Forever will work with Energy Foundation partners to identify opportunities for implementation of 
those dollars and will advocate for policies to support the state’s energy transition. At the local level, we 
will meet with Greenville planners and decisionmakers to identify local policy initiatives as well as projects 
to implement the City’s electrification goals. At the state level, we will participate in PSC dockets related 
to these goals and provide educational resources to the public.  
 

Inception 
Through 
12/31/20 2021 2022 Total

Total Grants -$                 -                  25,000        25,000$        

Direct Expenses -                   -                  (6,800)         (6,800)           

Change in Net Assets -$                 -                  18,200        18,200$        
 

 
Creating a Watershed-Based Plan for the Twelvemile River – Keowee River Watershed -New 
 
Upstate Forever and the Clemson University Center for Watershed Excellence were awarded $63,723 from 
SC Department of Health and Environmental Control (DHEC) for funding under the Drinking Water State 
Revolving Fund set-aside grant to develop a comprehensive Watershed-based plan for the Twelvemile 
River – Keowee River Watershed within the larger Savannah River Basin. This watershed contains 
approximately 371.3 miles of streams and over 98,967 land acres with the primary land uses being forested, 
agricultural, and urban. This portion of the Seneca Watershed includes source water intakes and protection 
areas for the Easley Central Water District (ECWD) and Pickens Water Treatment Plant (Pickens WTP). 
Collectively, ECWD and Pickens WTP provide drinking water to over 16,300 residents living in Pickens 
County. DHEC government reimbursement grants are listed as follows: 
 

Grantors Total Grants

Department of Health and Environmental Control
(DHEC) - Watershed Base Plan

63,723$            

Total  $           63,723 

 
The table below details the grant activity to date.  In addition to the $15,228 in total grants below, there is 
an additional $48,495 available in unearned reimbursement grant funds.  
 

Inception 
Through 
12/31/20 2021 2022 Total

Total Grants -$                 -                  15,228        15,228$        

Direct Expenses -                   -                  (15,228)       (15,228)         

Change in Net Assets -$                 -                  -              -$              
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NOTE 8 – FUNDS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
Tyger River Implementation Project (Section 319 Grant) - In Progress  
 
Upstate Forever has received $142,000 from local water districts and $878,565 from the South Carolina 
Department of Health and Environmental Control (DHEC) to implement the recommendations from the 
completed watershed-based plan for three sub-watersheds of the Tyger River Basin to reduce nonpoint 
source pollution in this region. Partnering with three local water districts, Upstate Forever is working to 
install a variety of implementation measures (e.g., septic system repairs, livestock fencing, drip irrigation, 
conservation easements) to reduce bacteria, sediment and nutrient pollution in the watersheds over a three-
year period. The local grants and DHEC government reimbursement grants are listed as follows: 
 

Grantors Total Grants

Department of Health and Environmental Control
(DHEC) - Watershed Base Plan

40,939$            

Department of Health and Environmental Control
(DHEC) - Implementation Plan

238,694            

Department of Health and Environmental Control
(DHEC) - Implementation Plan Phase II

535,111            

Greer Commission of Public  Works (CPW) 52,000              

Startex Jackson Welford Duncan Water District (SJWD) 45,000              

City of Greer 15,000              

Woodruff Roebuck Water District (WRWD) 30,000              

Total  $         956,744 

 
 

The table below details the annual and grant to date activity.  In addition to the $521,460 in total grants 
below, there is an additional $435,284 available in unearned reimbursement grant funds.  

 
Inception 
Through 
12/31/20 2021 2022 Total

Total Grants 230,503$         163,891          127,066      521,460$      

Direct Expenses (188,966)          (115,295)         (141,061)     (445,322)       

Transfer in from Other Funds 1,789               -                  545             2,334            

Change in Net Assets 43,326$           48,596            (13,450)       78,472$        
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NOTE 8 – FUNDS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
Oconee County Land Conservation and Stewardship – In Progress 
 
Since 2017, Upstate Forever has been awarded $325,500 to expand land conservation outreach, strengthen 
conservation stewardship, and form cost-sharing partnerships in Oconee County, South Carolina. A listing 
of the grants follows:  
 

Grantors Total Grants

Pete and Sally Smith Foundation 325,000$          

Lake Keowee Source Water Protection team 500                   

Total  $         325,500 

 
The table below details the annual and grant to date activity. 
 

Inception 
Through 
12/31/20 2021 2022 Total

Grants 225,500$         100,000          -             325,500$    

Direct Expenses (115,256)          (100,343)        (85,767)      (301,366)     

Change in Net Assets 110,244$         (343)               (85,767)      24,134$      

 
Shaping Growth in Greenville – In Progress 
 
Since 2017, Upstate Forever has received $785,405 to promote land use planning and policy in Greenville 
County and its municipalities. One of the objectives is to facilitate land use policy training for local 
government staff & officials, practitioners and citizens highlighting land-use solutions likely to address 
issues related to affordable housing, public transportation and sprawl. Another objective is to provide 
grassroots organization and assistance to empower Greenville County citizens in the land use planning 
process.  
 
Grants were awarded as follows: 
 

Grantors Total Grants

Jolley Foundation 390,000$        

Hollingsworth 375,000          

New Belgium 5,000              

Community Foundation 5,000              

Greenville Housing Fund 5,000              

Other Grants 5,405              

Total 785,405$        
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NOTE 8 – FUNDS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
Shaping Growth in Greenville – In Progress (Continued) 
 
The table below details the annual and grant to date activity. 
 

Inception 
Through 
12/31/20 2021 2022 Total

Grants 485,405$         75,000            225,000      785,405$      

(Discount Long Term Receivable) -                   -                 (1,220)        (1,220)           

Direct Expenses (322,942)          (105,844)        (119,190)    (547,976)       

Transfer in from Other Funds 1,948               -                 7,635          9,583            

Change in Net Assets 164,411$         (30,844)          112,225      245,792$      

 
Watershed-Based Plan and Implementation for the Three and Twenty Creek (Section 319 Grant) – In 
Progress 
 
In 2018, Upstate Forever received a $46,608 reimbursable grant from the South Carolina Department of 
Health and Environmental Control (DHEC) and $5,000 from Anderson Regional Joint Water System to 
prepare a watershed-based plan for Three and Twenty Creek, in the Savannah River Basin. In 2020, Upstate 
Forever received $232,641 from DHEC and an additional $29,000 from Anderson Regional Joint Water 
System to implement the recommendations from the completed watershed-based plan for the Three and 
Twenty Creek to reduce nonpoint source pollution in this region. Upstate Forever is working to install a 
variety of implementation measures to mitigate the threats and improve water quality.  
 
The local grants and the DHEC reimbursable grant are listed below: 
 

Grantors Total Grants
Department of Health and Environmental Control
(DHEC) - Watershed Base Plan

46,608$            

Department of Health and Environmental Control
(DHEC) - Implementation

232,641            

Anderson Joint Regional Water District (AJRWD) 34,000              
Total  $       313,249 

 
The table below details the annual and grant to date activity. In addition to the $224,620 in total grants 
below, there is an additional $88,629 available in unearned reimbursement grant funds. 
 

Inception 
Through 
12/31/20 2021 2022 Total

Grants 82,468$           43,472            98,680        224,620$   

Direct Expenses (53,763)            (45,595)          (108,269)    (207,627)   

Transfer from Other Funds 295                  -                 -             295            

Change in Net Assets 29,000$           (2,123)            (9,589)        17,288$     
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NOTE 8 – FUNDS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
Priority Upcountry Land and Water Conservation Project – In Progress 
 
In 2020, Upstate Forever was awarded a partnership from the United States Department of Agriculture 
Natural Resources Conservation Service through the Regional Conservation Partnership Program (USDA-
NRCS-RCPP) a total grant of $703,896 in technical assistance over 5 years. Through the NRCS-RCPP, 
Upstate Forever plans to implement projects that demonstrate innovative outreach solutions to further 
perpetual farmland protection. In addition to the funds Upstate Forever receives, the partnership provides 
for an additional $3.2 million in financial assistance directly to the landowner who grants restrictions on 
their property in exchange for a combination of donations and the RCPP funding.  
 
In 2021 and 2022, Upstate Forever incurred costs under this program for outreach to identify successful 
projects for conservation, however, in March of 2023 NRCS partners informed Upstate Forever that 
partnership program disbursements were on hold. Accordingly, Upstate Forever reversed $133,813 in 
revenue and absorbed the program costs. Nationally, the program has resulted in successful partnership 
disbursements and RCPP believes that the local office will be able to begin partner disbursements and the 
program extended as a result. However, there is no assurance that this will occur.  
 
The table below details the annual and grant to date activity. 
 

Inception 
Through 
12/31/20 2021 2022 Total

Accrued Grant Revenue 20,952$           (20,952)          -             -$              

Direct Expenses (20,952)            (70,056)          (66,710)      (157,718)       

Transfers in from Other Funds -                   91,008            66,710        157,718        

Change in Net Assets -$                 -                 -             -$              

 
Sea Change – In Progress 
 
Since 2017, Upstate Forever has been awarded grants in the amount of $233,569 to support Upstate 
Forever's pipeline and renewable energy policy initiatives, reauthorization of the South Carolina 
Conservation bank and wetland mitigation across the state. These efforts included working with a broad 
coalition to bring about statewide policy change supporting clean energy and development of a 4-part 
webinar series entitled "Natural Gas Pipelines 101 - What You Need to Know Before One Comes Through 
Your Community”. 

 
Grantors Total Grants

Turner Foundation 50,000$            

Oak Hill 183,315            

Other Income 254                   

Total  $         233,569 
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NOTE 8 – FUNDS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
Sea Change – In Progress (Continued) 
 
The table below details the annual and grant to date activity. 
 

Inception 
Through 
12/31/20 2021 2022 Total

Grants 188,315$         -                 45,000        233,315$   

Other income 254                  -                 -             254            

Total Revenue 188,569           -                 45,000        233,569     

Direct Expenses (180,699)          (22,067)          (27,974)      (230,740)   

Transfer in from Other Funds 10,757             3,440              11,407        25,604       

Change in Net Assets 18,627$           (18,627)          28,433        28,433$     

 
Lake Greenwood, Saluda River Basin Watershed-based Plan - Completed 
 
In partnership with the South Carolina Rural Water Association Upstate Forever will prepare a watershed-
based plan for 6 sub watersheds in the Lake Greenwood area.  The watershed-based plan will identify 
sources of bacteria, sediment, and nutrient pollutants in these basins and devise strategies to mitigate these 
pollutants and improve water quality. 
 
The local grants and DHEC government reimbursement grants are listed as follows: 
 

Grantors Total Grants
Department of Health and Environmental Control WBP 60,412$            
Fujifilm Manufacturing U.S.A 4,250                
Total  $           64,662 

 
The table below details the annual and grant to date activity. 
 

Inception 
Through 
12/31/20 2021 2022 Total

Grants 25,471$           39,191            -             64,662$     

Direct Expenses (28,873)            (42,171)          (859)           (71,903)     

Transfer in from Saving Lake Greenwood 7,000               -                 -             7,000         

Transfer in from Other Funds -                   241                 -             241            

Change in Net Assets 3,598$             (2,739)            (859)           -$          
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NOTE 8 – FUNDS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

Campaign for Critical Lands – Completed 
 

In 2017 and 2018, Upstate Forever received $130,000 in grants to provide financial support for closing 
conservation easements. Through a partnership with Furman University, Upstate Forever has identified and 
mapped the most critical lands that influence water quality in the Upstate region. Conserving these areas 
with voluntary conservation easements will protect our drinking water supply, build capacity for future 
growth, and conserve the lands needed to support the region’s burgeoning local food economy.  
 

Grantors Total Grants

Greenville Women Giving 80,000$            

Daniel-Mickel Foundation 50,000              

Total  $         130,000 

 
The table below details the annual and grant to date activity.  
 

Inception 
Through 
12/31/20 2021 2022 Total

Grants 130,000$         -                 -             130,000$   

(Discount Long Term Recevable) (726)                 726                 -             -            

Direct Expenses (56,346)            (46,844)          (35,833)      (139,023)   

Transfer in from other funds -                   -                 9,023          9,023         

Change in Net Assets 72,928$           (46,118)          (26,810)      -$          

 
Saving Lake Greenwood – Completed 
 

Since 2016, Upstate Forever received $97,000 in grants from FujiFilm Manufacturing U.S.A., Inc., and 
$11,722 in other income to improve water quality throughout the Reedy River and Lake Greenwood. The 
work includes participation in the Reedy River Water Quality Group, a comprehensive stakeholder effort 
focused on reducing nutrient levels throughout the Reedy River watershed, advocating to improve 
development and land use regulations, and producing easy-to-understand report cards for major rivers and 
lakes across the Upstate. The project also included educational events to draw public interest in the value 
of healthy rivers and lakes and installing hydration stations in downtown Greenwood to encourage use of 
reusable water bottles. The table below details the annual and grant to date activity. 
 

Inception 
Through 
12/31/20 2021 2022 Total

Grants 97,000$           -                 -             97,000$     

Other income 11,722             -                 -             11,722       

Total Revenue 108,722           -                 -             108,722     

Direct Expenses (95,055)            (1,897)            (5,170)        (102,122)   

Transfer out to Lake Greenwood, Saluda River Basin WNP (7,000)              -                 -             (7,000)       

Transfer in from unrestricted funds -                   -                 400             400            

Change in Net Assets 6,667$             (1,897)            (4,770)        -$          
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NOTE 8 – FUNDS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
Total Funds with Donor Restrictions 
 
Upstate Forever has remaining balances in the following funds with donor restrictions as of December 31, 
2022 and 2021: 
  

2022 2021

Major Grants

Shaping Growth - Greenville 245,792$       133,567$       

Expanding Conservation in Tigerville Area 235,294         -                 

Tyger River confluence Project 112,962         -                 

Tyger Implementation 78,472           91,922           

Oconee County Land Conservation 24,134           109,901         

Sea Change - Energy and Pipeline Initiatives 28,433           -                 

Electrifying the Upstate 18,200           -                 

3&20 WBP and Implementation 17,288           26,877           

Lake Greenwood, Saluda River Basin WBP -                 859                

Campaign for Critical Lands -                 26,810           

Saving Lake Greenwood -                 4,770             

Other Grants

Land Trust Endowment Earnings and Defense 739,559         1,074,610      

Land Trust Endowment Contributions (Principal) 1,631,046      1,576,230      

North Main Park 85,034           91,757           

Energy Ristricted grants 7,470             -                 

Upstate Voice for SC Energy Efficiency 4,936             -                 

North Saluda Watershed -                 5,654             

Barr Family Pledge, Water Programs -                 23,575           

Oconee Forever 14,542           14,742           

Newmans Own 8,141             8,604             

Planning Academies -                 6,415             

Cornell Bird -                 1,749             

Total 3,251,303$    3,198,039$    

 
Transfers Between Funds  
 
Upstate Forever transferred $106,371 and $57,732 from funds without donor restrictions to donor-restricted 
funds to cover program activities for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 
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NOTE 9 – PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION 
 
A summary of property and equipment is as follows: 
 

2022 2021

Property 833,097$                833,097$            

Furniture 23,758                    23,758                

Equipment 8,256                      8,256                  

Total Property and Equipment 865,110                  865,110              

Less Accumulated Depreciation (299,598)                (277,766)             

Property and Equipment, Net 565,512$                587,345$            

 
NOTE 10 – LEASES 
 
Upstate Forever adopted FASB ASC 842, Leases for the year ended December 31, 2022.  This statement 
requires the recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as 
operating leases.  It establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that 
leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset.  The adoption of this statement did not have a 
material impact on Upstate Forever’s financial statements. 
 
NOTE 11 – CONTINGENCIES 
 
Upstate Forever is dependent upon grants, contracts, and contributions.  Upstate Forever must apply for 
renewals of grants and contracts.  Funding is subject to increases or decreases at the discretion of the 
contractors, grantors or donors. 
 
Upstate Forever’s costs incurred under its governmental grants are subject to audit by government agencies. 
Management believes that disallowance of costs, if any, would not be material to the financial position or 
changes in net assets of Upstate Forever. 
 
NOTE 12 – CONSERVATION EASEMENT INSURANCE 
 
Upstate Forever is enrolled with the Terrafirma Risk Retention Group LLC, which provides insurance 
coverage for enforcement and defense of conservation easements under the terms of that policy. 
 
NOTE 13 – CONCENTRATION OF MEMBER CONTRIBUTIONS 
 
In 2022, Upstate Forever received a donation from one donor in excess of 10% of total unrestricted 
contributions and membership revenues. There were no donations in excess of 10% of total unrestricted 
contributions in 2021.  
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NOTE 14 – CONSERVATION EASEMENTS 
 
At December 31, 2022, Upstate Forever had conservation easements on 150 sites in upper South Carolina 
and western North Carolina.  A summary of conservation easements signed in 2022 and 2021 is as follows: 
 

Value Paid / Estimated

Easement Value of Development

County/State Acreage Rights Relinquished

Balance at December 31, 2020 25,822        104,857,152$                  

Greenville, Abbeville, Laurens,
Newberry, Oconee, & Spartanburg
Counties, South Carolina

 Total Easements Completed 2021 3,601          7,772,529                        

Balance at December 31, 2021 29,423        112,629,681                    

Anderson Pickens Greenville,, &
Spartanburg   Counties, South Carolina

 Total Easements Completed 2022 796             4,446,000                        

         

Grand Total at December 31, 2022 30,219        117,075,681$                  

 
NOTE 15—REVENUE FROM FEDERAL COVID-19 RELATED LOAN 
 
Upstate Forever was granted a Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) loan administered by the Small 
Business Administration approved partner for $196,005 in 2021. The loan was legally forgiven in full on 
August 13, 2021. Upstate Forever recognized the PPP loan as income for $196,005 in 2021.  
 
NOTE 16 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
In February 2023, Upstate Forever entered into a contract with Winkler Consulting Group, Inc. for 
consulting services related to its campaign that will begin in 2023.  Upstate Forever will pay $135,000 in 
nine monthly installments of $15,000 beginning in February 2023 through October 2023.   
 
During 2022, Upstate Forever joined Conserving Carolina and Play, Advocate, Live Well (“PAL”); to form 
a coalition, The Saluda Grade Trails Conservancy (the “Conservancy”), to lead the effort to repurpose an 
inactive rail line to a recreational trail that will run from Spartanburg County, South Carolina into the 
mountains of western North Carolina. The Saluda Grade Trail will run through Inman, Campobello, 
Landrum, Tryon, Saluda, and Zirconia. In March 2023, the coalition signed a non-binding letter of intent 
with the owner of the rail line to acquire the rail line and adjacent properties and has secured some initial 
federal funding through the South Carolina Department of Transportation. 
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NOTE 16 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (CONTINUED)  
 
Along its route, the trail will feature rural scenery, vibrant small towns, historic landmarks, and gorgeous 
nature preserves, lakes, and waterfalls. It is expected to be a multi-use trail that will be enjoyed by people 
of all ages and abilities.  The Conservancy is planning to work on a master plan and has begun the process 
of an economic impact and feasibility study that will shed light on how the trail will shape local economies 
and how to move forward with the project.  
  
This summer, the coalition will be reaching out to landowners and stakeholders along the trail to seek their 
input on the opportunities and challenges presented by the trail and approaches that will best meet the needs 
of the community. The coalition group is preparing a website for the Saluda Grade Trail where the public 
will be able to find information and ways to get involved.  Conserving Carolina is leading efforts on the 
North Carolina side of the trail, while Upstate Forever and PAL are leading efforts in South Carolina.  
 
The financial statements were issued on March 30, 2023 and subsequent events have been evaluated 
through that date. 
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NOTICES

PUBLISHERS NOTICE
This newspaper will not knowingly 
accept any false or misleading ad-
vertising. We advise you to inves-
tigate on your own, and take any 
steps necessary to ascertain the 
validity of any advertising before 
exchanging money or entering into 
any contractual agreements. The 
Journal provides no guarantees 
and will not be held liable for any 
items or services advertised.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

DONATE YOUR CAR TO KIDS. 
Your donation helps fund the 
search for missing children. 

Accepting Trucks, Motorcycles & 
RV’s , too! Fast Free 

Pickup - Running or Not - 
24 Hour Response - Maximum 

Tax Donation - 
Call (888) 515-3810

DENTAL INSURANCE
from Physicians Mutual

Insurance Company. Coverage
for 350 plus procedures. Real
dental insurance- NOT just a
discount plan. Do not wait!
Call now! Get your FREE

Dental Information Kit
with all the details!
1-855-397-7030

www.dental50plus.com/60
#6258

Portable oxygen concentrator may 
be covered by medicare! Reclaim 
independence and mobility with 
the compact design and long-
lasting battery of inogen one. 

Free information kit! 
Call 833-230-8692

Wesley Financial Group, LLC 
Timeshare Cancellation Experts. 
Over $50,000,000 in timeshare 

debt and fees cancelled in 2019. 
Get free informational package 
and learn how to get rid of your 
timeshare! Free consultations. 
Over 450 positive reviews. Call 

833-638-3767
Safe Step. North America’s #1 
Walk-In Tub. Comprehensive 

lifetime warranty. Top-of-the-line 
installation and service. Now fea-
turing our FREE shower package 

and $1600 Off for a limited time! 
Call today! Financing available. 
Call Safe Step 1-877-852-0368

Is 2024 your year? We’re here for 
it and here for you. Reach your 

goals this year with WeightWatch-
ers. Get started with THREE 

months FREE, visit www.weight-
watchersoffer.com/52

WANTED EMPLOYMENT

Advertise Your Driver Jobs
 in 99 S.C. newspapers for
only $375. Your 25-word

classified ad will reach more
than 2.1 million readers!

Call Randall Savely at the S.C.
Newspaper Network,

1-888-727-7377

NOW HIRING
We’re looking for experienced 

cooks & bartenders at 
Nick And Mike 

Bar And Grill Clemson!!

Great Environment! 
Good Money!

Apply in person 
Monday - Saturday 

11 AM - 8 PM
Please come interview

ready at 1310 Tiger 
Boulevard, Clemson.

HELP WANTED GENERAL

The City of Clemson is hiring for 
a Parking Enforcement Officer. 
This is a full time job with benefits. 
For more information or to apply, 
please visit www.clemsoncity.org.
The City of Clemson is an EEO.

Full Time
Job Opportunities

Quality VIP Dry Cleaners
in West Union

Presser
that likes detail

Counter Person
serving our customers

Come in for an application 
& interview.

PETS

Oconee Humane Society
offers low-cost spay/neuter
vouchers to ALL Oconee

County residents. Find out
more at oconeehumane.org

or call 864-882-4719

REPORT YOUR LOST PET
to Oconee County Animal Shel-

ter 888-0221 or email info to: 
ocas@netmds.com

You may include a photo. 
We will contact you if we find 

your pet.

ADOPT A DOG!
Save a Life!

Loyal, loving dogs & puppies
$85 adoption fee includes

spay/neuter, vaccines,
microchip. Take a wonderful

companion home today!
oconeehumane.org

Call 882-4719

ADOPT A CAT!
Save a Life!

Snuggly, purry cats & kittens
$75 adoption fee 

includes: spay/neuter, 
vaccines, microchip. 

Take a SWEET companion 
home today!

oconeehumane.org
Call 882-4719

MISCELLANEOUS FOR SALE

Pickup truck bed cover. Tri-fold 
Vinyl Tonneau Pro Cover for short-
bed pickup truck. Good Condition. 
$99. Please call 864-903-6877.

ELIMINATE GUTTER
CLEANING FOREVER!

LeafFilter, the most advanced
debris-blocking gutter protection. 

Schedule a FREE
LeafFilter estimate today.
15% off Entire Purchase.

10% Senior &
Military Discounts.

Call 1-855-875-2449

Up to $15,000 of
GUARANTEED
Life Insurance!

No medical exam or
health questions.

Cash to help pay funeral
and other final expenses.

Call Physicians Life
Insurance Company

855-837-7719 or
visit www.Life55plus.info/scan

Prepare for power outages today 
with a GENERAC home standby 
generator. $0 Money Down + low 

monthly payment options. Request 
a FREE quote. Call now before 

the next power outage: 1-844-755-
0366

For Sale!

2010 Chrysler Seabring 
-4 Cylinder 
-120k Miles

-New Tires & Battery 
-Mint Condition 

Runs Great

5,300
Call 631-338-8808

For Sale: 21 ft Bryant bow rider, 
original owner, 375 hours, in pris-

tine condition. 1999 model, first 
season 2000.

260 HP Mercruiser, Bravo 1 
outdrive, comes with custom dual 

axle trailer. $9,500.
Call or text Don at 

678-570-8589

Dock Ladders For Sale!

Kroeger Easy Climb dock ladder, 
originally $875, now $575, has 

TWO handrails, excellent condi-
tion.

Dock ladder, 5 step, angles out for 
easy climb out. $125

Call or text Don at 678-570-8589

HOUSEHOLD GOODS

Shower Chair, Good condition 
$25.00 Call 585-3579

MERCHANDISE UNDER $100

SINGER 403A SEWING MA-
CHINE

ALL METAL GEAR DRIVEN 
SLANT NEEDLE

RUNS GOOD CLEAN SERVICED 
$99

CALL/TEXT 631-561-9156 MT. 
REST

27 Misc. Items 
of Clothing

2-3XL, Women’s
$55 for all

Please call 864-973-8990!
For Sale!

Black metal dog cage 
36 x 24 x 25 
Great shape 

$50
Call 864-245-1945

Proform Elliptical/Bike
Hybrid Exerciser

Slightly used
Owner is downsizing

$50 OBO

If interested, 
please call 864-247-7612.

Over 2,000 - Major Golf Ball 
Brands and models, some colored, 

lightly used. 
$60 for all 

Call 864-353-8693

AUCTIONS

ADVERTISE
 YOUR AUCTION...

in 99 S.C. newspapers for
only $375. Your 25-word
classified will reach more
than 2.1 million readers.

Call Randall Savely
at the S.C. Newspaper

Network, 1-888-727-7377

GARAGE & YARD SALES

BIG MOVING SALE: furniture, 
workshop full of tools, house 
decor, bedding, yard tools.
130 Wynward Pointe Drive 

(Wynward I) (enter across from 
Veterinary office on 130).

Friday, April 12, Saturday, April 13, 
and Sunday, April 14: 9 to 4.

Huge Multi-Family 
Garage Sale!

Emerald Point Subdivision 
503 Jade Ln 

April 6th & 7th 
7:30 am - Noon 

We have lots of baby/kids stuff, 
0 - 7yr kids clothes, toys, house-
hold items, furniture and much 

more!

Church Garage Sale!

Hopewell Baptist Church 
Family Life Center 

161 Hopewell Church Dr.
Seneca

Saturday April 6th 
8 am - Noon 

Sponsored by FORWARD YTH 
Student Ministry 

All proceeds help send stu-
dents to summer camp!

Indoor Multi-Seller Yard Sale!

Oakway United 
6390 West Oak Hwy., 

Westminster
April 6th 

8 AM - Until

Items for sell are home decor, 
table & chairs, plus size clothes, 

tools & much more. 
Hot dogs for sale!

For more information 
Call 864-888-9170

Yard Sale!

April 5th & 6th 
118 East Wood Circle 

Westminster 
9 a.m. - 3 p.m.

We’ll have furniture, hospital bed 
and other medical equipment, 

appliances, clothing, collectibles, 
craft & cat lover items, plush toys 

and much more! 

SERVICES

DIRECTV Sports Pack. 3 Months 
on Us! Watch pro and college 

sports LIVE. Plus over 40 regional 
and specialty networks included. 

NFL, College Football, MLB, 
NBA, NHL, Golf and more. Some 

restrictions apply. Call DIRECTV 
1-844-624-1107

Get DISH Satellite TV + Inter-
net!  Free Install, Free HD-DVR 
Upgrade, 80,000 On-Demand 

Movies, Plus Limited Time Up To 
$600 In Gift Cards. Call Today! 

1-877-542-0759

APARTMENTS FURNISHED

Best Deal In Town! 
1 Br.-$595. • 2 Br.-$715.

Ask About Our
Weekly Specials!

•Furn/Power Pkgs.
•On CAT Bus Route.

Call 
(864)882-0636

VACATION RESORT RENTAL

ADVERTISE YOUR 
VACATION PROPERTY 

FOR RENT OR SALE

To more than 2.1 million
 South Carolina newspaper

readers. Your 25-word
classified ad will

 appear in 99 S.C. newspapers 
for only $375. Call Alanna 

Ritchie at the South Carolina 
Newspaper Network,

1-888-727-7377.

HOUSES FOR SALE

PUBLISHERS NOTICE
All  real estate advertising in this 
newspaper is subject to Federal 
Fair Housing Act of 1968 which 
makes it illegal to advertise “any 
preference, limitations or discrimi-
nation” based on race, color, reli-
gion, sex, handicap, familial status 
or national origin, or intention to 
make any such preference, limita-
tion or discrimination.” This news-
paper will not knowingly accept any 
advertising for real estate which is 
in violation of the law. Our readers 
are hereby informed that all dwell-
ings advertised in this newspaper 
are available on an equal opportu-
nity basis.

LEGALS

The Oconee County Conserva-
tion Bank Board will hold a special 
meeting at 9 a.m. on Tuesday, April 
16, 2024 in Oconee County Coun-
cil Chambers located at 415 S. 
Pine St., Walhalla, SC.

SELL YOUR STUFF

C L A S S I F I E D
864.973.6676
 
upstatetoday.comMarketplaceMarketplace

Call by 3 p.m. 
Get your ad in the next day!

864-973-6676
Ask for Terrica 

Hours: 8 am – 5 pm 
Monday – Friday 864.973.6676  tlyda@upstatetoday.com

Anniversaries  
Birthdays 

Family Reunions
Share the Joy! 

Call Terrica at
864-973-6676  

for rates.
*Free Classified line ad, as space allows. Does not include art. Offer excludes Help Wanted ads. 

You deliver.
We deliver.
CARRIERS
NEEDED

The Journal

The Journal has  
excellent opportunities to  

EARN EXTRA MONEY!
Deliver newspapers to homes in  

Oconee County and  the Clemson area. 
Reliable transportation is a must. 

We are also looking for subs part-time to 
deliver newspapers on down routes.
For more information please call the 

Circulation Department at (864) 882-2375, 
apply in person at 210 W. North 1st Street in 
Seneca or email jwells@upstatetoday.com.

Standing Oaks........................2BR/1BA, Townhome.........................................$850
1453 E. Tamassee Dr., Seneca.....3BR/2BA, Yard Service Inc.....................................$1,650
224, 420, 1220, 702 Woodlands...4BR/4BA,Utilities Included........................$1,200-$2,600
The Retreat................................4BR/4BA w/ Garage..............Range from $2,700-$2,900
Cedarwood.......................................2BR/2BA...................................................$850-$900
215 Kirk Ln., Pendleton......................2BR/1BA..........................................................$850
118 Clemson St., Clemson..........2BR/1BA, Pest Control & Lawn Care Inc.................$1,100
#1110 Retreat...................................4BR/4BA.......................................................$2,800
504 Lorane Pt., Seneca....................................................................................Short Term
220 Calhoun St........................2BR/1BA, Townhouse...............................................$1,000
Woodlands, Clemson........................3BR/3BA.......................................................$1,700
Hart Cove 531..................................3BR/3BA........................................................$1,700
118-2 Creekside.................Studio Apt., Utilies Included...........................................$725
941 Bernwood Circle, Seneca......3BR/2BA, Duplex...................................................$950

Foothills Property Management
APARTMENTS 1 BR • Efficiencies • 2 BR • 3 BR • 4BR

Furnished • Unfurnished • $600 and Up • Mini Warehouses $35-$100

1017 Tiger Blvd. at ReMax, Clemson, SC
864-654-1000864-654-1000

www.clemsonrentals.comwww.clemsonrentals.com
Debra Boggs,

Prop. Mgr.
Stefanie Owens

Prop. Mgr.
Rebekah Brackett 

Prop. Mgr.

RENTALSRENTALS  & More& More

U-STOR-IT
Mini Warehouse

Inside • Outside • No Cameras
Fenced • Not Gated • Lighted

Old Clemson Hwy.
654-1000

In Print & Online • Subscribe Today & Save!
864.882.2375 • www.upstatetoday.com

Thanks to Our 
Loyal Subscribers
Make sure you’re enjoying all of your subscriber perks! 

Go to www.upstatetoday.com

Fetching you the local stories and developments 
that matter most is what we do best, and we 

couldn’t do it without your valued readership. 
Thank you for your support!

864.973.6304
www.upstatetoday.com

classifieds

864.973.6304 • upstatetoday.com
classifieds

Classifieds 
Work!

jennifercadams
Highlight
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